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Characteristics of GEM (“GEM") of the Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
ERABAXZBMRATE (THB3ZFr) GEM (TGEM)) Z2H&

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk

may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Viva China Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, which together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRS

Dear Shareholders,

2022 was a remarkable yet challenging year for the Viva Group. The Group’s
international apparel and footwear business was impacted by the pandemic,

and the development plans for various brands also faced enormous challenges.
Notwithstanding this difficult situation, the Group was able to seize the
opportunities of investments and acquisitions, and successfully completed the
acquisitions of some brands with long history and huge development potentials,
thereby laying an important ground for the future expansion of the international
multi-brand apparel and footwear segment. During the year, the Viva Group
finished its acquisition of Amedeo Testoni, a century-old Italian luxury leatherwear
brand in January. Later in July, the Group also completed its acquisition of Clarks,
a well-known footwear brand with nearly two hundred years of history. After a
successful expansion to the overseas markets, which are mainly in Europe and the
United States, the Group’s revenue jumped to around HK$6.9 billion, and marked
a significant milestone in its history.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE AR B R AT
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EXPANDING THE APPAREL AND FOOTWEAR BUSINESS
SEGMENT WITH HIGH-QUALITY BRANDS AND PRODUCT
CATEGORIES

In 2022, Viva Group continued to focus on the tremendous demand of the prime
consumer group, and targeted markets beyond China, Hong Kong and South
East Asia, which are more on the economies in Europe and the United States.

In particular, the Group has made an analysis on the geographical differences in
the consumer demands in different markets for high-quality lifestyle and fashion,
in order to formulate more targeted brand strategies, to increase operating
efficiencies, and to build our multi-brand, multi-category international apparel and
footwear business.

Among Viva China’s brands, Clarks was perceived as a strong brand in the overseas
markets, such as Europe and the United States. Its market share is ranked No. 1

in the UK fashion and casual footwear industry, and top 10 in the United States,
where it has its loyal consumer groups and is able to generate stable income.
Because the pandemic was more under control in Europe and the United States
during the year, coupled with a rebound in consumer sentiment, the consolidated
revenue of Clarks contributed significantly to the Group’s financial statements. Its
profits also helped to offset the losses of the other apparel and footwear brands
within the Group during their transition period. In respect of brand development for
Clarks, we strive to increase the brand value and continue its brand story backed
with the legacy accumulated for centuries. The Group will continue to improve its
market performance in Europe and the United States, and enhance product style
and characteristics while strengthening the sales of the core products categories.
In early 2023, the Group also completed the transaction to increase its interest in
Clarks and further achieved an effective shareholding of 51%.

Following the completion of the acquisition of Amedeo Testoni in early 2022,
the Group has actively adjusted its marketing strategy, with an aim to restore

the brand’s positioning as a high-end luxury brand. Through this acquisition, the
Group has added a high-end luxury brand to its portfolio and expanded existing
business scale by extending the geographical footprint of its multi-brand apparel
and footwear business to Europe, Japan and South Korea. In addition to this, the
Group plans to open an Amedeo Testoni flagship shop in Milan in the first half of
2023 to further promote its Italian brand legacy. The Group will also open full-
price stores of Amedeo Testoni in regions of higher profits, including the Greater
China, Japan and South Korea, in order to enhance the profit margins and the
brand image as a high-end luxury brand.

Another brand under the Group, bossini.X, is at the stage of continuous investment
for product repositioning. This newly launched brand, bossini.X, will continue to
expand in commercial districts with more traffic located in the first- and second-
tier cities in China during the year. In July 2022, the Group has also opened the
first bossini.X flagship shop in Harbour City, which is at a premier fashion district
in Hong Kong. At the same time, the Group will also continue to invest in the
affordable luxury brand LNG, which is a self-developed brand of the Group, to
further expand its distribution channels in high-end business districts in the first-
tier cities in China by opening more boutique stores.
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Chairman's Statement £ FE iR &

In the future, we will continue to explore other markets and adjust product
positioning, build up the mainstream consumer groups loyalty, thus create more
business growth points apart from Clarks for the Group. A diversified apparel and
footwear business has created enormous potentials and brought more possibilities
to the Group's business. Through the unique interpretation and inheritance of

its brands, the Group strives to bring consumers a higher quality consumption
experience.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, although the macro business environment remains uncertain,

the world economy will recover from the pandemic. The key consumer groups

of Clarks mainly come from Europe and the United States. We believed that
through the optimization of product mix and distribution channels, coupled with
the strength of the brand itself, we can further increase our market shares in
Europe and the US. We will also closely monitor the opportunities arising in the
Asia-Pacific market. The Group will operate its overseas business with a steady
and progressive approach, and also closely explore and grasp any consumption
opportunities emerging after the relaxation of the pandemic prevention and control
measures in China, so as to gain overall business improvement.

In January 2023, China has entered into a new stage towards the pandemic
prevention and control, with production and people’s living orders gradually
restored, consumption power is expected to be released, and the domestic
market is also gradually recovering. Notwithstanding, with the less stringent
pandemic prevention and control from the end of the year, the total retail sales of
consumable goods in December increased accordingly. Furthermore, the China
government issued the “Strategic Planning Outline for Expansion of Domestic
Demand (2022-2035)", which might help to boost the domestic demand. We will
reasonably adjust the retail channels, and grasp the opportunities to expand into
the domestic market.

Viva Group is committed to become a top-tier international consumable goods
brand operating company. We will continue to pay close attention to brands with
potentials in the market, and actively expand the scale of the apparel and footwear
business in order to pursue a long-term sustainable development. The Group
also strives to achieve brand repositioning and increase its penetration in the
prime consumer market, in the ways of maintaining a leading position in product
creativity and keeping up with the latest fashion trends. At the same time, the
Group will also expand the vertically integrated industry chain by building its own
supply chain platform and e-commerce platform, to provide e-commerce service
and live stream product promotions for its brands, so as to increase the brand
awareness and also to enhance the synergies both internally and externally.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to pay tribute to the outstanding
performance of the managements and all employees of the Company in the past
year, and express my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders and business partners
for their trust and continuous support to the Group. Facing the complex and
ever-changing macro environment, we will remain persistent and pragmatic, and
continue to strive for the Company’s long-term development and create values for
the shareholders!
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Looking back in 2022, the Group has focused on developing its “multi-brand
apparel and footwear” business and continued to expand its international business
through the acquisitions of Clarks, a well-known footwear brand with nearly

two hundred years of history, and Amedeo Testoni, a century-old Italian Luxury
leatherwear brand. In addition to this, the Group has been steadily developing the
“sports experience” business which includes the operation, service provision and
investment of sports destination, sports events and an e-sports club.

MULTI-BRAND APPAREL AND FOOTWEAR BUSINESS

During the year, the widespread of COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of

China has caused significant impact to its economic activities and people's
mobility, which curbed the overall consumption power and led to a decrease in
revenue contributed by the domestic market. Hence, the growth of the Group’s
consumable goods brands in China was also hindered, including a slowdown in
the expansion of offline physical stores as well as a complete halt to the marketing
activities. Despite this, the overall combined revenue of the Group surged by
399% following the completion of its landmark major acquisition of Clarks, a well-
known footwear brand in July, with Clarks’ revenue being consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group.

In respect of the overall strategy, the Group continued to expand its international
“multi-brand apparel and footwear business” and strived to develop a diversified
product categories to meet the needs of the prime consumers in different

areas such as lifestyle, leisure, sports, affordable luxury and high-end luxury, in
order to expand its income sources. During the year, the Group has completed
the acquisitions of two well-known international brands, among which, Clarks
contributed almost 78% of the revenue to the Group. Clarks is a long-established
brand with a broad customer base, its main markets cover the United Kingdom
and United States, and with the presence in other regions including the Greater
China region, Japan and Korea. The Group is now formulating a strategy to inject
new energy into this brand to attract prime consumers, aiming to consolidate

and expand the market share in Europe and the United States to enhance profits.
Another brand, Amedeo Testoni, which is a century-old Italian luxury leatherwear
brand, is the first high-end luxury brand of the Group covering wholesale and retail
of leather goods, footwear and apparel. Currently, the Group is strengthening the
positioning of this luxury brand strategically to clarify its long-term development.
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Business Review ¥ 75 [0] B8

Apart from new international brands, the Group also continued to expand Bossini,
a well-known lifestyle apparel brand of the Group in Mainland China and Hong
Kong. “bossini.X", a newly launched brand, has integrated some lifestyle, leisure,
and sports elements catering for the unique style of Generation Z. During the
year, ‘bossini.X” expanded its presence in both Mainland China and Hong Kong
markets, and has opened over 100 retail stores in commercial districts with
more traffic in the first- and second-tier cities by the end of 2022. It has also
opened the first flagship store in the prime commercial district in Hong Kong,
which significantly enhanced its market recognition. However, since “bossini. X" is
a new brand with new brand positioning, together with the negative impacts from
the pandemic on the sales and the channel expansion, the Group will continue to
make investments, and more adjustments on channels and products are required
in the future, in order to turnaround from losses to profits.

“LNG" is an affordable luxury brand of the Group that aims to be a high-end
frendy brand for youngsters, featuring high quality materials, cutting and
technological innovation. Nevertheless, sales of its physical stores in cities such as
Chongging and Shanghai were below expectation due to the pandemic. During the
year, the Group has further strengthened the cooperation of LNG brand with other
young fashion brands, launched crossover products to fortify the brand impact and
expand the physical store network in an appropriate manner. By the end of 2022,
LNG has opened almost 30 physical stores in high-end business areas in the first-
and second-tier cities.

SPORTS EXPERIENCE BUSINESS

The Group’s ice-skating rinks encountered a surge of customers in the first
quarter when the Beijing Winter Olympics held at the beginning of this year has
boosted the popularity of winter sports. However, due to the massive outbreak of
the pandemic, some sports parks and ice-skating rinks had to close temporarily,
and training courses were suspended. Although a gradual recovery was seen in
the second half of the year, a decrease of 5.6% in revenue of this segment was
recorded during the period as compared to the corresponding period in prior year.
Despite the restrictions on sports activities caused by the pandemic, the sports
industry is still one of the main development fields in China. During the year, two
new sports parks namely Hangzhou and Tongxiang Li Ning Sports Park were put
into operation. Currently, the Group operates and manages a total of 9 sports
parks and 11 ice-skating rinks across China, providing a wide range of sports
experience and training services to local communities and the citizens.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE AR B R AT
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2023, the business environment in China and overseas markets
remains uncertain but opportunities always come along with challenges. Although
the widespread of the pandemic has badly hit the economic activities in China,
with the full relaxation of pandemic control policies by the Central Government
during the end of 2022, the constrained consumption power will be released to
boost the retail market. For overseas markets, economic growth in Europe and the
United States is projected to slow down due to the negative market outlook under
high inflation and the Russia-Ukraine war. Notwithstanding, there is still a huge
market demand of high-quality consumable goods in developed countries in the
Europe and the America.

The Group will continue to focus on its multi-brand multi-category apparel and
footwear business with a prudent approach and solid business operations. In the
future, the Group will actively explore quality potential acquisition targets to enrich
its brand portfolio, increase market coverage, and enhance its overall sustainability.
Meanwhile, the Group will also strive to enhance its brand value and strengthen
the synergies to be created between different brands on marketing promotion,
supply chain management as well as channel expansion, in order to increase its
operating efficiency, market share and profitability.
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Financial Review
B4 %5 0] BB

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s consolidated revenue was
HK$6,900.4 million (2021: HK$1,381.6 million), representing an increase of
399.4%. The increase in revenue was mainly contributed by the expansion of
multi-brand apparel and footwear business, including the acquisition of LionRock
Capital Partners QiLe Limited, which holds a majority interest in C&J Clark (No
1) Limited (“Clark”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Clark Group”) in early July
2022, Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$3,160.6 million (2021: HK$572.4 million), representing an increase of
HK$2,588.2 million or 452.2% as compared to the previous year, which was in
line with the increase in revenue.

The Group’s other income and other gains — net for the year amounted to
HK$1,023.6 million (2021: HK$4,548.1 million). Other income and other gains —
net during the year was mainly attributable to i) government grants of HK$52.9
million (2021: HK$34.1 million); ii) fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$46.1 million (2027 fair value gain of HK$20.1
million); iii) foreign exchange loss of HK$31.7 million (2021: HK$1.4 million); iv)
gain on bargain purchases of HK$956.3 million (2027: nil); v) deemed dilution
gain on decrease of interest in an associate of HK$7.0 million (2021: HK$978.0
million); and vi) fair value gain on derivative financial instruments of HK$23.0
million (2021 nil). No gain on disposal of partial interest in an associate and gain
on disposal of a subsidiary was recognised in current year (2021: HK$3,338.8
million and HK$52.9 million respectively).

Selling and distribution expenses for the year amounted to HK$2,713.3 million
(2021: HK$572.4 million), representing a significant increase of HK$2,140.9
million or 374.0% as compared to the year of 2021. The increase was primarily
due to 1) the acquisition of Clark Group which contributed HK$1,989.5 million
during the year after its acquisition; i) impairment loss on property, plant

and equipment and right-of-use assets (excluded Clark Group) amounted to
HK$127.2 million due to worse-than expected performance of certain retail stores
of Bossini, bossini.X and LNG brands and ice-skating rinks resulted from the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in PRC during the year; and iii) increase in staff
cost due to continuous expansion of multi-brand apparel and footwear business.
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Administrative expenses and other operating expenses together with reversal

of impairment loss/(impairment loss) on financial assets-net (the “Administrative
Expenses”) incurred for the year amounted to HK$1,085.3 million (2021:
HK$493.6 million) which represented an increase of HK$591.7 million or
119.9% as compared to the year of 2021. The increase in Administrative
Expenses was primarily due to i) the acquisition of Clark Group which contributed
HK$454.1 million during the year after its acquisition; i) impairment loss on
intangible assets amounted to HK$64.8 million due to worse-than expected
performance of our LNG e-sports business resulted from the outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic in PRC during the year; and iii) increase in legal and
professional fee due to the proposed transfer of listing from GEM to the Main
Board of Stock Exchange and acquisition of Clarks and Amedeo Testoni during the
year.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$57.8
million (2021: HK$37.0 million). The increase in finance costs was primarily
attributable to increase in interest expenses on bank loans and lease liabilities
resulting from the consolidation of Clark Group's performance since early July
2022. The increase was partially net-off with decrease in bank loans interest
attributable to the settlement of bank loans amounted HK$1,256.0 million in June
2021,

The Group held approximately 271,202,000 ordinary shares of Li Ning Co
Limited (“Li Ning Co”) as at 31 December 2022, representing 10.3% equity
interests in Li Ning Co and 20.3% on the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2022,

Investment costs of Li Ning Co as at year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$1,260.4 million. Dividend received from Li Ning Co was HK$145.0 million
during the year ended 31 December 2022. Please refer to Note 15 for the fair
value of the investments.

Li Ning Co’s principal activities include brand development, design, manufacture,
sale and distribution of sport-related footwear, apparel, equipment and accessories
in the PRC.
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Li Ning Co is accounted for as associates of the Group. The Group has adopted
the provision contained in HKAS 28 whereby it is permitted to include the
attributable share of associate's results based on the financial statements drawn
up to a non-coterminous period end where the difference must be no greater than
three months. During the year, the Group shared the results of Li Ning Co based
on its adjusted financial results for the twelve months ended 30 September 2022
adjusted by any significant events or transactions for the period from 1 October
2022 to 31 December 2022. There is no non-coterminous period end for other
associates and joint ventures.

Li Ning Co’s adjusted net profit for the year amounted to HK$5,090.5 million
(2021: HK$4,119.5 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 23.6%. This
was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue and net profit margin.

Li Ning Co will continue to promote the strategy of “Single Brand, Multi-categories,
Diversified Channels”, strengthen and improve the core business focuses, remain
devoted to create LI-NING's experience value, and focus on enhancing efficiency
in order to achieve healthy and sustainable profit growth in the future. Backed
by various favorable policies to support the development of the sports industry
and the consumption upgrade driven by national economic growth, consumption
concept of the general public has changed gradually with more and more
consumers giving great consideration to product innovation and brand value.
Along with the increasingly mature consumption concept, consumption demand
of people will become more refined and diverse, which will pose even more
challenges to the brand and product competitiveness in the market.

During the year, the Group shared the profits less losses of associates and

joint ventures amounting to HK$543.3 million (2021: HK$492.6 million). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in contribution of Li Ning Co and Double
Happiness of HK$58.0 million and HK$4.6 million, respectively, due to the
increase in revenue and net profit margin in the current year.
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During the year, the Group has recorded a net profit atiributable to equity holders
of HK$850.4 million comparing to a net profit attributable to equity holders of
HK$4,562.6 million for the year 2021, representing a decrease of HK$3,712.2
million. The decrease was mainly attributed to the recorded net gain on disposal
of partial interest in an associate of HK$3,338.8 million, deemed dilution gain on
decrease of interest in an associate of HK$978.0 million and gain on disposal of
a subsidiary of HK$52.9 million in 2021, which were non-recurring. The decrease
was partially offset by a gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition of
Clark Group amounted to HK$956.2 million during the year.

SEGMENT

Multi-brand Apparel and Footwear Business

During the year, the Group continued to expand its “multi-brand apparel and
footwear business” and strived to develop a diversified product category to meet
the needs of the prime consumers in different areas such as sports and leisure,
street fashion, affordable luxury and high-end luxury.

In January 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of a century-old Italian
luxury leader label brand, Amedeo Testoni and its diffusion line i29. Amedeo
Testoni is principally engaged in wholesale and retail of leatherware, fashion
garments and apparel. Through this acquisition, the Group has added high-

end luxury brands to its asset portfolio and expanded existing business scale by
extending its multi-brand footwear and apparel consumables network to Europe,
Japan and South Korea.

In July 2022, the Group acquired another well-known international brand, Clarks,
Clarks is a long-established brand with a broad customer base, its main markets
cover the United Kingdom and United States, and with the presence in other
regions including the Greater China region, Japan and Korea.

Apart from the acquisitions of Clarks and Amedeo Testoni brands, the Group

also continued to expand Bossini, a well-known lifestyle apparel brand of the
Group in Mainland China and Hong Kong. “bossini.X", a newly launched brand,
has integrated some lifestyle, leisure and sports elements catering for the unique
style of Generation Z. During the year, “bossini.X" expanded its presence in both
Mainland China and Hong Kong markets, and has opened over 100 retail stores in
commercial districts with more traffic in the first— and second-tier cities by the end
of 2022.
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“LNG" is an affordable luxury brand of the Group that aims to be a high-

end trendy brand for youngsters, featuring high quality materials, cutting and
technological innovation. During the year, the Group has further strengthened the
cooperation of LNG brand with other young fashion brands, launched crossover
products to fortify the brand impact and further increased its number of physical
stores in an appropriate manner.

On top of the acquisition of Clarks and Amedeo Testoni brands during the year to
expand the Group's multi-brand apparel and footwear business, the Group also
expand the vertically integrated industry chain by building its own supply chain
platform and e-commerce platform, to provide e-commerce service and live
stream product promotions for its brands so as to increase the brand awareness
and also to enhance the synergies both internally and externally.

The multi-brand apparel and footwear segment generated revenue totaling
HK$6,399.5 million (2021: HK$851.2 million) for the year, which represents a
significant increase of HK$5,548.3 million or 651.8% as compared to last year.
The increase was primarily attributed to the acquisition of Clark Group which
contributed HK$5,390.2 million during the year after its acquisition. This segment
reported an operating loss of HK$309.9 million (2021: HK$312.6 million), which
Clark Group has contributed a net profit of HK$124.0 million during the year after
its acquisition, but partially offset by the losses incurred by other brands (including
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounted to HK$101.7 million for Bossini, bossini.X and LNG brands).

Sports Experience

Sports experience segment comprises operation, service provision and investment
of sports destinations (including sports parks, sports centres and ice-skating
rinks), sports competitions and events as well as an e-sports club.

For sports experience, it is the Group's strategy to drive the establishment of
an integrated sports platform by leveraging on the existing resources of its
sports business. The Group will therefore continue its effort to capture and
maximise the commercial values of the sports resources under our management,
and encourage social participation in sporting activities through commercial
management of popular sports events and competitions, operation of an
e-sports club, sports talent management. In the meantime, the Group has been
selecting suitable cooperation opportunities to invest in and operate potential
sports destination projects, including sports parks, sports centres and ice-
skating rinks that promote healthier living and sports awareness in the PRC.
We hope to capitalise on this opportunity where nationwide physical fitness is
becoming more popular and to engage more people in more diversified sports
experience by operating sports destinations that are open to the public, which
is expected to benefit the medium to long term development of our business.
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The sports experience segment generated revenue totaling HK$500.8 million
(20271: HK$530.4 million) for the year, which represents a decrease of HK$29.6
million or 5.6% as compared to the year of 2021. The decrease was mainly
contributed to the decrease in sports park facilities and ice-skating rinks hiring
income and other service income as part of the Group’s sports parks, sports
centres and ice-skating rinks temporarily suspended their operation in response
to the national pandemic prevention measures due to the outbreak of pandemic
in Mainland China during the year. This segment reported an operating loss of
HK$17.8 million during the year (2021: operating profit of HK$23.6 million),
which mainly attributed to the impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounted to HK$25.5 million for certain ice-skating rinks.

Financial Position

Net assets value of the Group has increased from HK$7,754.4 million as at

31 December 2021 to HK$10,998.2 million as at 31 December 2022. The
increase was mainly due to i) acquisition of Clark Group and its net assets was
amounted to HK$3,238.4 million as at 31 December 2022, but partially offset by
the exchange differences on translation of foreign operation of HK$534.1 million
during the year.

The total non-current assets of the Group has increased from HK$5,261.9
million as at 31 December 2021 to HK$8,796.6 million as at 31 December
2022, which represents an increase of HK$3,534.7 million. The increase was
mainly resulted from the acquisition of Clark Group with total non-current assets
of HK$3,584.6 million as at 31 December 2022, which mainly comprised of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and defined benefit surplus.

Current assets of the Group recorded an increase by HK$4,827.0 million from
HK$3,848.3 million as at the beginning of the year to HK$8,675.3 million as at
the end of the year. The key components of the current assets at the reporting
date were cash and bank balances included restricted bank balances and deposits
HK$2,981.4 million (2021: HK$2,537.1 million) and inventories of HK$4,061.1
million (2021: HK$281.3 million). The significant increase in inventories was
mainly contributed by the Clark Group.

The total current liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 were
HK$4,428.2 million, representing an increase of HK$3,531.9 million or 394.0%
from that as at 31 December 2021 primarily attributed to the acquisition of Clark
Group which contributed HK$3,604.1 million as at 31 December 2022, As at 31
December 2022, the key component of non-current liabilities was non-current
lease liabilities of HK$1,438.1 million (2021: HK$362.6 million).
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group recorded a net cash inflow in operations of HK$74.9 million for

the current year (2021: net cash outflow of HK$37.7 million). The change in
operating cash flow was mainly due to the improvement in operating profit due
to the acquisition of Clark Group. A net cash inflows in investing activities of
HK$969.5 million for the current year (2021: HK$3,594.1 million). The cash
inflows from investing activities in 2022 was mainly due to the net cash acquired
through the acquisition of subsidiaries while that in 2021 was mainly due to the
proceeds from disposal of partial interest in an associate. A net cash outflows from
financing activities of HK$590.0 million for the current year (2021: HK$2,888.4
million), representing a decrease of HK$2,298.4 million compared to last year.
The net cash outflow from financing activities in the year of 2022 was mainly
attributable to i) net repayment of bank loan together with loan interest, totaling
HK$215.8 million and ii) payment of lease liabilities amounting to HK$374.4
million. As a result, the cash and cash equivalent (included bank overdraft) of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 increased by HK$452.3 million from the
beginning of the vyear.

The Group had banking facilities of approximately HK$2,614.8 million (20271:
HK$205.9 million), of which approximately HK$786.4 million has been utilised
(2021 approximately HK$12.8 million) as at 31 December 2022. The Group's
gearing ratio was approximately 0 (2021: 0) as at 31 December 2022. The
Group defines gearing ratio as ratio of net debt over equity plus net debt in which
net debt represents total bank and other borrowings less cash and bank balances
(including restricted bank balances). The current ratio (ratio of current assets to
current liabilities) of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 2.0
(2021: 4.3). The Group's gearing level and liquidity position has been maintained
at a healthy level as at the reporting date. It is the Group'’s strategy to maintain a
healthy and effective gearing ratio in a range of O to 1.
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Financial Management Policy and Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s finance division at its headquarters in Hong Kong manages the
financial risks of the Group. One of the key objectives of the Group's treasury
policies is to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in any speculative activities. With the
acquisition of Clark Group in July 2022, the Group operates primarily in the United
States, United Kingdom, Mainland China and Hong Kong, most of the revenue and
trading transactions are settled in either US$, GBP, RMB and HK$. Accordingly,
the majority of the Group’s net current assets were denominated in either USS,
GBP, RMB and HK$. Deposits placed in various banks are mainly denominated

in these currencies. The policies in place to manage foreign currency risk have
been followed by the Group for several years and are considered to be effective
with the current foreign currency risk still manageable. The Group has assessed
its foreign exchange rate risk exposure and has entered into forward currency
contracts to mitigate foreign currency risk during the year and as at the reporting
date.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, no asset has been charged as security. As at 31
December 2022, property, plant and equipment of HK$8.5 million, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$8.0 million,
inventories and trade receivables of HK$863.9 million had been charged as
security for bank borrowings of subsidiaries of the Group.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has the following contingent liabilities:

i) guarantee related to arrangements with landlords, HMRC and insurance
cover of HK$54.5 million (2021: nil); and

ii) bank guarantees given in lieu of utility and property rental deposits of
HK$8.9 million (2021: 1.0 million).
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Commitments for Capital Expenditure

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had commitments totaling HK$99.3 million
in relation to capital contribution, acquisition of associates and joint ventures and
for the purchase of property, plant and equipment which were contracted but not
provided for (2021: HK$121.8 million).

Employees and Remuneration Policies

Staff remuneration comprised of monthly salaries, mandatory provident fund
contributions, medical benefits, housing benefits, education allowances and
discretionary share options issued based on their contribution to the Group.
Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to HK$1,458.6 million (2021: HK$389.1 million). The Group
also engages professional consultants to ensure the competitiveness of the
remuneration policy which, in turn, would support the business growth of the
Group. As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately 5,800
full-time employees (2021: 2,900) and their remuneration was calculated with
reference to the market rates.

Material Transactions

The Group entered into the following material transactions:

(@)  Pursuant to a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) entered into between
Viva China Consumables Limited (“Viva China Consumables” or the
“Lender”, formerly known as Viva China Entertainment Holdings Limited),

a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and LionRock Capital GP
Limited acting in its capacity as the general partner (the “General Partner”)
of LionRock Capital Partners QiLe L.P. (the “Borrower” or “LionRock”)

on 28 September 2020, the Lender has agreed to provide a facility of
GBP54,000,000 (the “Facility”) to the Borrower at an interest rate of 4%
per annum for financing the acquisition or subscription of equity interests in
a target company by LionRock Capital Partners QiLe Limited (the “SPV"), a
company wholly owned by LionRock.
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On 15 March 2021, the Lender entered into a subscription agreement
(the "Agreement”) with the Borrower and the SPV pursuant to which the
Lender conditionally agreed to subscribe for 510 shares of the SPV at

a subscription price of GBP51,000,000 (the “Subscription Price”, and
the “Subscription”, respectively) and acquire a shareholder’s loan (the
“Purchase Shareholder's Loan") from the Borrower at a consideration

of GBP51,000,000 (the “Consideration”, and the “Shareholder’s Loan
Transaction”, respectively). The Consideration payable by the Lender to the
Borrower shall be deemed to be satisfied at completion of the Subscription
(the “Completion”) by setting off an amount equal to the Consideration
against an outstanding amount of GBP51,000,000 which has been
drawn down and remains outstanding under the Loan Agreement (the
“Outstanding Amount”). Upon consummation of the Shareholder’s Loan
Transaction at Completion, the Outstanding Amount shall be deemed to
have been irrevocably and unconditionally repaid in full by the Borrower to
the Lender in accordance with the terms of the Loan Agreement and all
unpaid interest which has been accrued pursuant to the Loan Agreement
shall be deemed irrevocably and unconditionally waived by the Lender.
The Subscription Price payable by the Lender to the target at Completion
shall be setting off an amount equal to the Subscription Price against

the Purchase Shareholder’s Loan, and the Purchase Shareholder’s Loan
owed by the SPV to the Lender (being the new lender of the Purchase
Shareholder’s Loan as from the consummation of the Shareholder’s

Loan Transaction) shall be deemed fully paid and satisfied in full and the
Purchase Shareholder’s Loan shall be terminated.

The SPV holds a majority interest in Clark which is principally engaged in
wholesaling and retailing of shoes and trading in the brand name “Clarks”.

Following the shareholders’ approval of the Agreement at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 15 June 2022, all conditions under
the Agreement have been fulfilled and the acquisition was completed

on 2 July 2022. The Purchase Shareholder’s Loan with principal of
GBP53,550,000 and its respective interest were setting off against

the Subscription Price payable, and the Purchase Shareholder’s Loan

was deemed fully paid and satisfied in full and was terminated upon the
completion of the acquisition. The SPV become an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and the results of the SPV and its
subsidiaries were consolidated into the financial results of the Group since
July 2022,

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 September 2020, 14 January 2021, 15 March 2021, 25
November 20271 and 4 July 2022, and the circular of the Company dated
26 May 2022,
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On 17 November 2022, Viva China Consumables and the General Partner
entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of
the remaining 49% interest in the SPV (the “Clark SPA"). Pursuant to the
agreement, Viva China Consumables agreed to acquire 490 shares of the
SPV at the consideration of GBP110,000,000.

Following the shareholders’ approval of the agreement at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 18 January 2023, the acquisition was
completed in late January 2023 and the SPV become a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 November 2022 and 30 January 2023 and the circular dated
30 December 2022,

On 3 November 2027, Ample Fame Investments Limited (the “Purchaser”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the Company (as the
Purchaser guarantor), Sitoy International Limited (the “Vendor”) and Sitoy
Group Holdings Limited (the “Vendor Guarantor”) entered into the share
purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of VC Premium (the
“SPA").

The acquisition was completed in early January 2022, at the consideration
of HK$1 and the post-closing payment of EUR2,253,000. Pursuant to
the SPA, the inter-company loans due to the Vendor Guarantor amounted
to RMB40,643,000 as at 31 December 20271 would be repaid by the
Group as part of the consideration. VC Premium became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group and the financial results were consolidated into the
financial results of the Group since January 2022.

VC Premium and its subsidiaries own a century-old Italian luxury leader
label brand, Amedeo Testoni (formerly known as “a. testoni”) and its
diffusion line i29 and are principally engaged in wholesale and retail of
leatherware, fashion garments and apparel.

On 30 December 2021, Rapid City Limited (“Rapid City", a wholly owned
subsidiary of Bossini International Holdings Limited), Shine Wealthy Limited
(“Shine Wealthy”, an independent purchaser) and Knight Frank Hong

Kong Limited (the “Agent”) entered into two provisional sale and purchase
agreements (the “Provisional Agreements”) for the sale and purchase

of two properties held by Rapid City at the aggregate consideration of
HK$184,729,500. Pursuant to the terms of the Provisional Agreements,
Rapid City and Shine Wealthy entered into the formal agreements on 13
January 2022. The transaction was completed on 15 March 2022 and 30
December 2022,

Details of the above were set out in the announcement of Bossini
International Holdings Limited dated 30 December 2021,
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Proposed Transfer of Listing from GEM to the Main Board of
Stock Exchange

On 30 June 2022, the Company submitted an application to the Stock Exchange
in respect of the proposed transfer of listing of the Shares from GEM to the

Main Board of the Stock Exchange, details of which have been set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2022 and 30 December 2022.

Subsequent Events

(@)  On 17 November 2022, Viva China Consumables and the General Partner
entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of
the remaining 49% interest in the SPV (the “Clark SPA"). Pursuant to the
Clark SPA, Viva China Consumables agreed to acquire 490 shares of the
SPV at the consideration of GBP110,000,000.

Following the shareholders’ approval of the Clark SPA at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 18 January 2023, the acquisition was
completed in late January 2023 and the SPV become a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 November 2022 and 30 January 2023 and the circular dated
30 December 2022.

(b)  Proposed rights issue by a non-wholly owned subsidiary

On 24 February 2023, Bossini International Holdings Limited (“Bossini”),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with its shares listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 592), proposed to
implement a rights issue on the basis of one (1) rights share for every

two (2) existing shares held on the record date at the subscription price
of HK$0.370 per rights share, to raise up to (i) approximately HK$465
million before expenses by way of issuing up to 1,257,784,545 rights
shares (assuming no change in the number of shares in issue on or before
the record date other than the full exercise of the vested share options);
or (il) approximately HK$457 million before expenses by way of issuing up
to 1,235,179,045 rights shares (assuming no change in the number of
shares in issue on or before the record date).

Details of the above were set out in Bossini's announcement dated 24
February 2023.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies
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MR. LI NING

CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFIGER AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Li Ning, aged 60, has been the chairman (the “Chairman”) and an executive
Director since June 2010. Mr. Li is also the chairman of the nomination
committee, the chairman of the executive committee and the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing the overall management, business strategic development and general
operations of the Group, convening and hosting Board meetings, and hosting
general meetings of the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Li is the founder of the LI-NING brand. He has been appointed
as an executive director of Li Ning Co™ since 4 March 2004 and is currently its
executive chairman. Mr. Li was appointed as interim chief executive officer of

Li Ning Co* on 18 March 2015 and has been re-designated as its joint chief
executive officer with effect from 2 September 2019. Mr. Li is the younger
brother of Mr. Li Chun, a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined in
the SFO) and the uncle of Mr. Li Qilin, who is an executive Director.

Mr. Liis one of the most outstanding athletes in the 20th century. In the 6th
World Cup Gymnastics Competition in 1982, Mr. Li unprecedentedly won six

gold medals in men’s artistic gymnastics events and was named the “Prince of
Gymnastics”( TB& 1% F F 1) in the PRC. In the 23rd Los Angeles Olympic Games
in 1984, Mr. Li won three gold, two silver and one bronze medals, making him
the athlete winning the most medals of that Olympic Games. In 1987, Mr. Li
became the Asian member of Athlete’s Commission of the International Olympic
Committee. From 1993 to 2000, Mr. Li served as a member of the Men’s
Artistic Gymnastics Technical Committee of the Federation Internationale De
Gymnastique. He is currently an honorary member of the Federation Internationale
De Gymnastique. In 1999, Mr. Li was voted as one of the “World's Most Excellent
Athletes in the 20th Century” by the World Sports Correspondent Association.

After retiring from his athlete career in 1989, Mr. Li initiated the idea of LI-NING
brand with the goal of creating the first national sports goods brand in the PRC.
He has dedicated the past over 30 years to the development of the business of
Li Ning Co and its subsidiaries, achieving great contribution to the development
of the sporting goods industry in the PRC. Mr. Li is the non-executive chairman of
LionRock Capital GP Limited.

Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s degree in law from School of Law of Peking University
(JE XA ER) | an executive master of business administration degree from
Guanghua School of Management of Peking University (At R K 22 L EE B 18
E2[52) , an honorary doctorate in technology from Loughborough University in the
United Kingdom and an honorary degree of doctor of humanities from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. In June 2010, Mr. Li was also conferred honorary

fellowship from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
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Mr. Li has also been actively involved in charities via his “Li Ning Foundation”
(== E ) and supporting educational development in impoverished and
remote areas in the PRC. In October 2009, Mr. Li was appointed by the United
Nations World Food Programme (WFP) as “WFP Goodwill Ambassador Against
Hunger”. Mr. Li is an honorary president of the Hong Kong Association of Youth
Development and a life member of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
Hong Kong.

*

The shares of this company are listed on the Stock Exchange

MR. LI CHUNYANG

EXEGUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Chunyang, aged 54, was appointed as an executive Director on 2

June 2010 and is a member of the executive committee of the Company.

He is responsible for overseeing the overall management, business strategic
development and general operations of the Group. Mr. Li is a director of JE NL48
HMEEE 2 E (bR) ABE/A T, Viva China Community Development Holdings
Limited and various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li graduated from Peking
University in 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in finance. In 1989 and 1991, he
won the World Gymnastics Championships.

MR. LI QILIN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Qilin, aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 June
2013. Mr. Li has been re-designated from a non-executive Director to an
executive Director and appointed as a member of the executive committee of the
Company with effect from 13 November 2015. He is responsible for overseeing
the overall management, business strategic development and general operations
of the Group. Mr. Li joined the Group in June 2013 and is a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li had been a director of Lead Ahead Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Li has been appointed as a non-executive director of Li Ning Co* since 13
December 2017 and re-designated as its executive director with effect from 19
June 2018,

Mr. Li has considerable experience in financial services industry and was an
analyst of Persistent Asset Management Limited during the period from January
20710 to July 2018. Mr. Li is the son of Mr. Li Chun, a substantial shareholder of
the Company (as defined in the SFO) and the nephew of Mr. Li Ning, the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director.

*

The shares of this company are listed on the Stock Exchange
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MR. VICTOR HERRERO

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Victor Herrero, aged 54, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 14 January 20271, He is responsible for
participating in strategic planning and advising on significant decision-making of
the Group. Prior to the appointment, he was a senior advisor of the Company.
On 24 July 2020, Mr. Herrero has been appointed as the chairman and a non-
executive director of a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Bossini
International Holdings Limited*.

Mr. Herrero has extensive experience in corporate management and business
operations in the consumables industry. From 2015 to 2019, Mr. Herrero served
as the chief executive officer and director of Guess Inc. (NYSE: GES), a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, which is principally engaged in designing,
marketing, distributing and licensing a lifestyle collection of contemporary apparel,
denim, handbags, watches, footwear and other related consumer products around
the world. Prior to joining Guess Inc., Mr. Herrero served as the head of Asia
Pacific and managing director of Greater China of Industria de Diserio Texil,

S.A. (Inditex Group), an international fashion retailer with brands including Zara,
Massimo Dutti, Pull & Bear, Bershka and Stradivarius. Mr. Herrero is a supervisory
board member of Global Fashion Group S.A. (FWB: GFG) (an e-commerce fashion
site operator and owner of Zalora and The Iconic, the shares of which are listed
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) and a board member of G-Il Apparel Group, Ltd
(Nasdaq: Glll) (a US manufacturer and distributor operating through a portfolio of
brands, the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market in the US).

Mr. Herrero graduated with a master of business administration from Kellogg
School of Management at Northwestern University and School of Business and
Management at the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2008.
He obtained a bachelor's degree in business administration from ESCP Europe
in Paris, France in 1992 and a bachelor’s of law degree from the University of
Zaragoza in Spain in 1993. He was also awarded “Best CEO in the Sustainable
Apparel Industry” in 2018 by the European CEO Magazine.

The shares of this company are listed on the Stock Exchange
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MR. MA WING MAN

NON-EXEGUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ma Wing Man, aged 57, has been a non-executive Director and a member
of the audit committee of the Company since 2 June 2010. He is responsible for
participating in strategic planning and advising on significant decision-making of
the Group. Mr. Ma has over 30 years of experience in finance and administration.
Mr. Ma has been employed by “Li Ning Foundation” as the financial controller
since 2005. From 1992 to 2005, Mr. Ma had been employed first as accountant
and later as financial and accounting manager of Jianlibao Holdings (H.K.)
Company Limited, which was a wholesaler and retailer of Jianlibao drinks.

Mr. Ma graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (predecessor of Hong Kong
Shue Yan University) in 1989 with a diploma in business administration. In 1993,
he obtained a diploma in accounting from School of Professional and Continuing
Education, the University of Hong Kong. In 1998, he obtained a professional
diploma for financial controllers & finance directors of foreign investment & foreign
enterprise in China, which was jointly awarded by the School of Management
Zhongshan University, China and The Hong Kong Management Association. In
2003, he obtained a bachelor of business administration degree with honours in
accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong.
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MS. LYU HONG

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Lyu Hong, also known as Lu Hong, aged 51, has been a non-executive
Director since 18 November 2022 and is also a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. She is responsible for participating in strategic
planning and advising on significant decision-making of the Group.

Ms. Lyu has over 20 years of experience in global human resources management.

She joined Pfizer Pharmaceuticals Limited (¥@im & Z2H5 PR /A ) , a group
member of Pfizer Inc. (NYSE: PFE), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange which is a global biopharmaceutical corporation (together with its
subsidiaries, the “Pfizer Group”) in September 1993 and started her career in
the industry as a human resources learning and development manager in the
PRC in August 1997. Since then, she progressed through increasingly senior
human resources leadership positions within Pfizer Group. From June 2011 to
August 2016, she was employed by Pfizer Business Service (Dalian) Co. Ltd.
(FEIH A RS (KEB) B RA ) and served as the vice president of
human resources for the Asia Pacific region, leading a human resources team
consisting of 260 team members which provided human resources and strategic
management services to all business units, senior management and more than
30,000 employees across 15 Asia Pacific countries or regions. In 2016, Ms. Lyu
was appointed as the vice president of the global human resources operations
based in the New York headquarters of Pfizer Group and was subsequently
redesignated as a senior vice president of human resources and relocated to
Shanghai after the establishment of Pfizer's Upjohn division in December 2018.
Upon the merger of Pfizer's Upjohn business (its primarily off-patent branded and
generic established medicines business) with Mylan N.V. (a global pharmaceutical
company) forming Viatris Inc. (NASDAQ: VTRS) in November 2020, Ms. Lyu

has been redesigned to be employed by Upjohn US Employment Inc. (a group
member of Viatris Inc.) and currently as the head of human resources for Greater
China region and Japan, Australia and New Zealand region.

Ms. Lyu had been a director of C&J Clark (No 1) Limited (“Clark”) from February
2021 to December 2021 before Clark became a subsidiary of the Group. Ms.
Lyu also previously acted as a non-executive director of Pfizer Limited (BSE:
500680), a company listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange, from December
2015 to November 2016.

Ms. Lyu obtained an executive master of business administration degree from
Peking University in July 2006, and also obtained a bachelor degree in economy,
major in international economy and trade, (through long distance learning) from
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (B8 15 B4 € A E2) in January
2007,
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MR. LI QING

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIREGTOR

Mr. Li Qing, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of both the audit committee and the remuneration committee

of the Company on 20 December 2019. He is responsible for supervising

and providing independent judgement on the Group’s strategies, performance,
resources and standard of conduct. Mr. Li has accumulated over 20 years of
experience in investment and asset management, merge and acquisition and
business operation in Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Li graduated with an executive
master of business administration degree from Guanghua School of Management
of Beijing University (A6 R KB =B IR 2 B) in 2006,

Mr. Li has been appointed as an executive director of Crystal Clear Electronic
Material Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Suzhou Crystal Clear Chemical Co., Ltd.)
(SZSE: 300655), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, in July
20716 and is currently its chairman and chief strategy officer. He is currently the
chairman of both Jiming Asset Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd and Ma'anshan
Jishipujiang Asset Management Co., Ltd. He was appointed as the president of
HuaAn Funds Management Limited from May 2010 to September 2014 and a
director of China Investment Information Services Limited, from July 2001 to July
2010.
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MR. PAK WAI KEUNG, MARTIN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company on 13 February 2019. He is responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement on the Group’s strategies,
performance, resources and standard of conduct. He has accumulated over 25
years of experience in finance, accounting and corporate governance affairs.

Mr. Pak graduated with a bachelor of commerce degree from the Murdoch
University, Australia in 1991 and a master of corporate governance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009. Mr. Pak is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate of The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries).

Mr. Pak has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Nan Nan
Resources Enterprise Limited™ (Stock Code: 1229) and Dragon Mining Limited”
(Stock Code: 1712) with effect from 19 September 2017 and 5 November 2018
respectively. Mr. Pak had been an independent non-executive director of China
Huiyuan Juice Group Limited (previous stock code: 1886) since 12 June 2019.
The trading in securities of such company had been suspended since 3 April
2018 and such company was subsequently delisted from the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 18 January 2021, Mr. Pak had also served as an independent
non-executive director of Convoy Global Holdings Limited (previous stock code:
1019) since 8 December 2017. The trading in securities of such company had
been suspended since 7 December 2017 and such company was subsequently
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021,

The shares of this company are listed on the Stock Exchange
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MR. WANG YAN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIREGTOR

Mr. Wang Yan, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member of both the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company on 1 July 2017,
He is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement on the
Group'’s strategies, performance, resources and standard of conduct. From May
2003 to March 2021, he was a director of Sina Corporation (“SINA") (previous
Nasdaq: SINA), which was previously listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market in the
US and delisted on 23 March 2021 after privatisation. During the period from
1996 to March 2021, as the co-founder of SINA, Mr. Wang successively held the
posts of chief executive officer and chairman. In May 2021, Mr. Wang has been
appointed as an independent director of Weibo Corporation which is listed on the
Nasdaq Stock Market in the US (Nasdaq: WB) and the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 9898).

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor degree in public law in July 1997 and a master
degree in international relations in September 2020 from the Université Paris-
Panthéon-Assas in France.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Ning, Mr. Li Chunyang and Mr. Li Qilin, being the executive Directors, are
also the senior management of the Group.

DISCLOSURE ON CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the changes in details
of the Directors’ information subsequent to the date of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022 are set out below:
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Name Details of Changes

e EHHERB

Ms. Lyu Hong appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 18 November 2022. Details of her
appointment were disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 18 November 2022.
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Mr. Li Qilin with effective from 1 March 2023, the emolument package was revised to an annual director's fee of
HK$200,000, an annual salary of approximately HK$3,350,000 and an annual housing benefit of not
exceeding HK$768,000.
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Report of the Directors
EFERE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a multi-brand operator principally engaged in design and
development, branding and sales of sports and lifestyle apparel and footwear,
and provision of sports experience under a multi-brand strategy. The Group offers
sports experience through (i) management and operation of sports parks, sports
centres and ice-skating rinks under its sports destination development business,
and (i) management and operation of e-sports clubs, coordination of sports
events, and sports-related marketing services under its sports team and event
management business.

The principal activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 41 to the financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the business review required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance for the year ended 31 December 2022
is set out in the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review and the Financial
Review of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this Report of the
Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group'’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 81 to 208.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company recognizes the importance of maximizing return to Shareholders
and believes that driving growth creates significant value to Shareholders. The
Company has adopted a dividend policy with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and the amount of profits retained in the
business for various purposes. The Board would consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividend:—

a)  financial results of the Company;

b)  Shareholders’ interests;

c)  general business conditions, strategies and future expansion needs;
d)  the Company's capital requirements;

) the payment of cash dividends to the Company from its subsidiaries;
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() possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the Company; and
(g)  other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the applicable
laws and the Company's Articles of Association.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past
five financial years is set out on page 210 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in Note 12A to the financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the vear, the Group made charitable and other donations amounted to
approximately HK$1,085,000.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year, the Company issued 59,171,001 Shares in aggregate upon
exercise of share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme of the Company
(as set out in the section of “Share Option Schemes” in this report) adopted by the
Company on 18 January 2021 and the consideration received thereon amounted
to approximately HK$39,645,000.

Details of the share capital and the perpetual convertible bonds during the year
are set out in Notes 31 and 33 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, save for the Earn-out Convertible Bonds,
the Share Option Scheme of the Company (as set out in the sections of “Directors’
Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures” and “Share Option Schemes” in this
report), the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement, nor did
any equity-linked agreement subsist at the end of the year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company's reserves available for distribution
to Shareholders comprising share premium account less accumulated losses,
amounted to approximately HK$232,448,000 (2021: HK$353,054,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in Note 42 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 85 respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers (including
LN Group) accounted for approximately 16.2% of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 6.9%
of the total sales.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
17.5% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 5.1% of the total purchases.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Li Ning, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director, was also deemed under Part XV of the SFO to have
personal interest in 3,991,813 LN Shares and 1,447,800 unvested restricted LN
Shares under the restricted share award scheme of Li Ning Co, which in aggregate
amounted to 5,439,613 LN Shares and underlying LN Shares (representing
approximately 0.21% shareholding interest in the share capital of Li Ning Co as
at 31 December 2022). Mr. Li Ning is also the executive chairman, the joint chief
executive officer and an executive director of Li Ning Co. As at 31 December
2022, Mr. Li Qilin, an executive Director, was also deemed under Part XV of the
SFO to have personal interest in 1,076,000 LN Shares and 193,100 unvested
restricted LN Shares under the restricted share award scheme of Li Ning Co,
which in aggregate amounted to 1,269,100 LN Shares and underlying LN Shares
(representing approximately 0.05% shareholding interest in the share capital of

Li Ning Co as at 31 December 2022). He is also an executive director of Li Ning
Co.

Save as disclosed above for the purpose of the Chapter 18 of the GEM Listing
Rules, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist in the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands in which the
Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, of any listed securities of the Company during the year.
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REDEMPTION OR PURCHASE OR CANCELLATION OF
REDEEMABLE SECURITIES

There was no redemption, purchase or cancellation by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries of any redeemable securities of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Ning (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Chunyang
Mr. Li Qilin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Victor Herrero
Mr. Ma Wing Man
Ms. Lyu Hong
(appointed on 18 November 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Qing
Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin
Mr. Wang Yan

The terms of office of each Director are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. Ma Wing Man, Mr. Li Qing

and Mr. Wang Yan will retire as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offers
themselves for re-election in accordance with articles 108(A) and 108(B) of

the articles of association of the Company and pursuant to Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Ms. Lyu Hong will retire and, being eligible, offer herself for
re-election in accordance with article 112 of the articles of association of the
Company. Further particulars of the Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming
annual general meeting are set out in the circular to the shareholders sent

together with this annual report. All other existing Directors shall continug in office.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 24 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the year are
set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors” and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company’s or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its
connected entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

() Share Option Scheme of the Company

The Company passed an ordinary resolution to adopt a share option
scheme on 18 January 2021 (the “Scheme”) which remains in force for a
period of 10 years commencing from 18 January 2021.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives and/or reward to
participants for their contributions to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit high-calibre employees and/or attract human resources that

are valuable to the Group. Participants of the Scheme include employee,
officer, agent, consultant, business associate or representative of the
Company or any subsidiary or otherwise contributes to the success of

the Group, including any executive, non-executive or independent non-
executive director of the Company or any subsidiary who, as the Board or a
committee comprising Directors and members of senior management of the
Company (as the case may be) may determine in its absolute discretion,

is regarded as valuable human resources of the Group and has made
important contributions to the development of the Group based on his
work experience, knowledge in the industry and other relevant factors, and
subject to such conditions as the Board or such committee (as the case
may be) may think fit.
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The offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be accepted RIEFTERHBEREZENTNREY
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal HEBESt2s H N E R4 > AR A B
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the eI BT ZEEBEARE-B
share options granted is determinable by the Board or such committee, BRHBREZZTERREZENE
save that such period shall not be mare than 10 years from the date of ZEZET HEEMPEBAEEAR
grant. The options granted under the Scheme will be vested according to HHEBES+E-RIEFF3RTHE
the terms and conditions determined by the Board on a case by case basis. RREREE SRR AR =R

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board or such & RS Zﬁ@fﬁ 2! %%’ﬁzﬁ%ﬁéﬁ
committee, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange SET EBEAEERTNREBEZRS
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant of the share options; (i) BOROFERERE BBREBA
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares for the five trading ZH&FET@ (INBR R I B2 H B AR ﬁlJfL
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of BRXZBEBIMZFHKHEE;
the Shares. (Hi)ﬁ%ﬁ@fﬁ °
The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each AR {1 21@ B HB 8 7 AR 45 BE A 2 T 8%
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited TFstE IET%@%T*%%EE}\iZHy
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the proposed date of MEE BEFAEEBBEERATINESR
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to RHHBBERITRH Z1%1E TTL—
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. TREBHIE R EREERRE
ABESREE-
The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon EITERE 8 R AR BT H M
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under st BIPRIX HE R RITEZPFA
the Scheme and any ather share option schemes of the Company must RITEBREMAI FETZRMDE
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the number of Shares in issue from time EEB LR e SB8BIEEE
to time. The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise TRRNDE R Z30% - RITHEREEE
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option Fe R BME R E A BE IR #E 51 2 A T 3%
schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the HemBEREMAYI TETZRG
nominal amount of all the Shares in issue as at the date of its adoption (the BB AHEFAESBBEERMNERME
“Scheme Mandate Limit"). The Company may, from time to time, refresh BETRMEEZ10% (T5H8E%
the Scheme Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval of the shareholders R1) c KRB AREBNRKREAS
in general meeting. Once refreshed, the total number of Shares which FTEEREMEULE B ERE L
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under Scheme [ReostBIME LR —KEH  HITHE
and all other share option schemes of the Company under the limit, as RIFTEI AR QNGB FTE EMEE R T
refreshed, must not exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at SR TEREZFAEEREMY T éf* TT
the date of approval of the refreshment by the Shareholders. On the basis ZRDBEE BIEKEEH LRARE
of 9,496,332,726 Shares in issue on the date of adoption of the Scheme, BREHEENEH E',)E."Yfﬁﬁ"fﬁ%l E
the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon exercise of share Z10%  RIBERMETBHEE Z1TH
options that may be granted under it is 949,633,272 Shares. The number 9,496,332,7265%919} P ITRER] AR R B 3%
of options available for grant under the Scheme was 661,033,272 as at 1 HEERERAEZETHESRDH
January 2022 and 653,350,605 as at 31 December 2022 respectively. B #5949,633 272D - R
As at the date of this report, the share options available for grant under —)ﬁ H &_giifﬁ—f—_ =+—
the Scheme is 654,373,938, representing approximately 6.76% of the CETEIIE TR PRHNBREHE
existing number of issued Shares. %\B'JZ%ESGW ,033,2728% F2653,350,6058% ©

RAFSEHE REtBBETAFRY
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Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at BRETEE TS ARBKRERN
shareholders’ meetings. BRERGERZER -
Detail of movement of the share options under the Scheme during the year RBEE_E__F+_"_B=+—HI1E
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: FECHEETZEREZESEHER
W
Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance
Balance as at during during during as at Exercise
Grantees Date of grant 1.1.2022 the year the year the year 31.12.2022 price Exercise period
i
R® Zg-C
—E-C _-I-:H
T bird _E_QE /- ) :+_bE (= 4=
EEA RERH g8 RERRE RERT RERKH 5y fIfEE {THEEH
(HKS)
(B7)
Directors
EX
Mr. LI Ning 18.01.2021 2,333,333 - - - 2,333,333 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
FELE 2,333,333 = = = 2,333,333 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
2,333,334 - - - 2,333,334 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000
M, LI Chunyang 18.01.2021 183,333,333 - (4,000,000) - 9,333,333 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
TERRE 13,333,333 = = - 13333333 18.01,2023-17.01.2028
13,333,334 - - - 13,333,334 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
40,000,000 = (4,000,000) = 36,000,000
Mr. LI Qllin 18.01.2021 6,666,667 = = = 6,666,667 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
FHBLE 6,666,667 = = = 6,666,667 18.01,2023-17.01.2028
6,666,666 - - - 6,666,666 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
Mr. Victor HERRERO 18.01.2021 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - - 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
Victor HERREROL & 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
60,000,000 - (20,000,000) - 40,000,000
Mr, MA Wing Man 18.01.2021 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
ERLE 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
2,000,000 = = = 2,000,000 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
Mr, PAK Wai Keung Martin -~ 18.01.2021 600,000 - - - 600,000 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
RRREE 600,000 - - - 600,000 18.01,2023-17.01.2028
600,000 - - - 600,000 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
Mr, WANG Yan 18.01.2021 600,000 - - - 600,000 067 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
TEEE 600,000 = = = 600,000 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
600,000 - - - 600,000 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
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Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance
Balance as at during during during as at Exercise
Grantees Date of grant 1.1.2022 the year the year the year 31.12.2022 price Exercise period
?
i ot
—E”C _+:H
~ —A —EI - N =+-H L L
EEA R AH BH REARE  RERTE  RERKK g B THEBH
(HKS)
(B7)
W LI Qin 18.01.2021 600,000 - - - 600,000 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
by 600,000 - - - 600,000 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
600,000 - - - 600,000 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000
138,400,000 - (24,000,000) - 114,400,000
Other employees
Hitlgg
In aggregate 18.01.2021 890,000 - (328,000) 562,000 0.67 18.01.2021-17.01.2023
A&t 47,133,335 - (34,843,001) (421 333) 11,869,001 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
47,133,335 - - (1,600,000) 45,533,335 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
47,133,330 - - (1,600,000) 45,533,330 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
142,290,000 - (35,171,001) (3,621,333) 103,497,660
08.07.2022 - 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - 1,30 08.07.2022-07.08.2022
- 4,768,000 - - 4,768,000 08.07.2023-07.07.2028
- 4,768,000 - - 4,768,000 08.07.2024-07.07.2029
- 4,768,000 - - 4,768,000 08.07.2025-07.07.2030
- 15,304,000 - (1,000,000) 14,304,000
Other grantee®
HiERA
In aggrega 18.01.2021 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 0.67 18.01.2022-17.01.2027
it 1,000,000 = - 1,000,000 - 18.01.2023-17.01.2028
1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 18.01.2024-17.01.2029
3,000,000 - (3,000,000)
283,690,000 15,304,0000 (59,171,001)2 (7621,333) 232,201,666
Notes B 5E
(1) No share options under the Scheme were cancelled during the year ended 31 N BE_ZE__F+"-B=+—HIL=EFE"
December 2022. BT I8 T A BB AR AR 5 8 o
(2)  The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the date on 2 BRONRBEEREETEEBRNMETE
which the options were exercised was HK$1.03. BT E#R1.038 T
(3)  The share options were granted to the grantee as an employee and the grantee’s B HEREEETFFARENABRAKRBIE

capacity had changed to consultant since 1 May 2021. The consultant contract
of this grantee ended on 1 February 2022 and all the share options were lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2022. This grantee has not exercised any
exercised any of these share options.

_THFER—HEZARANIHES
BFAEM -ZARANBEBGNERZZE
__H”_A—B#L EREBEE_Z_C
TZR=FT—BLFEMEBEREZRX
Mo mARANLETEERZFHERE
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(4) On 8 July 2022, the Company granted share options entitling subscription of a total (4)
of 15,304,000 Shares pursuant to the Scheme and the closing price of the shares
immediately before the date on which the aforesaid share options were granted
was HK$1.310. The fair value of share options granted during the year ended 31
December 2022 were approximately HK$5,540,000 in aggregate. The accounting
standard and the policy employed could be referred to Note 32 to the financial
statements.

(5)  The options granted during 2022 divided by the weighted average number of shares 5)
in‘issue during 2022 is approximately 0.002.

() Share Option Scheme of a Subsidiary (1)}

As at the date of the report, Bossini International Holdings Limited
(“Bossini”, which together with its subsidiaries, the “Bossini Group”).
Bossini is not a principal subsidiary of the Company (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules). Nevertheless, the summary of Bossini's Share Option
Scheme (“Bossini Share Option Scheme”) and movement of share options
under the Bossini share option scheme will be disclosed as follows.

The purpose of the Bossini Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
operations of the Bossini Group and to enable the Bossini Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Bossini Group.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors
of Bossini, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of Bossini's shares on the date of grant of the share options;
(i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of Bossini's shares for the 5
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of Bossini's shares.

Eligible participants of the Bossini Share Option Scheme include executive
directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors), and other full-time or part-time employees of the Bossini Group.
The Bossini Share Option Scheme became effective on 12 November
2013 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.

40  VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFL R EIIZERR B R AT
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The maximum number of ordinary shares in the shares capital of Bossini
(the “Bossini Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Bossini Share Option Scheme and any
other future share option schemes of the Bossini (excluding share options
forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Bossini Share Option Scheme
or any other future share option schemes of Bossini) shall not exceed

10% of the total number of shares in issue on 12 November 2013, the
date of the annual general meeting that Bossini sought the approval of the
shareholders of the Bossini for the adoption of the Bossini Share Option
Scheme. The number of shares issuable under the Bossini Share Option
Scheme was 162,077,939, which represented 10% of the Bossini's
shares in issue at 12 November 2013. The number of options available for
grant under the Bossini Share Option Scheme was 50,685,280 as at 1
January 2022 and 58,775,802 as at 31 December 2022 respectively. As
at the date of this report, the total number of Bossini Shares available for
issue under the Bossini Share Option Scheme is 63,472,522, representing
approximately 2.57% of the existing number of issued Bossini Shares.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
participant in Bossini Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the total number of shares of Bossini in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to its
shareholders’” approval in a general meeting with such participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of Bossini, or to any of their respective associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is a grantee of

the share options). In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of Bossini, or to any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of Bossini in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Bossini's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders” approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted

is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date
of grant of the share options. Share options granted during the term of the
Bossini Share Option Scheme and remain unexercised immediately prior to
the end of the 10-year period of the Bossini Share Option Scheme shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant within
the exercise period for which such options are granted, notwithstanding the
expiry of the Bossini Share Option Scheme.
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The following table discloses movements in the share options outstanding TRIEEFENEMEBKRESSEIET
under the Bossini Share Option Scheme during the year: B ARITERE IR 2 B8 .
Balance asat  Granted during  Exercised during Lapsed during  Balance as at
Grantees Date of grant 1.1.2022 the year the year the year _3%1}.@2 Exercise price Exercise period
o A
. -B-H2 ) . . Et-Bz L
ERA REAH g REARE RERGE  REAXH g5 ﬁﬁ{f s
(HKS)
(B7)
Director of the Company
FAFER
i Victor Herrero 05.01.2021 1,680,000 - - - 1,680,000 0.456 01.01.2022-31.12.2026
Vitor Herrerodg 2 1,682,000 - - - 1,682,000 01.01.2023-3112.2026
1,683,450 - - - 1,683,450 01.01.2024-3112.2026
5,045,450 - - - 5,045,450
Directors and employees
of Bossini
EHRESRES
I agoregate 05.01.2021 23,930,000 - (46080000 (5,726,000 13,596,000 0.456 01,01,2022-31,12.2026
At 23,934,000 - - (8,674,000) 15,260,000 01.01.2023-3112.2026
23,983,200 - - (8690522 15,092,687 01.01.2024-3112.2026
71,847,209 - (46080000  (23,000522) 44,148,687
I agregate 14,05.2021 666,000 - - (666,000) - 051 01.01.2022-31,12.2026
At 666,000 - - (666,000} - 01.01.2023-3112.2026
668,000 - - (668,000) - 01.01.2024-3112.2026
2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) -
I agaregate 23.08.2021 3,332,000 - - (3,332,000 - 0.62 08.08.2022-07.08.2027
At 3,334,000 = - (3,334,000 - 08.08.2023-07,08.2027
3,334,000 - - (3,334,000) - 08.08.2024-07.08.2027
10,000,000 - - (10,000,000 -
In agaregate 16.11.2021 6,660,000 - - (664,000} 5,996,000 106 16.11.2022 - 15.11.2027
a3t 6,670,000 - - (668,000) 6,002,000 16.11.2023 - 15.11.2027
6,670,000 - - (668,000} 6,002,000 16.11.2024 - 15.11.2027
20,000,000 - - (2,000,000 18,000,000
I agregate 23.03.2022 - 6,997,000 - - 6,997,000 0.66 23.03.2023 - 22.03.2028
At - 6,997,000 - - 6,997,000 23.03.2024 - 22.03.2028
- 7,006,000 - - 7,006,000 23.03.2025 - 22.03.2028
- 21,000,009 - - 21,000,000
I agregate 17.11.2022 - 2,666,000 - - 2,666,000 0.39 17.11.2023 - 16.11.2028
At - 2,666,000 - - 2,666,000 17.11.2024 - 16.11.2028
- 2,668,000 - - 2,668,000 17.11.2025 - 16.11.2028
- 8,000,004 - - 8,000,000

103,847,209 200000009 (4,608,000 (37,000522) 91,148,687
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Notes:

(1) No share options under the Bossini Share Option Scheme were cancelled
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

(2)  The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
date on which the options were exercised was HK$0.658.

(3)  The closing price of Bossini's shares immediately before 23 March 2022
was HK$0.69.

(4)  The closing price of Bossini's shares immediately before 17 November 2022
was HK$0.395.

(5)  The fair value of share options granted during the year ended 31 December
2022 were approximately HK$6,694,000 in aggregate. The accounting
standard and the policy employed could be referred to Note 32 to the
financial statements.

(6)  The options granted during 2022 divided by the weighted average number
of shares in issue during 2022 is approximately 0.01.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
and are recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture

of the Company

Number of Shares/

Bézli’&ﬂﬂﬁﬁ ERA IR 1D R ERER 2 4F

underlying Shares held
A,/ BRI K E .
Approximate
Nature of interests percentage of
EEME shareholdings
Number of as at
Personal Corporate share 31 December
Directors Capacity interest interest options held Total interests 2022
RZB__F
+ZR
=+—H
FrisRE e s Rg i
g5 5% B GIE: #H R AEER BaEatt
(@) The Company
ERHE
Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
REARLER (TRH) ERROREEEZFE
Mr. LI Ning Beneficial owner 879,508,000 - 7,000,000
FELRYE EmEEA
Interest of controlled corporation - 5,812,443,157 - 6,698,951,1511" 69.20%
B AR
Mr. LI Chunyang Beneficial owner 15,451,669 = 36,000,000 51,451,669 0.53%
TERSELE BHAAA
Mr. LI Qilin Beneficiary of trusts 3,680,022,769% - -
TEB T BERHEA
Beneficial owner - - 20,000,000 3,700,022,769 38.22%
EREEA
Mr. Victor HERRERO Beneficial owner 23,168,000 - 40,000,000 63,168,000 0.65%
Victor HERRERO#E 4 BRBEEA
Mr. MA Wing Man Beneficial owner 1,544,000 = 6,000,000® 7,544,000 0.08%
Bk iE BnlERA
Mr. LI Qing Beneficial owner - - 1,800,000@ 1,800,000 0.02%
b BEREEA
Mr. PAK Wai Keung, Martin -~ Beneficial owner - - 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.02%
HEREE BanlEAA
Mr. WANG Yan Beneficial owner = = 1,800,0009 1,800,000 0.02%
ALERE ERBEEA
(b) Associated Corporation - Bossini International Holdings Limited (“Bossini”)
AR - ENERREBERAR (TEHEE)
Long Positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of Bossini (the “Bossini Shares”)
REMESREGBIETZLBR (EHEkG)) 2HE
Mr. LI Ning Interest of controlled corporation - 1,393582,122 = 1,393,682,122% 56.41%
FHE gl L
Mr. Victor HERRERO Beneficial owner = = 5,045,450® 5,045,450 0.20%
Victor HERREROZE 2 EnEAA
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Notes:

2.

Mr. Li Ning is interested in 6,698,951,151 Shares, among which 21,508,000
Shares, the share options which are exercisable into 7,000,000 Shares and

the convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$278,850,000 which are
convertible into 858,000,000 Shares are held as personal interest, and is deemed
to be interested in the long positions of 5,812,443,151 Shares in aggregate
through his interests in Lead Ahead Limited (“Lead Ahead”), Victory Mind Assets
Limited (“Victory Mind Assets”) and Dragon City Management (PTC) Limited
(“Dragon City"), respectively as follows:

the long position of 2,132,420,382 Shares is held by Lead Ahead, which is
owned as to 60% by Mr. Li Ning and 40% by Mr. Li Chun. Mr. Li Ning is also
a director of Lead Ahead;

the long position of 1,680,022,769 Shares is held by Victory Mind Assets
which is owned as to 57% by Ace Leader Holdings Limited (‘Ace Leader”)
and 38% by Jumbo Top Group Limited (“Jumbo Top”). All shares of Ace
Leader are held by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. (“TMF") in its capacity as trustee of
a discretionary trust. Mr. Li Ning is the settlor of the trust and is therefore
deemed to be interested in such 1,680,022,769 Shares. Mr. Li Ning is a
director of each of Victory Mind Assets and Ace Leader; and

the long position of 2,000,000,000 Shares is held by Dragon City in its
capacity as trustee of a unit trust, the units of which are owned as to 60%
by TMF and as to 40% by TMF, each as the trustee of separate discretionary
trust. Mr. Li Ning is the 60% shareholder of Dragon City and a founder of the
unit trust and is therefore deemed to be interested in such 2,000,000,000
Shares. Mr. Li Ning is a director of Dragon City.

See note 1(b) and note 1(c) under “Interests and short positions of substantial
shareholders and other persons in the share capital of the Company” below.
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38 The share options were granted on 18 January 2021, pursuant to the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on the same day and are exercisable at
HK$0.670 per Share with the vesting schedule in trenches of one-third each on
18 January 2022, 18 January 2023 and 18 January 2024 within a period of 5
years after vested according to the respective vesting schedule. As at 31 December
2022, the total issued Shares was 9,680,413,727.

4, As at 31 December 2022, the total number of shares of Bossini in issue
was 2,470,358,091 and Dragon Leap Consumables Limited (“Dragon Leap
Consumables”) was interested in 1,393,582,122 Bossini Shares. Dragon Leap
Consumables was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As such, Mr. Li Ning
was deemed to be interested in the same 1,393,582,122 Bossini Shares by virtue
of his interests in the Shares.

5 The share options were granted on 5 January 2021 by Bossini and are exercisable
at HK$0.456 per share of Bossini in trenches of one-third each during the following
periods respectively: (i) from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2026; (i) from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2026; and (iii) from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2026.

0. For the movement of the share options, please refer to the section headed “Share
Option Schemes” on page 36 to 43 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the
Company had, as at 31 December 2022, any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFQO), or which were required to

be and are recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 12 October 2012 (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) entered into between the Company and Victory Mind
Assets and Dragon City as the vendors (the “Vendors”), the acquisition by the
Company of 266,374,000 LN Shares, representing approximately 25.227% of
the then issued share capital of Li Ning Co was completed in December 2012,
for the aggregate consideration of HK$1,358,507,400, which was satisfied by
the issuance to Victory Mind Assets, one of the Vendors, 1,780,022,769 Shares
and to Dragon City, the other Vendor, unlisted initial convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$780,000,000 (the “Initial Convertible Bonds") which
are convertible at an initial conversion price of HK$0.325 per Share, subject

to adjustment provided under the terms and conditions of the Initial Convertible
Bonds. All Initial Convertible Bonds were converted into 2,400,000,000 Shares
on 6 June 2014,

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement and the deed dated 30 August 2013
entered into between the Company and the Vendors (the “Deed”), the Company
issued unlisted earn-out convertible bonds (the “Earn-out Convertible Bonds") in
the principal amount of HK$340,782,000 to Victory Mind Assets and the Earn-
out Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$439,218,000 to Dragon
City in November 2013 subject to certain undertaking under which a portion of
the Earn-out Convertible Bonds may be returned to the Company in the event that
certain performance targets of LN Group are not met. The Earn-out Convertible
Bonds are convertible into 2,400,000,000 Shares at an initial conversion

price of HK$0.325 per Share. On 10 April 2017, the condition for releasing

the undertaking has been met and the Company has released all the Earn-out
Convertible Bonds held by the Vendors in accordance with the terms of the Deed.

Victory Mind Assets is indirectly held by the corporate trustee of two discretionary
trusts, the beneficiaries of which include the respective family members of Mr.

Li Ning, an executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, his
brother, Mr. Li Chun and Mr. Li Qilin, an executive Director. Dragon City is the
trustee of a unit trust, the units of which are owned by two family trusts, the
beneficiaries of which include the respective family members of Mr. Li Ning, Mr. Li
Chun and Mr. Li Qilin. Mr. Li Qilin is the son of Mr. Li Chun and the nephew of Mr.
Li Ning.
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Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Interests and Short Positions of Directors and the Chief Executive in the
Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporation” of this report, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Directors, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any holding company, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries
entered into any contract of significance or any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the interests and
short positions of the persons (other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company are set out below:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
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MR RAERRG ZFE

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares/underlying shareholdings as at
Capacity Shares held 31 December 2022
RZIEZZ
+=ZA=+—H
FR¥sRg1n FRERg
1% RS EE EBABE L
Substantial Shareholders
FTERRE
Mr. LI Chun® Beneficial owner 60,000,000
TS ED Em#EEA
Interest of controlled corporation 5,812,443,157
SEGEE#E R
5,872,443,157 60.66%
Lead Ahead®? Beneficial owner 2,132,420,382 22.03%
BmEAA
Victory Mind Assets® Beneficial owner 1,680,022,769 17.35%
BEm#EEA
Ace Leader® Interest of controlled corporation 1,680,022,769 17.35%
SZEGEE#E R
Jumbo Top® Interest of controlled corporation 1,680,022,769 17.35%
ZEGEE S
Dragon City® Trustee 2,000,000,000 20.66%
ZEEA
TMFO® Trustee 3,680,022,769 38.02%
=EEA
Other Persons
Hfh AL
Mr. ZHAQ Jianguo® Beneficial owner 293,000,000
g e BE@m#EEA
Interest of spouse 700,000,000
BBt m
Interest of controlled corporation 12,963,200
SEGEE#E R
1,005,963,200 10.39%
Ms. LI Ying® Beneficial owner 700,000,000
ey kogunld BEm#EEA
Interest of spouse 293,000,000
BBt m
Interest of controlled corporation 12,963,200
SEGEE#E R
1,005,963,200 10.39%
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Mr. Li Chun has personal interest in 60,000,000 Shares and is deemed to be
interested in the long positions of 5,812,443,151 Shares in aggregate through
his interests in Lead Ahead, Victory Mind Assets and Dragon City, respectively as
follows:

(a) the long position of 2,132,420,382 Shares is held by Lead Ahead, which is
owned as to 60% by Mr. Li Ning and 40% by Mr. Li Chun;

(b)  the long position of 1,680,022,769 Shares is held by Victory Mind
Assets which is owned as to 57% by Ace Leader and 38% by Jumbo Top.
All shares of Jumbo Top are held by TMF in its capacity as trustee of a
discretionary trust. Mr. Li Chun is the settlor of the trust and is therefore
deemed to be interested in such 1,680,022,769 Shares. Mr. Li Qilin is a
beneficiary of the trust and is also therefore deemed to be interested in such
1,680,022,769 Shares. Mr. Li Chun is also a director of each of Victory
Mind Assets and Jumbo Top; and

() the long position of 2,000,000,000 Shares is held by Dragon City in its
capacity as trustee of a unit trust, the units of which are owned as to 60% by
TMF and as to 40% by TMF, each as the trustee of a separate discretionary
trust. Mr. Li Qilin is a beneficiary of one of the said separate trusts and is
also therefore deemed to be interested in such 2,000,000,000 Shares. Mr.
Li Chun is taken to be interested in 40% of the shares of Dragon City and
is therefore deemed to be interested in such 2,000,000,000 Shares. Mr. Li
Chun is a director of Dragon City.

Lead Ahead is owned as to 60% by Mr. Li Ning and 40% by his brother, Mr. Li
Chun. Mr. Li Ning is also a director of Lead Ahead.

See note 1(b) under “Interests and short positions of directors and the chief
executive in the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” and note 1(b) above. For avoidance of doubt and double
counting, it should be noted that Ace Leader, Jumbo Top and TMF are deemed to be
interested in the 1,680,022,769 Shares which Victory Mind Assets is interested in.

See note 1(c) under “Interests and short positions of directors and the chief
executive in the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” and note 1(c) above. TMF is deemed to be interested in
the 2,000,000,000 Shares which Dragon City is interested in.
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) Mr. Zhao Jianguo has personal interest in 289,666,667 Shares and the share
options which are exercisable into 3,333,333 Share. Ms. Li Ying, the spouse of
Mr. Zhao, has personal interest in the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$227,500,000 which are convertible into 700,000,000 Shares. Double Essence
Limited was interested in 12,963,200 Shares and is owned as to 50% by Mr. Zhao
and 50% by Ms. Li respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, save as disclosed above, so far as was known to
the Directors, no other person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had any interests or short position in the shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as notified to the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed during
the year.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence and it is the Group’s policy
to compensate each employee fairly and equitably. The Group has a system
for measuring employees’ performance against agreed-upon goals with
specific performance standards. Performance discussion is carried out on an
ongoing basis and a formal evaluation is conducted at least once a year to
review employees’ overall performance, achievements, and areas in need of
improvement. Salary review would be based on individual's performance and
subject to Group's discretion.

The determination of remuneration packages of the Directors takes into
consideration of the factors such as time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and by reference to the level of emoluments normally paid by a listed
company in Hong Kong to directors of comparable calibre and job responsibilities
S0 as to ensure a fair and competitive remuneration package as is fit and
appropriate. The details of remuneration payable to the Directors and senior
management are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.

The existing share option scheme enables the Company to grant options as an
incentive to directors and eligible participants. Details of the scheme are set out
in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” on pages 36 to 43 of this annual
report.
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ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY

Pursuant to a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) entered into between Viva
China Consumables Limited (formerly known as Viva China Entertainment Holdings
Limited and hereinafter referred to as the “Lender”), a wholly owned subsidiary

of the Company and LionRock Capital GP Limited acting in its capacity as the
general partner (the “General Partner”) of LionRock Capital Partners QiLe L.P.

(the “Borrower”), the Lender has agreed to provide a facility of GBP54,000,000
(the “Facility”) to the Borrower at an interest rate of 4% per annum. The General
Partner is wholly owned by Mr. Tseung Daniel Kar Keung. The single largest limited
partner of the Borrower is LionRock Capital Partners, L.P., the total contribution of
which is not more than 49%. Li Ning Company Limited (Stock Code: 2331) is a
limited partner of LionRock Capital Partners, L.P..

According to the Loan Agreement, the Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowed
under the Facility in or towards (directly or indirectly) financing the acquisition or
subscription of equity interests in any target company (the “Target Company”)
that may be acquired by LionRock Capital Partners QiLe Limited (the “SPV"),

a company wholly owned by the Borrower, from time to time for investment
purposes and any related expenses. The Lender may, at any time in its sole
discretion, request the Borrower to grant security over certain proportion of the
equity interest in the SPV. The parties to the Loan Agreement may agree the
principal amount of a loan together with all outstanding amounts under the Loan
Agreement be converted and/or set off against any subscription amounts payable
by the Lender in order to subscribe for equity in the SPV.

The Borrower may utilise the Facility in no more than 5 drawings within the
period from and including the date of the Loan Agreement to and including 31
December 2020. The initial drawdown date is the date on which the first loan
under the Facility is made or to be made and the final maturity date as determined
by the Lender in its sole discretion and notified to the Borrower is 31 July 2022.
The loan together with all accrued interests shall be repayable in full on the final
maturity date. If the Borrower is unable to provide evidence of application of the
loan within four months from the initial drawdown date, or if the loan is not applied
towards the purpose of the loan by such date (or any later date as determined by
the Lender in its sole discretion and notified to the Borrower), all outstanding loan
and other amounts accrued under the Loan Agreement shall become immediately
due and payable unless otherwise agreed by the Lender. In the event of an
occurrence of an event of default under the Loan Agreement, the Lender may

by notice to the Borrower, declare all or any part of the loan and all outstanding
amounts be immediately due and payable. The Borrower may prepay the principal
amount of a loan under the Facility at any time and from time to time prior to the
final maturity date, in whole or in part, together with accrued and unpaid interests
on the principal amount being prepaid, without penalty or premium.
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On 15 March 2021, the Lender entered into a subscription agreement (the
“‘Agreement”) with the Borrower and the SPV pursuant to which the Lender
conditionally agreed to subscribe for 510 shares of the SPV at a subscription
price of GBP51,000,000 (the “Subscription Price”, and the “Subscription”,
respectively) and acquire a shareholder’s loan (the “Purchase Shareholder’s Loan”)
from the Borrower at a consideration of GBP51,000,000 (the “Consideration”,
and the “Shareholder’s Loan Transaction”, respectively). The Consideration payable
by the Lender to the Borrower shall be deemed to be satisfied at completion

of the Subscription (the “Completion”) by setting off an amount equal to the
Consideration against an outstanding amount of GBP51,000,000 which has been
drawn down and remains outstanding under the Loan Agreement (the “Outstanding
Amount”). Upon consummation of the Shareholder’s Loan Transaction at
Completion, the Outstanding Amount shall be deemed to have been irrevocably
and unconditionally repaid in full by the Borrower to the Lender in accordance with
the terms of the Loan Agreement and all unpaid interest which has been accrued
pursuant to the Loan Agreement shall be deemed irrevocably and unconditionally
waived by the Lender. The Subscription Price payable by the Lender to the SPV at
Completion shall be setting off an amount equal to the Subscription Price against
the Purchase Shareholder’s Loan, and the Purchase Shareholder's Loan owed

by the SPV to the Lender (being the new lender of the Purchase Shareholder’s
Loan as from the consummation of the Shareholder’s Loan Transaction) shall be
deemed fully paid and satisfied in full and the Purchase Shareholder’s Loan shall
be terminated.

The SPV holds a majority interest in Clark which is principally engaged in
wholesaling and retailing of shoes and trading in the brand name “Clarks”.
Following the shareholders’ approval of the Agreement at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company on 15 June 2022, all conditions under the Agreement
have been fulfilled and the acquisition was completed on 2 July 2022. The
Purchase Shareholder’s Loan with principal of GBP53,550,000 and its respective
interest were set off against the Subscription Price payable, and the Purchase
Shareholder’s Loan was deemed fully paid and satisfied in full and was terminated
upon the completion of the acquisition. The SPV became an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and the results of the SPV and its subsidiaries
were consolidated into the financial results of the Group since July 2022.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
28 September 2020, 14 January 2021, 15 March 2021, 25 November 2021
and 4 July 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 26 May 2022.

On 17 November 2022, Viva China Consumables and the General Partner entered
into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of the remaining
49% interest in the SPV (the “Clark SPA"). Pursuant to the Clark SPA, Viva China
Consumables agreed to acquire 490 shares of the “SPV" at the consideration of
GBP110,000,000.
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Following the shareholders’ approval of the Clark SPA at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company on 18 January 2023, the acquisition was completed

in late January 2023 and the SPV became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company's announcements dated
17 November 2022 and 30 January 2023, and the circular dated 30 December
2022,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and a detailed corporate governance report is set out on
pages 57 to 69 of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Li Ning whose biographical details
are set out on pages 24 to 25 of this annual report. Ms. Chan Tsz Ping is the
company secretary and the Financial Controller of the Company. She is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, tax, financial and treasury management.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In addition to the discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance in the Business Review of this annual report, an electronic ESG
report has been published at the same time as the publication of the report. The
electronic version of the ESG report are available on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www:.vivachina.hk)
under “Substantiality” section. The Shareholders can ask for the ESG report

in printed form at any time, free of charge, by writing to the Principal Place of
Business of the Company or the Company’s Branch Share Registrars in Hong
Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES EENHRBEEH 2ES

During the year 2022 and up to the date of this report, according to the GEM RIE__FEAKRBEERARSHE &
Listing Rules, the following Directors have interests in the following businesses KANBNEEEEZTABBERNESU
which are considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly or REEARNBD R/ HEAEBHIFH I RIF

indirectly, with the businesses of the Group other than those businesses where the ~ GEM_ETH#RBI > FHIEEHEE FH R A A
Directors of the Company were appointed as directors to represent the interests of ~ NEB X EIZ B EEN R F A I EE
the Company and/or the Group: B FREFEBI R R

Businesses which are considered to compete or likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
WHRAENEBEF BT FNTABARBNER
Nature of interest of
the Director in the

Name of Director Name of Entity Description of the Entity’s Business Entity
BEENZERNE
RS BER%E BERENEBEN m=ME
Mr. Li Ning Li Ning Company Limited  mainly engaged in brand marketing, research director and substantial shareholder
and development, design, manufacturing, (within the meaning of the SFO)

distribution and retail of professional and
leisure footwear, sport apparels, equipment and
accessories under the LI-NING brand and other
licensed brands
FEXE FTEBRAF FEREFTERERHEMEERET ZEZRIZRI (EERIZS
NEERAREEE - ESHRE BN REBASKRE)
PO RO ~ P2 ~ R 5T WIS~ D8

REE
Mr. Li Qilin Li Ning Company Limited  as disclosed above director and substantial shareholder
(within the meaning of the SFO)
TEABE A FEFRAT WM ENFKEE EERFTERR (EERFES
K HA G 15 451)
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Note:

Mr. Li Chun, an elder brother of Mr. Li Ning, the father of Mr. Li Qilin and a substantial
shareholder (within the meaning of the SFO) of the Company, is deemed to be interested in
the shares and underlying shares of Li Ning Company Limited held by the Company.

As the Board of Directors of the Company is independent of the board of the above-
mentioned entity and none of the above Directors can control the Board of the Company,
the Group is therefore capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from the businesses of this entity.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at the date of this annual report, there was a
sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares of the Company under the
GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year under review have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Li Ning
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and meet its objectives to maximize the interest of its
shareholders by further expand into the footwear and apparel business which
has been further discussed in the directors’ report of this annual report on the
performance of the Group. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December
2022, the Company had complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, save for the disclosure below.

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Li Ning holds both the positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer. Taking into account of Mr. Li's expertise and insight
of the sports field and consumables business, having these two roles performed
by Mr. Li enables more effective and efficient overall business planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies of the Group. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations

of the Board, which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals and
adequate independent element in the composition of the Board, with over one-
third of them being independent non-executive Directors.

The application of the relevant principles of the CG Code is stated in the following
sections.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by the Board, which has the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company. The Directors are collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s affairs and
activities with a view to develop its business and to enhance shareholders’ value.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the

management. Decisions on important matters are specifically reserved to the
Board while decisions on the Group’s general operations are delegated to the
management. Important matters include those affecting the Group'’s strategic
policies, risk management and internal control systems, major investment and
funding decisions and major commitments relating to the Group’s operations.

The Board currently comprises of three executive Directors (the “Executive
Directors”), three non-executive Directors (the “Non-executive Directors”) and
three independent non-executive Directors (the “Independent Non-executive
Directors”). The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a balanced
composition of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Li Ning has been the Chairman since 2010 and takes the lead to oversee the
Board functions and the direction of the Group. Mr. Li Ning took the role of Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 22 May 2013 to further align the management
expertise of the Board to complement with the Group’s core strategies.
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Non-Executive Directors

All' Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The current Independent Non-executive Directors are Mr. Li Qing, Mr. Pak Wai
Keung, Martin and Mr. Wang Yan. The Independent Non-executive Directors help
the management to formulate the Group’s development strategies, ensure the
Board prepares its financial and other mandatory reports in strict compliance
with required standards, and ensure the Company maintains appropriate system
to protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The Company
received the annual confirmation from the Independent Non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considered all the Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

Board GComposition and Board Processes

Directors make their best efforts to contribute to the formulation of strategy,
policies and decision-making by attending the Board meetings in person or by
electronic means. During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performance
and review the financial results of the Group. Additional Board meetings may be
convened for considering and approving other significant matters. Apart from
formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval will be arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions.

Board Independence

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good corporate
governance and Board effectiveness.

Following mechanisms are adopted by the Board and reviewed annually by the
Board to ensure their effectiveness and the Board considered that the mechanism
was effective for the year under review:

1. The Board must have at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors
and must appoint Independent Non-Executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board.

2. Onan annual basis, all Independent Non-Executive Directors are required to
confirm in writing their compliance of independence requirements pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of offices
held by them in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments.
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3. External independent professional advice is available as and when required

by individual Directors.
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4, The Chairman of the Board meets with Independent Non-Executive

Directors annually without the presence of the Executive Director and Non-

Executive Directors.

The composition of the Board together with the information in relation to

the number of meetings of the Board and each of its committees, namely,
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committeg”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination

Committee”) and the executive committee (the “Executive Committee”), and the
general meetings of the Company held during the year 2022 and the attendance

of each Director are set out in the following table:

3. fH{ERIESERE R ERIEE
TEEXER-

4 EFREIFEEFAEATESRRIFENT
EETHEBBRATERBIUIFNITE
=Ho

EERHAMERARBNR ST _F£17
2EEENHREZEE AIEZEEg (&
ZEEg)) FMNEEE (FFNEZEEE)) ~
RYEZEZEEE (RREEE)) HITEEE
(THMITEZEG))) RKREAREZEERY
ZERERUKREESHFEBREN TR

Meetings held in 2022
RISZZF27283
Annual  Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration Nomination Executive General General
Board  Committee Committee  Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
B TS K&
BXY BRZ8T HFWZ8T RRZEE WTEEY BEEKE HAKE
Number of meetings THERY 5 5 2 1 1 1 2
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Ning (Chairman & Chief B4 (FERTEEH)

Executive Officer)? 5/5 212 11 11 1/1 2/2
Mr. Li Chunyang TEBRRE 5/5 11 1N 22
Mr. Li Qilin? THB L 5/5 11 1N 2/2
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Mr. Victor Herrero Victor Herrero%t 4 5/5 i 2/2
Mr. Ma Wing Man Es s 5/5 5/5 10 2/2
Ms. Lyu Hong (appointed with Bt (R_E-__F

effect from 18 November 2022)  +—RA+/\BEZ) 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Independent Non-executive B IERTES

Directors
Mr. Li Qing EMmEE 5/5 5/5 212 11N 22
Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin HE®REE 5/5 5/5 22 11 11 2/2
Mr. Wang Yan® IS A 5/5 5/5 2/2 1" 01 0/2
Notes: MIsE -

1. The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings a 1. HEXRBIEESERHEZRE AEL

Director is entitled to attend.

2. Mr. Li Qilin is the nephew of Mr. Li Ning, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer

and an Executive Director.

5} Mr. Wang Yan was unable to attend the general meetings of the Company due to his
other business commitments. To gain balanced understanding of the Shareholders’
views, questions and opinion raised by the Shareholders will be duly recorded and

forwarded to the Board.

ErzERZRH:-

2. FTHBEERIFR THRAHRIITES
FEREZEF

3. RELRERRZEMEFAEMARELFE
ERBDRERARG - B THTHRRRER
RERHNEBREREREE DL HNE

REFG
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development ERZIEEEXEERE

The Directors are encouraged to enroll in relevant professional development NATSEEERHEEEXEESD
programme to ensure that they are aware of their responsibilities under the legal MR ESRERNANAB Z 3 LE
and regulatory requirements applicable to the Company. During the year, the BHEFNZEEF RER XATHEEIE
Company has provided the materials on directors’ duties, corporate governance HEMBMEERE XS LEREHEHRE
and updates on regulatory development for continuous professional development BZME SEREREBITH A ZHH
of their knowledge and skills in performance of their functions. EEENISEEEEE-

The Company has maintained records of training received by the Directors. To AATGZEESRESEIN R 4BIEM
summarise, the Directors received trainings on the following areas to update and SOEENRNEREESUTAHFENEDUL
develop their skills and knowledge during the year: B RIAEERER AR -

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

relevant topics

TEER - ERER

KREMMBREZEN
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Li Ning (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) TEEE (FEFRTHEE) v/
Mr. Li Chunyang FHEERE v/
Mr. Li Qilin EEEE ST Y 4
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Victor Herrero Victor Herrero%t &4 v
Mr. Ma Wing Man B EE v
Ms. Lyu Hong (appointed with effect from 18 November 2022) 24l + (R_Z__

+—B+N\BEZD 4

Independent Non-executive Directors BIJERITES
Mr. Li Qing ErhtE v
Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin HEREE v/
Mr. Wang Yan VEIESEE v
Whistle-blowing policy and Anti-corruption policy BN ERREREEBRE
Whistle-blowing and anti-corruption policies are established. More details and AAAi I EERHBERNREBERE-FL
the mechanism of the policies could be found in the 2022 ESG report of the FIERBEFEEETRERATN _E -
Company. FRE-HEREARS
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as the code for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors, and the Directors
have confirmed compliance with the Required Standard during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Group are also subject to compliance with the same Required
Standard. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022,

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee as integral elements of good
corporate governance and to oversee relevant aspects of the Company’s affairs.
The authorities and duties of the committees are set out in their respective terms
of reference. More details of these committees are set out in separate sections in
this report.

The terms of reference adopted by the Board for the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee in accordance with the
requirements of the CG Code are published on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board with written terms
of reference. The current Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Li Ning,
the Chairman and Executive Director. The other members of the Nomination
Committee are Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin and Mr, Wang Yan, both are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include review of the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board and provision of recommendation on
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
senior management, the chairman and the chief executive of the Company to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee also recommended suitable
candidates to the Board for appointment as non-executive Director after its
assessment with reference to a range of diversity perspectives. In November
2022, the Company was pleased to welcome Ms. Lyu Hong to the Board. The
extensive experience of Ms. Lyu Hong in global human resources management
would boost diversity to the Board.
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The Company adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) with effect
from 1 January 2019. The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to set guidelines
for the administration by the Nomination Committee of the nomination, evaluation
and termination of each member of the Board. The Board shall be composed

of members with balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to accomplish the Group’s business development, strategies,
operation, challenges and opportunities. Each member of the Board shall possess,
be recognized for and be able to exhibit high and professional standard of the set
of criteria as established in the board diversity policy adopted by the Company
(the “Board Diversity Policy").

According to the nomination procedure, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for identifying potential new Directors and evaluate against the criteria before
recommending to the Board for decision. If appointment is considered by

the Board, the appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the
GEM Listing Rules and the Nomination Policy. If the candidate is nominated by
the Shareholders, the nomination and appointment shall follow the procedures
(if any) set out in the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association,

the GEM Listing Rules and the Nomination Policy. The Nomination Policy shall
also be governed by other additional and relevant rules under the Company’s
Memorandum and Article of Association and the GEM Listing Rules applicable to
the nomination, appointment, election, re-election, retirement, and termination of
Directors.

Summary and Measurable Objectives of the Board Diversity
Policy

The Company recognises the importance of board diversity which is beneficial
for the enhancement of the Company’s performance. The Board has adopted

a Board Diversity Policy with effect from 12 August 2013, which provides

that the nomination and appointment of Board members should be based on
meritocracy, taking into considerations of the diversity of Board members from
different aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy.
The Nomination Committee’s role includes monitoring the implementation of the
policy and review the same as appropriate.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the diversity of the Board FRN RLEEGREFTFZTEMREZLTIE
from perspectives the composition of the Board from diversified angles up to date A ER N B EARS HHNESEE L 1L
of this report: =p7,

No. of Directors

BEEAY

Gender Male 8
a1l B4

Female 1

pegs
Ethnicity: Chinese 7
i3 58

Spanish 1

PR OF 55

Singaporean 1

N EE
Age Group: 31-40 1
Fhe 4R 31-40%%

41-50 1

41-508%

51-60 7

51-605%
Length of Service (year): <1 1
RFEFH (FF) DR1E

1-10 8

1105
To comply with the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board targeted to AEFGEMEMRAFEE %%@% 2EE
appaint a female director. During 2022, Ms Lyu Hong was appointed as the non- THEEF R T Iﬁi?‘géﬁ
executive Director. The Nomination Committee considered that the Board had BIERTEE - RLETEGIAEFTIZE
achieved gender diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix ERMERZ Eﬂ:jiﬁﬁ BRREABETR
appropriate for the business of the Company and will review the composition and BRZEBERE-EREZTICHEEG T E
diversity of the Board on a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness. Tt J%%ﬁz AR &% 7T |“$L/UJET$,H\
The Company has also taken and will continue to take steps to promate gender FEE W o A2 B IR R B A 42 & R BN iE
diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and M REARNBEZRF (BIEEFRRNRES
senior management levels and improve the composition of the Board in order to FRESREERE) WL Tt UREBIEE
develop a pipeline of potential successars. EEMAM UEEBTENEELE -
As at 31 December 2022, approximately 64.0% of our total workforce were N_E__F+_B= —I— EI BEBH
female. We will continue with our endeavor to maintain female representation in FAI64.0% R L E - BRMIBEEZS HERRE
our workforce. B PNLELLA) -
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 1 August 2005 with
written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible
for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Group's policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management. The Board has
adopted the operation model, where the Remuneration Committee has duties to
determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises two Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. Wang Yan (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Qing
and one Non-executive Director, Ms. Lyu Hong.

The determination of remuneration packages of the Directors takes into
consideration of the factors such as time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and by reference to the level of emoluments normally paid by a listed
company in Hong Kong to directors of comparable calibre and job responsibilities
S0 as to ensure a fair and competitive remuneration package as is fit and
appropriate. During the year, the Remuneration Committee (i) reviewed adjusted
the remuneration packages of the Directors; and (ii) reviewed and recommended
to the Board the director’s fee of new non-executive Director by reference to her
academic qualification, experience and duties and responsibilities with the Group.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established by the Board with specific terms of
reference. The committee currently comprises three Executive Directors, Mr. Li
Ning (chairman of the Executive Committee), Mr. Li Chunyang and Mr. Li Qilin. The
primary duties of the Executive Committee are to propose and implement business
strategies and plans for the Group, monitor the operations of companies of the
Group and approve matters relating to their day-to-day operations.

The Executive Committee is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties which include the development and review of the Company’s policies

and practices on corporate governance, review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management, review
and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and the Directors

and review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report of the Company. During the year, the members of the
Executive Committee considered and reviewed the compliance of the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee also has duty to design, implement and monitor the

risk management and internal control systems and to provide confirmation to the
Board on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was formed on 17 March 2000 with written terms of
reference. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s
financial statements, annual reports, half-year reports, quarterly reports and risk
management and internal control systems and to provide advice and comments
thereon to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Li
Qing and Mr. Wang Yan and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Ma Wing Man. This
annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

During the year, the committee members met together to review the quarterly
reports, half-year report and annual report before submission to the Board. The
chief financial officer of the Company was also invited to attend these meetings

in order to give a full account of the financial statements of the Group. The Audit
Committee also reviewed (i) the changes in accounting standards and their impact
on the Company’s financial reporting and (ii) the risk management and internal
audit plan and reports. In order to have effective communication, external service
providers including but limited to Company’s auditor were also invited to attend
the meetings and regular report will be provided to the committee members.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Chi resigned as the company secretary of the Company with effective
from 8 April 2022,

Ms. Chan Tsz Ping has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
since 8 April 2022. During the year, Mr. Cheung and Ms. Chan have duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 5.15 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts of the
Company.

In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
approved adoption of all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, made
judgments and estimates that are appropriate, and prepared the accounts on a
going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor about their financial reporting are set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 70 to 80 of this annual report,
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fee paid and payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers in relation to the audit and non-audit services for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022, amounted to HK$27.0 million and
HK$3.2 million respectively. The sum for non-audit services included HK$1.3
million for the agreed upon procedures performed on the Group’s interim results
and quarterly results, HK$1.7 million for special purpose non-audit service
performed on the acquisition and other agreed upon procedures and HK$0.2
million for tax services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The management has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems, and the Board has the responsibility to
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems at least annually covering financial, operational and compliance
controls, to ensure that the systems in place are adequate and effective.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are, however, designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board considered it would be more cost effective to engage external
consultant. Therefore, during the Reporting Period, the Group has engaged RSM
Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited (‘RSM"), as its risk management and internal
control review advisor for the year ended 31 December 2022, to review the
Group’s risk management system.

The procedures used to identify, evaluate and manage major risks by the Group
are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and
operations.

Risk Assessment

o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by
the management; and

° Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal control procedures
to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and ensures that
appropriate internal control procedures are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control procedures in
case of any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board
regularly.

The Board considered that major risks of the Group were managed within the
acceptable level and the management will continue to monitor the residual risks
and report to the Board on an ongoing basis.

The management and various departments conduct periodic self-assessment

of the effectiveness of the internal control policies and procedures. RSM was
engaged and assisted the Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control systems that covers financial, operational and compliance
controls.

The Board, supported by the Audit Committee and RSM, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group and for reviewing
its effectiveness. Based on the reviews performed by the management, comments
from the Audit Committee and recommendations for areas of improvement

from external auditor and risk management and internal control review advisor,
the Board is of the view that the Group's risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company maintains a framework for the handling and dissemination of inside
information and the disclosure policy of the framework sets out the procedures
and internal controls to ensure inside information remains confidential until such
information is appropriately disclosed and the announcement of such information
is made in a timely manner in compliance with the SFO and the GEM Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and employs
a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to the Shareholders
and the investors. The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue
with the Shareholders through various means.

Procedures for requisitioning an extraordinary general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company signed and deposited in accordance with Article 64 of
the Company's articles of association, require an extraordinary general meeting

to be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified in the
requisition.
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Shareholder(s) may propose a candidate for election as a Director at any general
meetings of the Company by a requisition signed by the Shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) of his intention to propose such person for election
as a Director together with a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected in accordance with Article 113 of the Company’s articles
of association.

The articles of association of the Company set out the procedures for the
Shareholders to convene general meetings, to move a resolution at general
meetings and to propose a person for election as a Director are available for
viewing at the Company’s corporate website www.vivachina.hk.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum of communication
between Shareholders and the Board. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing through the company secretary of the Company
whose contact is as follow:

Address of Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong: 2/F, PopOffice, 9 Tong Yin
Street, Tseung Kwan O, New Territories, Hong Kong

Telephone: 37961111
Fax: 37961100

The company secretary of the Company shall forward the Shareholders’ enquiries
to the Board, where appropriate to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company recognised the importance of effective communication with the
Shareholders and adopted the shareholder communication policy.

The Board and management maintain a continuing dialogue with the Shareholders
and other stakeholders through various channels including but not limited to the
Company’s general meetings. The Company encourages all shareholders to attend
general meeting which provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. During the year, two extraordinary general meetings and an
annual general meeting of the Company were held to pass resolutions which are
significant to the operation of the Company.
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To provide timely and effective communication, the Company maintains a
corporate website (www.vivachina.hk) where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public access.

The implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder communication policy is
reviewed by the Board during the year. The Board considered the current channels
would be sufficient for the Company to communicate with the Shareholders. Thus,
the policy was considered as effective. Shareholders can refer to “Shareholders’
Communication Policy” posted on the Company's website for more details.

Changes in the Constitutional Documents

During the year 2022, the Memorandum of Association and the Articles of
Association (the “Memorandum and Articles of Association”) were amended (the
‘Amendment”) in order to bring the Memorandum and Articles of Association in
line with the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Island, and
to incorporate certain minor housekeeping amendments. The special resolution

in relation to the Amendment was passed in 10 October 2022, For further
information, please refer to the announcement of the Company on 13 September
2022 and the circular of the Company dated 15 September 2022,

A notice for the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will

be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and
despatched together with the Annual Report 2022 to the Shareholders as soon as
practicable in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and the
CG Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIZHBEERS

=
pwec

To the Shareholders of Viva China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Viva China Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 81 to
208, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

BEAAE

HIENFEEZERARABARER
(RHEEHEEZMAILIERAE)

ER
HAEEANAR

FENFEHERERL2E U THBIER
5 RENBAS UTHRBIEER)) 7
I FEOIE08BMGREMBHRE  &1F !

e RIZBZHF+"A=+—HHKESE
MBI

s BEZALFEMNKRSED
ER@mE

REME

s BEZHULFENGSEmEHE

s BEZHLFENGRSREMER,

%ﬂ

ir e M BRI A
RHMPAEER

BREEEETH

#

HANER

HFRD ZEEEMHTRRERESA
%%Jrﬁﬂi’&%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]<<*%%?‘QE¢/—%E'J))E
BEMPEMRRTEERR _T -
TZA=+T—HNGEUBRRTAREEE
ZHLEFENGEUBRREAGERENM
EVEBREB(RERA)KEREZ



Independent Auditor's Report 38 3L #% B Efi 3R &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsihilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We Dbelieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Inventory provision

o Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

° Valuation of defined benefit plan obligation

° Purchase price allocation for business combination
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Key Audit Matter
FREtEE

Inventory provision

FREE

Refer to Note 3 — critical accounting estimates, assumptions and
judgments and Note 20 — inventories to the consolidated financial
statements.
FR2RGREVERENEIEAG s BREH
i R M 522072 & o

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net inventories of
HK$4,061.1 million, carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value in the consolidated financial statements.
RIZZEZZF+ZA=+—H> E&EENEEZREE
#34,061,100,0008 70 B4R S M FBIMR P A A4 0] &
REEREEIR

The apparel and footwear industry is highly correlated to seasonal
factors, economic environments, customers’ preferences and
competitor actions which affect the amount of inventory provision
to be provided. The Group has an inventory provision policy and
such provision is made for inventory items whose costs may not be
fully recoverable. The inventory provision is estimated by reference
to data such as inventory ageing, historical sales experience and
expected subsequent year-end sales.
HRXHESHEMNRE KERE - BEREARFH
FITHBUERR MEZEARGXELTERENEES
BiEtiE - BSEERAFTEEGHRBER > LRAAT
EEEITR2WENTFEEEFHARBE FEEE
h2EFERKR BELHELCRLTRRBEFRHEE
BREHEMERE -

We focus on this area due to the size of inventory balance, and
the judgment involved in estimating the net realisable value in
management’s impairment assessment.
EMEIZEEEERNEERENRE UREIEE
TR B 5T A Pt 51 P 3R B E B PT Ke B9 #1 i o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANBA A EERRBETEE

Our audit procedures relating to the inventory provision included:

RPERFERBNSEFEE

= Understood, evaluated and, for selected components, validated
relevant controls over management's estimation of net
realisable value and periodic reviews of inventory obsolescence
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

- TR -FTHEMEEEAMRT o MESREEEEY
B ERFENMGG RTFEMEETHEETNERIE
il > 3@ E R L5t 2 N R RNREE KR H i
BB REERNKE NERE - TEL B
HEEERR SN IMFFIBRM) 72 K EER R
A EA R

= Tested the ageing of inventory items categorised into different
seasons by checking to relevant documents including goods
receipt notes, on a sample basis, and recalculated the
mathematical accuracy of the provision made for the selected
items; and

-  FRMmEREAEREAXY (BEERWE A28
AABAEHNEEEBREK TENFEMNET
TEHEPTIEEENSEERY ; &

= Assessed the reasonableness of the provisions by challenging
management’s projections on current trends and demands for
the remaining inventories, with reference to historical sales
experience and comparing the carrying values of inventory
items, on a sample basis, to actual prices for subsequent year-
end sales.

- FHREREEEHEMBERIRTFETKNTE
A T2EREFLHELCREBEFFEEBRA
EEBEFRHENBEREBRETEE TG
BHNEEMS-

Based on the procedures described above, we found that
management’s judgments in estimating the inventory provision to be
supported by the available evidence.

ER LR r BRMEREEBEEG T EERENHE
BoAHEEEF



Key Audit Matter
ATt HIE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets
NE-BERZEREBESERMETE

Refer to Note 3 — critical accounting estimates, assumptions and
judgements and Note 12 — property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to the consolidated financial statements.
FL2RAGREUBRRNIIZTAGsT s BRKRH
BRI E - -BERREREREEE-

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying value of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$1,382.8 million
(after impairment provision of HK$64.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022), and right-of-use assets amounted to HK$1,249.1
million (after impairment provision of HK$276.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022).
RZEBEZZF+-B=+—H> E£EENY* &
EREREREES1,382,800,0008 7T AKBEE_Z
—THE+ZRA=+—HLEEEZRERHG4,300,000
BT REREEERBES,249,100,00078 7T (306
HE_ZE__F+_A=+—HIEFEZREZHE
276,800,000 7T) ©

The operations of the Group’s retail stores was adversely affected
by various challenges to the global economy including the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic, and certain of the Groups's retail
stores were loss making during the year. Management regards
each individual retail store as a cash generating unit (‘CGU") and
carried out impairment assessments by determining the recoverable
amounts of the retail store assets which have impairment indicators.
The recoverable amounts of the assets of the relevant retail stores
are determined by the value in use (“VIU") calculations using
discounted cash flow projections based on sales forecasts prepared
by management with key assumptions including budgeted sales and
gross margin, revenue growth rates and discount rate.
SPIKKBENZIED S BIFBECOVD-1981FE BE
BESEENEESHNAMNEZE MFEAN BSEENS
TEEELERGE - BEEERSBIUITEEA —ER
TELEMN ((ReEELE))  IRGBEETAERARE
MRNZEEE E 2 0] U [0l & Z8E 1T R E 5T 1 o 48 R
TEEEEZAWEISENRBEEEBRAENEETE
A (EERROEREHERENZ - WGEEEXR
BRIRE) FRMIRAESRETFAETNERER (6
REE) StEMEE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B st R IERARELFIE

Our procedures on auditing management’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets impairment assessment mainly
included:

BMHEBEEME -BEMARBEREARSEERE
HETHNEAEFIEZEHRE

- Understood and evaluated the internal controls over the
identification of relevant retail stores having impairment
indicators and preparation of the cash flow forecasts and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

- THRITMMEEREHENERESTRNERZTEERK
HERERETRABAREZEG] - B E FE {5t
ZARBABRENEE REMEA B EE =B KFE
(EEME-FTEL - EFILHEEERRE IR
SERBR M) ST E AR E A Ak ;

= Tested the reasonableness of the data used and challenged
management’s key assumptions adopted in the future cash flow
forecasts, mainly in relation to:

- RAEPASENGEM THEIEBEEERKRE
MERAFPRANEZERIEHER  TEHR
MFrm:

the budgeted sales and gross margin, by comparing
them with actual historical financial data of the stores
and questioning senior management about their business
plans;

RFEENHEE R EN XG5 FHN B E LM
KEBETER THeREEBHMES

stE

i the revenue growth rates, by comparing them with
relevant economic and industry forecasts, including
forecasts sourced from external parties; and

i BREREREXREAEEASERTEEA (B81F
REIMEBEAHTEA) ETHR ; &

iii.  involved our internal valuation experts and assessed the
reasonableness of the discount rate derived from relevant
market data of comparable companies;

i. EASGHEERDETGAIERABMNIERM
MIZHEBEMSMBEENGIEY ;
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Key Audit Matter
FREtEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Gontinued)
NE -BERZEREFESERM BTG (B)

We focused on this area due to the size of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets, and the significant judgement and
estimation involved in determining the recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets subject to impairment assessment.,
EMEIZBEEEERNYE - BRERRGBREAES
ERRE URTEEBETRENGNEREERN
B] Ug (el & BE K P Se B B8 K HI R A (i 51 o

Valuation of defined benefit plan obligation
REEFIEFERGE

Refer to Note 3 — critical accounting estimates, assumptions
and judgements and Note 19 — Defined benefit schemes to the
consolidated financial statements.
F2RAGREUBHRRNAIBARG L - BRRKLH
B M 19R ERBFIETE o

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s present value of the defined
benefit plan obligation amounted to HK$7,947.7 million.
RZZEZZF+ZHA=+—H> E&£ENATEEH
s8I S EIRE A7,947,700,00058 7T
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANBA A EERRBETEE

- Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
recoverable amounts of these stores; and

- ARHEZEEH2AIWEEENBREERY ;
Y54

- Evaluated the sensitivity analysis to ascertain the extent of the
change in the key assumptions that would result in the retail
store assets being impaired and discussed with management
the likelihood of such a change in the key assumptions arising.

- FMESREESN URECEERTEEEER
ENFERINELCEE THAEEENREE
R ERBLIBEEERASEME -

Based on the procedures described above, we found that the
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets made by management to be supported by the available
evidence.

BER bR RMEREEBEYE - BRERRHEK
FRAEEENRET B AEEREF-

Our procedures on the valuation of the defined benefit plan obligation
mainly included:

HAMRERABEEEERNNEFZERRE

= Understood the management's valuation process involving
the use of members data of the schemes, formulation of
assumptions and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud;

- THREEENMGHESBSE ERSKRERSTEIRE
HE FIERIUARTEEARERRILNES A
REE > AN AT R IEEMNREE RHE M
BERMEAZR NEMRME - FTEE - BERHEEE
[E 1" R SRRV BRI

- Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
third-party actuaries involved in the valuation of the defined
benefit plan obligation;

- A ERARATCERMNFEEEHENE=FEEL
HEE-BEXERZREFHRMN ;



Key Audit Matter
ATt HIE

Valuation of defined benefit plan obligation (Continued)
REBABIEEHEE (B)

In determining the present value of the defined benefit plan
obligation, the Group conducted an actuarial valuation on the
aforesaid defined benefits obligations with the assistance of third-
party actuaries. The key assumptions applied include discount rates,
rates of inflation and mortality rates.
ETATERMNFAEEFTRER SEBREE=-/FB
BB T W AT RAMNERETREMLE K
AN ETERZBVEGLRR BREKRIFETEK

We focused on the valuation of the defined benefit plan obligation
due to the size of the defined benefit plan obligation, and the
significant judgement and estimation involved in determining its
present value.

BN AEERANAEEENREUREEHIRE N RN
BARAER K5 IR R R ERBA T8 FER
fd{E o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B st R IERARELFIE

= Engaged our actuarial experts, met with management
and communicated with their actuaries to understand the
judgements made in determining key assumptions used
in the calculation of the defined benefit plan obligation
including discount rates, rates of inflation and mortality rates.
We assessed the reasonableness of those assumptions by
comparing to our own independently determined benchmarks
considering the potential impact if these assumptions are to be
changed within a reasonable range.

- ZEBEER HEEEBESBRUAKENEE
BEOUTHAEEAECENGFEERFAERE
ENFERR (BEMREE -BERERFETE) K
FREE R HIE - RPIBBREARMBETEILEEN
BEEETHER THZERIZNGEN  TERE
N RZERRECEHEANAE LS LENEBER
@O

- Performed testing over the members data used in calculating
the defined benefit plan obligation. Dependent on the member
categories, we tested through a combination of analytical
review, test of details and consideration of member-related
controls at the administrators.

- S BEATRMNSAEHEERERANMEEBIEET
AR - RIEHNELER BRPBBESOMEE
MER S R BEAN N EERAETNZE RETA

- Assessed adequacy of the disclosures related to defined
benefit plan obligation in the context of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

- TEANMBRSERTIEERRATCENE
EEMNRENT DN

Based on the procedures described above, we found that
management’s judgments and estimation in determining the valuation
of the defined benefit plan obligation to be supported by the available
evidence.

ERtinER EMEREEETEEREEN 2
EEREERNAEB G EAEERSFo
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Key Audit Matter
FREtEE

Purchase price allocation for business combination

EBSHEBEEDSLK

Refer to Note 3 — critical accounting estimates, assumptions and
judgements, Note 14 — Intangible assets and Note 39 — Business
combination to the consolidated financial statements.
FHR2RGEEMBBRERMEIIEAGSI G5 /]E
B4 B E MM EE39EH S o

% K2

On 2 July 2022, the Group completed the very substantial
acquisition of the 51% equity interest in LionRock Capital
Partners QiLe Limited (the “SPV"), which holds a 51% equity
interest in C&J Clark (No 1) Limited (“Clark Group”) with an
aggregated consideration of GBP 56,831,000 (equivalent to
HK$541,027,000).

RZE__F#tHA”"H> &&%ES5EALonRock Capital
Partners QiLe Limited (MFZKBE MBS » HIFAEC&J Clark
(No 1) Limited (T ClarkEE 1) 51%B% #) 51%/% #E 89 IE
BEAWEEIE LN ER56831,00058% (HER
541,027,000 7T) ©

Management engaged an independent valuer to perform the
valuations of the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed of
Clark Group at the acquisition date. Based on the valuations
performed, management performed a purchase price allocation for
the acquisition of Clark Group, which resulted in recognition of a
trademark as an intangible asset and fair value of properties.
EEEZREB I GEMACaKEBRNRIE BN H#
MNEBEEMRPMMAEBBETHE *E%FFEL T2 B
EEEHWECakERETHEEB DI HRERRE
BABTLEERMERFE-

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANBA A EERRBETEE

Our procedures for auditing the purchase price allocation for business
combination mainly included:

BB EFEHBEEIENEFTERE !

- Understood and evaluated management’'s key controls
in relation to the purchase price allocation for business
combinations and estimation of fair values of identifiable
intangible assets and properties acquired, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud;

- THRERTEEEEHEBEOHEBEEIENIEE
ZH UGt #l R EERFINENE 2
REEBNEEZG > wEBERGHTAEEERN
EEREMEERKBER (MNEM S THME &
EREEEERRNMEER SR B KFEFTEG
B ARHERMEMAE B &R ;

- Evaluated management's identification of intangible assets and
methodologies used in determining the values of the identifiable
intangible assets and properties acquired:;

- FEEEEHEFREENHIUKARETEIH
EEEERFINEYMENBENS L ;

- Reconciled the input data for the valuations of the identifiable
intangible assets and properties acquired to supporting
evidence;

- RO B EERPTWEY EN G ER A B
SRR RETZY ;

- Evaluated the external valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

- FMEINBEERIR S B BE A REEM



Key Audit Matter
ATt HIE

Purchase price allocation for business combination
(Continued)
EBESHEEBD R (8)

The identification of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
and the determination of their corresponding values require
significant management judgement and estimations. These significant
judgements and estimates include the adoption of appropriate
valuation methodologies and the use of key assumptions in the
valuation including estimating future cash flows, asset useful life,
discount rates used and unit price of properties.
HAFTWEEERFIAEEBUKRETHBREER
EEBEFE BRI E K5t o ZFE A E K ihst
BERABENGEAEREGHEFRERAETERR
BREMGFRRREERE-EECLHASH FIAKEREX
gy 3=k

We focused on this area due to the significance of the business
combination, and the significant judgement and estimations involved
in the fair value assessment of the identifiable intangible assets and
properties acquired from the business combination.
ERERSHNEARE  UREFEHDWENT
HAEEEERTNEBYEN AT ET G RNEK
FIEh R (5t IR PIRA L <B o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KM B st R IERARELFIE

- Assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and
models for identifiable intangible assets and properties acquired
with the assistance of our internal valuation expert;

- EEMAABHEEXRNHE TG HNELE
ERPFWEMENGES ZREENEEN ;

- Challenged the reasonableness of the key assumptions as
adopted by management by reference to external industry data,
comparable sales transactions as available in the market and
the cost of capital of comparable companies in the industry;

- ZFIHIFITEHEBE -MBELAIESHNOLLREE
RBMITETLEABNEARRZE > HEIEE RN
MEERBRENEEMEREER

= Tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
identifiable intangible assets and properties acquired and the
purchase price allocations; and

- AFETHNELEERTIBENEABTUAREE
BOENHEERY ; &

- Assessed adequacy of the disclosures related to business
combination in the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

- TEAVBRSERTIEEERSHERMORE
BT

Based on the procedures described above, we found the estimation of
the fair values of identifiable intangible assets and properties acquired
and the purchase price allocation for the business combination made
by management to be supported by the available evidence.

ER iR RMERHNBELEERFIWEY
ERTEGAUREEEFLHEBOHEEE SRR
Ep:EE s
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or, otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

Hthiz 2
ERDEFANHEMEEEE -HEMER
BEEHRANMEER  EXraEital
B R R AFIBZBEMIR S ©

RPHGEEMHRERNERL N REHM
B RATAHZEHAMESE S EREM
R B A o

EERMABEEUBREROETS > 1AW
ERERBEEMER FHBREF  EEH
tMEERTRGESMBHRERUKMES
BIERFFT BNERFEEREEIE L
FERAEERBRBRAAYIEN

ERZMERTHIFE NREMIAE
tMESFEEABRRL  RAFTERS
ZEB-EEHE AfIRBEEMAKRS

ESNBERZZEENGRAMBRERA
AENEE

ERDEZAEEREEBEFMAENR
HE(EBM B RS EL ) REEB(RTIF
PRERERBEEMTENGE]ME
BR O UTHEBRSAEEEHMBFHRROE
BAFERNBGFHERMERNNE XS
sRIRAMFT BN BIEFIE S o
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

gﬂﬁﬁﬁ%% REMBHRRAENE

ZPNER BEHEROUBBRERERESDS
TEERRRFNERMERNERER
ARG AEFRZ THASERMER
ZBETRE - HMER BT (FAEER)
BERMANER  RILZHERERER
tHMEN R ERERSHRBEREM
HEMATE LHABEANSE SERE
BEKFHRE  ERERBRRB(EEE
STEERI) ETHEF  ER —ERERERA
FERFABAEZE IR o SE R MR AL BT LU BREF ¢
RS MRS EBEFERAEMERRNER
ERAEFEGEMBREREAERBR
B BREPMFHNEERE  AIBERHN
SHERPRAL AT AR IFE K o

ERFE(EBEER ) ETESHNBERE
o WMEBER T EXHE R T EXEE
REE - HFI7F ¢

o HRIAI ST (L B K ERER B BE SR T B BAR
EMBRRGEEEAHESRRALANE
R R RAITESREFUREEE
B LU EE T BB E B E R
52 AP RAVER - I ENEER]
S REFR RE - EEER  ERR
> SOEB A BRESR Z £ RIEREE
BHHAMFMERMNEANHERERAR
RS AREEFAERMENNE
X $8 SR R 2t Y & B o

o THRAESHARBMNAERES > LIRE

BENEFREF BENILIEFY &
EERNEERNARMEERER -

s HEEEMRASHHERMNRBERER
EHEsHESt BRI IR EN G E M -
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Brian Ming Yan Choi.
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeEEkEMEEEER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE —_BE - _F+_A=+—HL-FE

2022 2021
—EHF B —5F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% FET TFET
Revenue 5 & ® 6,900,390 1,381,637
Cost of sales SYE A 7 (3,739,801) (809,255)
Gross profit EH 3,160,589 572,382
Other income and other gains — net HAURA K Btk /3 28 5 1,023,644 4,548,086
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHFAS (2,713,306) (572,425)
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 B Rz ELth 45 & & FF (1,080,679) (502,742)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss ~ GRI{EES518) /BB E
on financial assets-net BB IE AL FE 43 (4,617) 9,166
Finance costs — net BB AR5 6 (57,802) (37,049)
Share of profits less losses of associates and DL EEE AT R A S
joint ventures aa B S 18 15 543,322 492 571
Profit before income tax PRER1F IR A0 F 7 871,151 4,509,989
Income tax credit/(expense) TSk, (B%) 10 1,860 (35,735)
Profit for the year FEAREF 873,011 4,474,254
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: ~ Efth2 & (§518) Kz -
ltems that may be reclassified subsequenty EHB A EM O EEERZ1E
to profit or loss, net of income tax: B FRATER -
— Exchange differences on translation of — BB EFZER
foreign operations =58 (536,156) 159,360
— Cash flow hedges —IBEREEH A (20,281) =
— Share of other comprehensive lass of —DME—EBEAE
an associate HihemEsE (773) (2,346)
— Change in fair value of financial —FEREMEEEREER
assets at fair value through other TEFEZHEREEL
comprehensive income NEEEE) 110 =
— Reclassffication adjustment for —RAEFEEFHERE AT
subsidiaries deregistered during the RFEM D fEHEE
year 66 (625)
— Reclassification adjustment upon partial —REDHE—EiE
disposal of an associate NERFEH D EAE = (7,443)
— Release of exchange reserve upon —REE—FERBARE
disposal of a subsidiary R B BB 2 - 3,212
(557,034) 152,158
ltems that may not be reclassified HEBEAUJEMOEZIERZ
subsequently to profit or loss, net of BB NRAER
income tax:
— Actuarial loss on pension schemes —RARETHE ZBEEIE (440,531) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREME2E (BB W=
for the year, net of income tax INBRFR1STR (997,565) 152,158
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FAR2mE (B1E) WE4E%E
for the year (124,554) 4,626,412
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 47 & 185 R H th 2 EUNEE TR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE B - —F+_B=+—HLEE

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FET
Profit/(loss) attributable to: UTALEEERN (B8) :
— Equity holders of the Company —KABEERFTEA 850,416 4,562,639
— Non-controlling interests —JEEER R 22,595 (88,385)
873,011 4,474,254
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTATEEZEWKE
attributable to: (E548) 48 %8 :
— Equity holders of the Company —KNBEERFEA 253,088 4,712,733
— Non-controlling interests —JEER S (377,642) (86,321)
(124,554) 4,626,412
Profit per share attributable to AT AEM
equity holders of the Company: FREEF ¢
Basic (HK cents) B B 11 7.48 40.39
Diluted (HK cents) 8 CBAL) 11 7.39 40.15
The notes on pages 88 to 208 are an integral part of these consolidated financial ~ S588ZE208EFRH Z Mi st A EiE S MK

statements.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

RZAERER T ©



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMFERRAER

As at 31 December 2022 M_-_ZT_-__F+_B=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C B
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREE 12A 1,382,750 120,766
Right-of-use assets FREESE 12(B) 1,249,135 321,502
Investment properties KREY 13 104,400 93,800
Intangible assets B EE 14 594,398 266,866
Interests in associates and joint ventures REE AR REaEhEIER 15 4,151,810 4,124,391
Prepayments, deposits and AARIE-ZEk
other receivables Hhpe 1| 22 341,776 301,883
Restricted bank balances [ 114 SR 17 45 8% 24 16,980 3,672
Financial assets at fair value through other ~ BEEMEE R IZ A FE
comprehensive income AECHBREE 17 7,959 -
Derivative financial instruments TEMBIA 18 2,785 =
Defined benefit surplus REBHEER 19 821,348 =
Deferred tax assets IRICIRIEE E 29 120,127 26,397
Other non-current assets HMIEREE E 3,149 2,593
Total non-current assets ERBEEMEE 8,796,617 5,261,870
CURRENT ASSETS MEMEE
Inventories z8 20 4,061,130 281,279
Trade debtors and bills receivable JFE LS B T e FE LR 2 4 21 859,478 97,996
Prepayments, depasits and FENmE -EE &
other receivables H th FE I =R 18 22 681,272 160,028
Financial assets at fair value through HREmEATESEZ
profit or loss MHEE 16 - 587,129
Derivative financial instruments TTEMBTA 18 89,202 =
Tax recoverable AUk [C1#R 18 2,832 —
Restricted bank balances FR &M SR 1T 45 BR 24 2,635 3,183
Bank deposits with maturity period over GFREBE=EA 2 RITEMR
three months 3,962 4,284
Cash and cash equivalents RENIBEEEY 23 2,974,803 2,529,663
8,675,314 3,663,562
Assets classified as held-for-sale DEARKFLEZEE 40 - 184,730
Total current assets TMENE EMAE 8,675,314 3,848,292
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade, bills and other FETBR N FE(I 245 Kz
payables H g I 25 2,796,593 518,084
Accruals FEst & A 26 642,695 136,069
Contract liabilities BHEaE 5 129,117 103,962
Deferred income 3% 3 WA 27 453 1,199
Income tax payable FE(T TSR 67,642 13,320
Lease liabilities MEAaE 12(B) 519,199 123,689
Bank borrowings BITER 28 55,934 =
Derivative financial instruments TTEMBETA 18 28,445 =
Provision B 30 94,293 =
Other current liabilities Hrshas 93,821 =
Total current liabilities Uik =N EF T 4,428,192 896,323
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 48 & BA #5 ik R &
As at 31 December 2022 MR_-_ZE__H#+_H=+—H
2022 2021
—E-Z —ECZ—F
NOTQS HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET FET
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB EFE 4,247,122 2,951,969
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERERREBERE
LIABILITIES 13,043,739 8,213,839
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Deferred income IEIEUT A 27 5,726 6,560
Other payables H g ZIE8 5,314 2,469
Lease liabilities HEaE 12(8) 1,438,100 362,630
Provision B 30 108,068 =
Bank borrowings RITER 28 288,196 =
Derivative financial instruments TEMBIA 18 11,469 -
Deferred tax liabilities IR IBEE 29 96,664 87,738
Defined benefit obligation REBMEME 19 91,974 -
Total non-current liabilities IEREFEERER 2,045,511 459,397
NET ASSETS BEFE 10,998,228 7,754,442
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity holders of KREIERFEA
the Company FE 5 1
Issued capital B &8 1T A 31 484,021 481,062
Perpetual convertible bonds KA AR ES 33 810,621 810,621
Reserves #E 34 6,698,533 6,324,594
7,993,175 7,616,277
Non-cantrolling interests JEER 3,005,053 138,165
TOTAL EQUITY HEm4aEE 10,998,228 7,754,442

AUMBERRENRZZEZ=F=B=+—H

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March

2023. EEEgHtE-
Li Ning Li Chunyang
3= FEG
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director

FEFRITEARZ BITEF

SBeBE2BEFIHZMER/ZFHREMHR
RZHEMERD ©

The notes on pages 88 to 208 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEmEER

E_ T _F+"RA=+—HILEE

Year ended 31 December 2022 &}

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAAREREAEL
Share Perpetual Exchange  Investment Non-
Issued premium ~ convertible ~ Share option  fluctuation  revaluation Gash flow Pension Reserve Retained controlling
capital account bonds TEServe Teserve reserve  hedge reserve Teserve funds eamings Total interests  Total equity
BEf R KAkTH BRE  EREE #E Re e ) FER
k% BEE % 1] BF  EfEE  HERE #F BREE  REERY &5t iR EaRE
Notes HKS 000 HkS 000 HK$ 000 HkS000. HkS 000 HK$ 000 HK 000 HKS000 HkS 000 HK$ 000 HkS000 HkS 000 HKS 000
LA T Tin T TEn T T TEn TEn T TEn TEn Tin Tén
Asat 1 Janvary 2021 RIFZ-E-fA-H 44817 2418755 933,646 165,173 27,161 - - - 241 24408 43931 201,931 4531302
Prof fr te year ERER| = = = = = = = = = 456283 4562639 (88,388) 4474054
Oter comprehensive ncome/Jos) o theyear: EREMAENG/ (B8
Botenge dfrenceson rnsiton of on operaions. - BB LKV ERER - - - - - - - - - 15729 2084 150,30
Revassiicaon adusmet upon partal disposlof an REAHE-RBENIRERS
v e - - - - - - - - - 7443 - 1443
Snare of v comprehensie ossof an assacie Mi-BHER I H
2EFS = = = = 2.34) = = - = = (2,346) = 2.34)
Reease of exchange resene upon disposd of ashsidy R E-BHBATRRBERE
& = = - - 322 - - - - - 322 - 31
Recassfcaon adusnent o & susiday REEESH-BHERIRER
deregistered g the year B8E - - - - (626) - = = = = 625) - (625)
Total comprehensive income/(oss) for e year ~ EAREHE / (%) B8 - - - - 150094 - - - - AoR6m
Aoquistionofnon-contling it WEEER RS - - - - - - - - - (22813
Stare s upon erise of s opions EREENEREAZRG 325 1607 - (17002 - - - - - -
FEqiy-seted shre option aengemens NREEEZ BRERHE ks - - - 0% - - - - - -
Tantrof e opon reserve upo te lpse REREXN
of e oions 2REREEE - - P14 - - - - - 31448 - -
e ofasoctes resere DEREAT B - - - B30 - - - - - - 310 - 1,310
Convesion of erpeual conertilebonds o SRRARTARES
iy rees BLER 300 wm (B R . R B R R R R . R
Capel contbuions recved rom TR RESRZ L ER
non-confoling shaeholders ~ B ~ ~ B ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ §950 §9580
d to non-oonfoling sereholders BEERREREZRE B - - B - - B B - B B (45,180) (45,180
i BRRE L} - (1504119 = = = = = = = - (150419 - [150M9
s at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
481,062 1,080,868 810621 176,378 177,289° - - - 241 4,865,682 1616217 138,165 1754442
Proft for te year FRER = = = = = = = = = 80416 80416 25% 87301
Oter comprehensive ncome/Jos) o e year EREMRENG/ ()
Exchange diferences on tanseon o foregn operaors~ AEESNEBZERER - = - - (476,874) - - - - - (476,874) (59.282) (536,156)
Ffefv porio ofchenge n i vl of REREHNATERHZ
cash flo L) = = = = = = (5.27%) = = = (5,275) (15,006) (20281)
Share of other compreensive loss of an asocite Me-EHELTZ A
2EER = = = = (el = = S = = (M = (13
Ohenge n i voe offrencl assefs o fir vl oy~ BEE M2 EUEBATEHEL
ofher comprehensie come MBEEZ N TEED - - - - - 110 - - - - 110 - 110
Recassfcaion adusment for sbsies devegiies RAER S BHBATRENHE
duing th year 2 - - - - 66 - - - - - 66 - 6
Actar 1oss on pension chemes BfeiHZREER - - - - - - - (114582 - - (114582 325049 (440531)
Total comprehensive income/(oss) for he year A2 ENE /(i) B8 - - - - ) 110 Bas (11458 - 80416 B BTMY (M5
Aoquiston of subsidris HEREAT - - - - - - - - - - - 3206751 326,751
Aoquiton of on-conling inress WEEERES - - - - - - - - - 1200 1200 (1,209) =
e ssued upon eerce of s options BREAGERYTZRG 2059 am - [11,142) - - - - - - 004 2708 Lkl
iy seed shre option arangemeris NRBEE BRERE ¥ - = - 24483 - - - - - U483 - 24443
Tensfr ofshre opion eserve pon the apse of rere. B REESK B
apors BEBRRGE - - - (1,505) - - - - - 1505 - - -
St of asscies s AEBEAT B - - - 59114 - - - - - - 59,114 - 50114
Captel conributons recved fom fHERRENR HEE
non-confoling Shercholders - - - = = = = = = = =
Diddend ped o non-conollng shereholdes BER YA - - - - - - - - - = =
s at 31 December 2022 RZEZZE+ZR=+-H 484021 1128,0%" 810621 246,286" (300,326 n (114582 B4 5718812 7993175 10,998,228

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$6,698,533,000

(2021: HK$6,324,594,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

ZEHEROEESUBERIRRNZE
& #6,698,533,0008 5 (T2 = —4F .
6,324,594,0005 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FARERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_EBE__HF+_A=+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—&
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
o - B oF FET FABT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BETEZEERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FR 158 Al g A 871,151 4,509,989
Adjustments for; FHEE
Finance costs B 75 2 6 57,802 37,049
Share of profits less losses of DEMEREREEREL
assoclates and joint ventures _mABE 18 - (543,322) (492,571)
Deemed dilution gain on decrease of B —R= NS 2w
interest in an associate EFZGFEERa 5 (7,016) (977,982)
Interest income A E WA 5 (24,528) (13,176)
Fair value gain on investment properties BEY= 2 AT EWE 13 (10,600) (74,830)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets/ FEBBEmBRAFETEZ
liabilities at fair value through MBEE,/ aFr
profit or loss ANFEREE (W) 5 46,103 (20,110)
Fair value gain on derivative financial TERBTREZ AFERR
instruments (23,039) -
Provision for inventories FEiEE 7 47,037 822
Gain on bargain purchases ZEWE WS 5 (956,346) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRELQB 2 WE 5 = (52,867)
Net gain on disposal of partial interest HE—BHME ATz
in an associate By RE 2 U 5 % RE 5 - (3,338,753)
Net gain from early termination of lease IR LT E 2 W /3 5 5 (4,152) (5,915)
Net loss on disposal of property, HEYZE KRB K
plant and equipment Ed P ki bk 5 8,553 4,780
Loss from disposal of intangible assets HEBRFEEZEBER 5 6,142 -
Depreciation e 12 400,295 160,340
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 14 99,417 32,352
Impairment on intangible assets ML EE 2 HE 14 64,837 =
Write-off of other payables YR B A FE A =R IE (16,745) -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment MBEEZ HERBE
loss) on financial assets-net R B K518 %*IEI) 2 7 4,617 (9,166)
Impairment on property, plant and ME--BER&EZBE
equipment 12(A) 64,285 16,048
Impairment on right-of-use assets FREEEZBIE 12(B) 276,756 71,111
Equity-settled share option expenses LIRS 4SS 2 AR R = 32 24,443 42,285
385,690 (110,594)
Increase in inventories FEIEM (292,838) (92,826)
Decrease/(increase) in trade debtors and FE W BR = R PR U ZE 4 R L
bills receivable (€1)) 30,468 (2,776)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and FENRIE T & R EMEI
other receivables ES QDTN 181,379 18,092
Increase in other non-current assets HMIEMENE EIL N - (590)
(Decrease)/increase in trade, bills and FETBR TR~ FEI =R A H A
other payables PR TRIE GRLD) /1810 (84,175) 180,153
Decrease in contract liabilities sHNaEm (19,073) (6,175)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals st &R CRi/) /1Em (6,200) 0,848
Decrease in deferred income 4% JIE ST AL 2 (1,087) (2,546)
Increase in provision BTN 4,390 =
Increase in other current liabilities Hatmsh & &1 0 36,741 =
Change in defined benefit schemes RE®BAtE &2 (39,551) =
Cash generated from/(used in) operations SEEHME (TR RE 195,744 (7,414)
Income tax paid EfFTER (120,836) (30,326)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) EL/E@JFEH (FrAR) IR&E
operating activities MEFER 74,908 (37,740)

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (& 2 IRERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_—_E_-__F+_HB=1+—HILEE

2022 2021
—E-- B2 —F
i gy gaapy
TEE BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KREEEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Dividends received from associates Bl E AT ZKRE 15 167,929 82,247
Interest received LG 00 = P 21,348 13,176
Increase in bank deposits with maturity FHHBA=EA ZRITER
period over three months mo - (4,284)
Increase in restricted bank balances PR 1% 3R 17 45 BR I2 A0 (12,630) (3,121)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEY = MERsFEZ
plant and equipment Frisziia . 6,819 11,724
Net proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, ~HE—EIRBATZ
net of cash P ﬁ R I8P B glﬂﬁ%f, 5E) - 364,186
Net proceeds from disposal of held-for-sale & #F1F ESESIE
assets ek 183,122 -
Net proceeds on disposal of HE—-BBEAAZ
partial interest in an associate ﬂ/\gfﬂiZFﬁfg\ﬁ’KIE\?%ﬁE 15 - 3,786,880
Purchases of items of property, E%E\'—%A Rk EEE
plant and equipment —— (183,409) (90,439)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEIEE | (93,987) (3,222)
Prepayment for the acquisition of property H&Eﬁ}@%;ﬁﬁﬂﬁ _ (48,360) (253,177)
Payment for financial asset at fair value B E;ﬁ?ﬁ@$£ﬁ B2
through profit or loss MREEZR - (298,485)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, H&E%W NE]
net of cash acquired (HIkRBEWEEIR®) 928,631 =
Others Hth - (11,427)
Net cash flows generated from REZHFEZ
investing activities HE M= 358 969,463 3,594,058
CAREITII:IVIQI'VI\‘ESS FROM FINANCING MEIHZHEERE
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders F']?H’“Héﬂxﬁxﬁ?%zﬁy (47,357 (45,180)
Interest paid gl s (7,070 (16,078)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings %ﬁﬁEf{,ﬂ:T’Z\Fﬁﬁ TRIE 28 900,605 -
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares Eﬁﬂéf’éﬁgﬁﬁgé’éﬁ%@%
upan exercise of share options F)ﬂ%ﬁgﬁ 41,747 32,450
Payment of lease liabilities {E%,\ingjﬂ (374,389) (169,114)
Repayment of bank borrowings f,ét R1T8E %ﬁ 28 (1,109,294) (1,256,000)
Capital contribution received from a IR IR BB WA  HE R
non-controlling shareholders 5,776 69,580
Special dividend paid to shareholders ENREZFERIRE - (1,504,080)
Net cash flows used in financing activities REE E%ﬂ]ﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁmiﬁé%ﬁ (589,982) (2,888,422)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HERREZEEBMENFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 454,389 667,896
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ IR & HIHE& £ EBY) 2,529,663 1,857,441
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ YNEEEE R B H) » m2 2,548 (53,863) 4,326
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERFAZRASEEBY
AT END OF YEAR 2,930,189 2,529,663
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERREZENREG
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS .
Cash and bank balances other than time Eﬁﬁgﬁuf’j Z ..
deposits F KR T A B X 23 1,561,063 742,481
Non-pledged time deposits with original REZSELIE_ERZ
maturity of less than three months FEIRIRE HAF 7R 23 1,413,740 1,787,182
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the GV BRIRIKZ
consolidated statement of financial position _ 32 /& I & FE¥) 2,974,803 2,529,663
Less: Bank overdraft IR TTEY 28 (44,614) -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the Arehtne Rk
consolidated statement of cash flows BENIREEEY 2,930,189 2,529,663

EOSE208EFTE 2 st AZE RS
RZBHESD ©

5 HR

The notes on pages 88 to 208 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBHmRME

31 December 2022 — /B - "#+_H=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and the ordinary shares of which are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

Principal activities
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) were involved in the
following principal activities:

o design and development, branding and sales of multi-brand sports and
lifestyle apparel and footwear; and

° management and operation of sports parks, sports centres and ice-skating
rinks and management and operation of e-sports clubs, coordination of sports
events and sports-related marketing services.

Li Ning Company Limited (“Li Ning Co"), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2331), is an associated company

of the Group, whose principal activities include brand development, design,
manufacture, sale and distribution of sport-related footwear, apparel, equipment
and accessories in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

These financial statements are presented in HK$, unless otherwise stated.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations (“HKFRSs"). The consolidated financial statements also include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

° certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) and investment property — measured at fair value; and

° assets classified as held-for-sale — measured at lower of the carrying
amount and fair value less cost to sell; and

° defined benefit pension plans — plan assets measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 3.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(@)  New and amended standaras adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time
for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2022;

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts- Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2018-2020

Annual Improvements

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control

Combinations

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRS for the year ended 31 December
2022 has had no material impact on the amounts reported in these consolidated
results and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated results.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

(b)  New Standard issued but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that

are not mandatory for 31 December 2022 reporting period and have not been

early adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to have a material

impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods.

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date of acquisition, being the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(@)  Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset and liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value
or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

(@)  Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts

payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of

exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing rate, being

the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent

financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is

classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial

liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the Group's accounting policies.

(b)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost

includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not
control. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost,
and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group'’s
investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or 10ss is recognised in the profit or
loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in

an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it

has incurred legal or constructive obligation or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

When the most recently available financial statements of an associate is different
from the Group's reporting date, the Group may take advantage of the provision
contained in HKAS 28 whereby it is permitted to include the attributable share
of associate’s results based on the financial statements drawn up to a non-
coterminous period end where the difference must be no greater than three
months. Adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant transactions or
events that occur between that date and the date of the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its

associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in an associate,

except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associate is not individually

tested for impairment. Accounting policies of the associates have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case,

the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of profits less losses of associates and joint ventures’ in
the profit or loss.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are recognised in the
profit or loss.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligation of
each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance

of the operating segments, has been identified as the management that makes
strategic decisions.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment primarily consist of buildings, leasehold
improvements, machinery and office equipment, furniture and fixtures, and

motor vehicles. They are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. Freehold lands are stated at cost less impairment 10sses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as

a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic

benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the

item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is

derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold lands
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Not depreciated

2% 10 5%

6.7% to 33% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

5% to 33.3%

9% to 33.3%

9% to 33.3%

Machinery and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other income and other gains — net’ in
the profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold
interest under an operating lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at

fair value, representing open market value determined at each reporting date
with reference to valuation report where applicable. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or
condition of the specific asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continuead)

Property under construction or development for future use as an investment

property is classified as investment property under construction. If the fair value

cannot be reliably determined, the investment property under construction will be

measured at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or construction

is completed.

Changes in fair values are recorded in the profit or loss as part of a valuation
gain or loss in ‘other income and other gains — net’. Any gains or losses on the
retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in profit or loss in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets

(@)  Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, represents the excess of

the consideration transferred over the Group'’s interest in net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair
value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Impairment reviews of goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries are
undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a patential impairment. The carrying value of CGU containing the goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(b)  Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value
at the date of acquisition. When determining the useful lives of such intangible
assets, the Group generally takes into consideration (i) the estimated period during
which such asset can bring economic benefits to the Group, (ii) the estimated
useful lives of similar assets disclosed by comparable companies in the market,
and (iii) legal factors which impact the period over which the entity controls access
to these economic benefits. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is

an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continuea)

(b)  Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually

either individually or at the CGU level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.

The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to

determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If

not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted

for on a prospective basis.

Trademarks and licensing right and membership

Separately acquired trademark and licensing right and membership are shown

at historical cost. Trademarks and licensing right and membership acquired

in business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Trademarks and licensing right and membership that have finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licensing right and membership over their estimated useful lives.

Operating rights

Acquired operating rights are shown at historical cost. Operating rights acquired in
a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of operating rights over their estimated useful lives
of 15 to 20 years.

League qualification and home and away co-operation agreement

League qualification and home and away co-operation agreement have

definite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. They are initially measured at fair value
of the consideration given to acquire at the time of the acquisition. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of league
qualification and home and away co-operation agreement over their estimated
useful lives of 9 years and 1.6 years, respectively.

Players’ registration rights

The costs associated with the acquisition of players registrations are capitalised
as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideration payable, including

an estimate of the fair value of any contingent consideration. Subsequent
reassessments of the amount of contingent consideration payable are also
included in the cost of the individual’s registration. This assessment is carried out
on an individual basis. The costs are amortised over the period covered by the
individual's contract of 1 to 3 years.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Software

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense

as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible

assets where the following criteria are met.

° it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for
use

° management intends to complete the software and use or sell it
° there is an ability to use or sell the software

° it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future
economic benefits

° adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the software are available, and

° the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from
the point at which the asset is ready for use.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life using the straight-
line method over the following periods.

o Trademarks and licensing right and membership  2-20 years

° Operating rights 15-20 years
° League qualification 9 years

° Home and away co-operation agreement 1.6 years

° Players’ registration rights 1-3 years

° Software 3-5 years
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the

date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also
included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and
security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments
based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset's useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for
the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 — Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, which extended the practical expedient to

lease payments that were due on or before 30 June 2022,

The amendment provides an optional practical expedient allowing lessees to
elect not to assess whether a rent concession related to COVID19 is a lease
modification. Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying rent
concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications.

The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions
are met;

o the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due on or before 30
June 2022; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying
asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial
position based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments
to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing
standard.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill, intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets
not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss, at fair value
through other comprehensive income, and those to be measured at amortised
cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. At initial
recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business

model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt

instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain

or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or
|oss.

° Fair value through profit & loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit & loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit & loss is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

° Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses

associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment

methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

For further details on the Group’s accounting policies for management of financial
assets, see Note 43 credit risk.

Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency
contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried
as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken
directly to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income
and later reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
hedged item affects profit or loss.

Headge accounting

Cash flow hedges

The Group designates forward exchange contracts as hedging instruments in
respect of foreign currency risk in cash flow hedges.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continuead)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship

between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk

management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge

transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing

basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in

offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to

the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following

hedge effectiveness requirements:

° There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument;

° The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result
from that economic relationship; and

o The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting
from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the
quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that
quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement
relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated
hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the
hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying
criteria again.

The Group designates the full change in the fair value of a forward exchange
contract (i.e. including the forward elements) as the hedging instrument for all of
its hedging relationships involving forward exchange contracts.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the forward exchange
contracts that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the reserve, limited to the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss within other income and other gains — net. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or
loss. However, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other
comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects that some or all of the
forecast transaction is no longer highly likely to occur in the future, that amount is
considered ineffective, and immediately reclassified to profit or 0ss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Permetual Convertible Bonds

Perpetual Convertible Bonds issued by the Group gives holders the right to

convert these Perpetual Convertible Bonds into a fixed number of the Company's

ordinary shares at any time at a fixed exercise price per share, subject to

adjustments as provided in the terms and conditions of the bonds. The Perpetual

Convertible Bonds have no maturity date and are not redeemable. They are

treated as equity instruments and are not remeasured in subsequent years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average cost method. The cost of finished goods
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Irade debtors and bills receivable and other receivables

Trade debtors and bills receivable are amounts due from customers for goods sold
and services rendered in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
debtors and bills receivable and other receivables is expected in one year or less,
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade debtors and bills receivable are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
debtors and bills receivable with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 21 for further information about the Group's accounting
for trade debtors and bills receivable and Note 43 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and other short term highly
liquid investments with maturity of three months or less, less bank overdrafts,
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management. Bank overdrafts are shown within bank borrowings in current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Trade, bills and other payables

Trade and bills payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that have been

acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade, bills and other

payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or

less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade, bills and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where there are a number of similar obligation, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligation as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligation may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily

take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are

added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the

profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(@ Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured

at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

(b)  Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at
the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill
or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments

in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continuea)

(b)  Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the

carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets

are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available

against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end
of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Held for sale

Subsidiaries and investment properties are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. Subsidiaries are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell and
investment properties are carried at fair value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue and other income

Revenues are recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or services is

transferred to the customer. Depending on the business model, terms of the

contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods and services may be

transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services is

transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation, depending
on the nature of the good and service to be transferred, is measured based

on one of the following methods that best depicts the Group’s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value of individual services transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

° the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple goods, goods followed by related services,
or multiple services, the transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone
selling prices are not directly observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

When either party to a contact has performed, the Group presents the contract

in the statement of financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,

depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the

customer’s payment.,

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services that the Group has transferred to a customer. Contract assets and assets
arising from costs to obtain or fulfil a contract that are recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 15. The Group uses practical expedients to recognise the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred as the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have recognised is one year or
less.

If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers a good or service

to the customer, the Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is made. A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration from the
customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenue
streams of the Group:

(@)  from the sale of goods, when control of the goods has been transferred to
the buyer, which is upon the acceptance of the goods in an amount equal to the
contract sales prices less estimated sales allowances for sales returns.

(b)  from providing services including integrated sports content production

and distribution, sports talent management, community development consultancy
service and sports park facilities and ice-skating rinks hiring, in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue

is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting
period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously;
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the

Group is a principal if it obtains control through one of the following way:

° Control the good or services before it transfers to the customers;

o Has the ability to direct another party to provide the service to the customer
on the entity’s behalf; or

° Providing a significant service of integrating services and obtains control
of the inputs to the specified good or service and directs their use to create the
combined output that is the specified good or service.

If control is not clear, the Group will analyse the three indicators (1) who is the
primary obligator; (2) who has the inventory risk and (3) who has the discretion in
establishing the price to assist the analysis of control. Sometimes, control are not
always clear and judgement are need in analysis of whether the Group is principal
or agent.

If the Group is principal, revenue will be recognised at the ‘gross’ amount paid
by the customer for the specified good or service and record a corresponding
expense for the commission or fee that it has to pay to any agent, in addition to
the direct costs of satisfying the contract. If as an agent, will record revenue the
commission or fee earned for facilitating the transfer of the specified goods or
services (the ‘net” amount retained).

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease terms.

Sale of gift vouchers

Revenue from the sale of gift vouchers is initially recognised as a liability to the
customer. This is released to revenue as the vouchers are redeemed. An element
of breakage is recognised upfront on gift voucher sales based on historical data.
The value of unexpired gift cards is not considered to be material.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for dissimilar products, the

Group recognises all of the following:

(@)  revenue for the transferred products in the amount of consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled (therefore, revenue would not be
recognised for the products expected to be returned);

(b)  arefund liability; and

(c) anasset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for its right to
recover products from customers.

Loyalty scheme

The Group operates loyalty programmes wherein customers earn points based
upon the amount spent on purchases of products, which can be redeemed for gift
vouchers once a specified number of points is attained. Points issued represent

a separate performance obligation providing a material right. The portion of the
total transaction price allocated to the points is determined based on the value

of the points to the customer when redeemed, adjusted for expected redemption
rates or breakage. The consideration related to points earned is deferred and
recognised as a contract liability. Revenue is recognised as the earned vouchers
are redeemed by the customers.

Interest income
Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair value
gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of other
income and other gains-net.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of
the loss allowance).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on a time proportion basis in accordance with the

substance of the relevant agreements.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit
or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-
current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Employee benefit

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans,
under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options or shares is recognised as an
expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options or shares granted on
grant day:

° including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share
price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that

are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

Where shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to satisfy the service
conditions, any expenses previously recognised in relation to such shares are
reversed effective the date of the forfeiture. Where the options are expired after
the vesting period, any share option reserves previous recognised in relation to
such shares would be transferred to accumulated losses or retained earnings.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continuead)

Pension plans

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately

administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a

reduction in the future payments is available.

The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. In countries where there

is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included

in finance cost-net in the statement of profit or loss. Remeasurement gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.
They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the
balance sheet. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting
from plan amendments or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as
past service costs.

The group operates various post-employment schemes, including both defined
benefit and defined contribution pension plans.

— The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the mainland
China are required to participate in central pension schemes operated
by the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
schemes. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension schemes.

- The Group operates pension schemes in the UK and US including defined
benefit and defined contribution sections. Details are referred to Note 19.
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2.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continuea)
Pension plans (Continued)

The Group operates two pension schemes in Hong Kong, namely the
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme as defined in the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”), for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Under the MPF Scheme, contributions of 5%
of the employees’ relevant income with a maximum monthly contribution
of HK$1,500 per employee are made by each of the employer and the
employees. The employer contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. Under the ORSO Scheme, contributions
of 5% of the employees’ basic salaries are made by the employer and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the ORSO Scheme. The rates of contributions made by the
employees are either 0% or 5% of the salary of each employee at the
discretion of the employee. When an employee leaves the ORSO Scheme
prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully,
the ongoing contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of forfeited contributions. The assets of the MPF and ORSO
Schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Singapore participate in a Central Provident
Fund Scheme, which is a contribution plan established by the Central
Provident Fund Board in Singapore.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency transiation

(@)  Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the

Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group

determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial

statements of each entity are measured using the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).

(b)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency borrowings
used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost
in foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
translation dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the translations. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continuea)

(c)  Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity

are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

(d)  Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint
control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control) the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's equity share capital
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the
Company's equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND
JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

() Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Indefinite life intangible assets and goodwill are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Both
calculations require the use of estimates. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. In estimating the value in use of
assets, various assumptions, including future cash flows to be associated with the
non-current assets (such as future sales forecast, expected capital expenditure
and working capital requirements) and discount rates, are made. If future events
do not correspond to such assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to
be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s results of operations or
financial position.

The Group has assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU with goodwill. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs with goodwill have been determined based on
value in use calculation which use cash flow projections or fair value less costs

of disposal calculation which use valuation technique such as enterprise value-to-
sales model. These cash flow projections are derived from the approved business
plan which has a forecast covering a period of 5-10 years and have incorporated
necessary updates. The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations or
fair value less costs of disposal calculation are set out in Note 14. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s goodwill as at 31 December 2022 were HK$44,732,000
(2021: HK$81,516,000).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-
financial assets at the end of each reporting period in accordance with the
accounting policies stated in Note 2.3. This requires an estimation of the value
in use and fair value less cost of disposal of the asset. Estimating the value in
use for the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the asset using key assumptions such as the estimated future
store performance, economic environment and the sales growth rate and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2022 were HK$1,382,750,000
(2021: HK$120,766,000) and HK$1,249,135,000 (2021: HK$321,502,000),
respectively. For details, please refer to Note 12(A) and Note 12(B).

(i) Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the Group at the end
of each reporting period, and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The assessment
of the provision amount involves management judgements and estimates by
considering historical sales patterns and expected subsequent sales based

on internal budgets and certain market factors. Where the actual outcome or
expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such differences will
have an impact on the carrying value of the inventories and provision charge/
writeback in the period in which such estimate has been changed. In addition,
physical counts on all inventories are carried out on a periodical basis in order
to determine whether provision needs to be made in respect of any obsolete
inventories identified. Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period and is satisfied that sufficient provision for obsolete and slow-
moving inventories has been made in the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amount of the Group's inventories as at 31 December 2022 was
HK$4,061,130,000 (2021: HK$281,279,000). For details, please refer to Note
20.

(Iv)  Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired through business
combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations,

which requires the Group to record assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their

fair values on the date of acquisition. Significant judgment is used to estimate the

fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, including estimating estimating

future cash flows, asset useful life, discount rates used and unit price of properties.
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(v} Income taxes and aeferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in United Kingdom (“UK") and United States
of America (“USA"), Hong Kong, mainland China, and elsewhere in which the
Group operates. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when management considers it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses. When the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and taxation charges
in the period in which such estimate is changed.

(vi)  Valuation for defined benefit pension obligation

The cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations.
The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, rates of
inflation and mortality rates.

Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long-
term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest
rates of corporate bonds in the respective currency. For details, please refer to
Note 19.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The management is the Group's chief operating decision-maker. The management
reviews the Group's internal reports periodically in order to assess performance
and allocate resources.

The management considers the business from a product/service perspective. The
management separately considers the different products and services offered,
and for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is organised into two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the multi-brand apparel and footwear segment engages in design and
development, branding and sales of sports and lifestyle consumables; and

(b)  the sports experience segment engages in management and operation of
sports parks, sports centres and ice-skating rinks and management and operation
of e-sports clubs, coordination of sports events and sports-related marketing
SErvices.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before income tax.
The adjusted profit or loss before income tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit or loss before income tax, with interest income, fair value changes
in investment property, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, gain on bargain purchase, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, net gain on
disposal of partial interest in an associate, deemed dilution gain on decrease

of interest in an associate, equity-settled share option expenses, impairment or
reversal of impairment loss on financial assets and intangible assets — net, share
of profits less losses of associates and joint ventures, finance costs, as well as

corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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Multi-brand
apparel and Sports
footwear experience Total
BE_E_C
Year ended 31 December 2022 +ZA=+-HLEE SmitER EBRh st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAERT TERT TERT
Segment revenue: REE
External shEp 6,399,546 500,844 6,900,390
Segment results PEER (309,861) (17,800) (327,661)
Reconciliation: R
Interest income FIEWA 24,528
Fair value gain on investment property RENEZ AT ENR 10,600
Fair value loss on financial assets/liabilies at ERERRATENEL
fair value through profit or loss MHEE/BBATERR (46,103)
Gain on bargain purchases ZERER R 956,346
Deemed dilution gain on decrease of interest in an assoclate JE/D —RIMiE AT 2 R EE 2 BIE
gElE 7,016
Equity-setiled share ption expense DURTEAE S 2 BRER Y (24,443)
Impaiment on intangiole asses BRBEZHE (64,837)
Impairment loss on financial assets  net HBEEZ RERETE (4,617)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses rEREMKIEREY (145,198)
Share of profits less losses of associates and joint ventres ~ DMEME AT RSB E 2 RHIHER 543,322
Finance coss A (57,802)
Proftt before income tax PRA SR ATER 871,151
Other segment information: Hit A HER
Depreciation & 367,072 30,416 397,488
Add: depreciation refated to corporate . BEEBREZIE 2,807
400,295
Capital expendiure on property, plant and equipment NE -BERZEZERES 171,038 13,113 184,151
Add: capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment I BCEER 2 ME BRERHE
related to corporate ZEREY 101
184,252
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4., RBREQHES @
Multi-brand
apparel and Sports
footwear experience Total
HE_E--F ‘ .
Year ended 31 December 2021 +ZB=+—-HLEE S miGER EEER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKE{?’OO_O
TET TET TET
Segment revenue: E W
External ShER 851,222 530,415 1,381,637
Segment results DEEE (312,587) 23,583 (289,004)
Reconciliation: LI
Interest income GIISYON 13,176
Fair value gain on investment praperty REMZE 2 A B 74,830
Fair value gain on financial assets/fabiltes at FRBRRATEIEZ
fair value through profit or loss MBEE/ BEATENG 20,110
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-EMBLRZBm 52,867
Net gain on disposal of parfial interest in an associate HE-HRENGzBoERY
W 3E 3,338,763
Deemed diuion gain on decrease of interestn an associae o) —EIME AR 2 BmELZ
GEdBEn 977,982
Equity-Settled share option expense DREES 2 BRERS (42,285)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets — net RO BEEZRESESR 9,166
Corporate and other unallocated expenses tERHMRDER 3 (101,128)
Share of profits less losses of associates and joint PMEBENARAELEZ R
ventures BH 492,571
Finance costs BB A (37,049)
Profit before income tax BRATS 1 AR 4,509,989
Other segment information: HitpEEH
Depreciation & 122,966 33,002 155,968
Add: depreciation related to corporate m:At£EEzNE 4,372
160,340
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment NE BEREEZERHES 78912 11,480 90,392
Add: capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 11 AR BE Y - BERF
related to corporate ZBRRY 47
90,439
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no customer contributing more than
10% of total revenue. For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of
approximately HK$295,956,000 was derived from an individual customer,
which is a related party as disclosed in Note 38, and there is no other customer

contributing more than 10% of total revenue.

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue from external customers and non-current assets other than
interests in associates and joint ventures, derivative financial instruments and
deferred tax assets, by geographical location, are detailed below:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

4. RBEDHEN @
TERFZER
RBE_S-_—&E#+-A=+—-HLE
B BEE S AR E0% e REE
—E--—F+_BIZt+—RLEE L
295,956,000 Ttz W m K B — % @ERIEH
(&K EE38FF R BHRMEA L) » BEE M
2 (AR 0% L o

EE R

FEBERMEBUEI D ZREIINLERZ
WmRIFRBEE MBEABDREGERE
2D MEMBTLERELEREE EMK
SN ZEFIBIE ¢

2022 2021
- T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
i) Revenue from external customers i) REIFEL Z W
UK and Republic of Ireland (‘ROI") o 5 2 7 B AR A
(TEMmEELME) 2,327,041 -
America =M 2,415,651 =
The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau) R (B1EE A &EFT) 1,667,244 1,309,752
Asia (Other than the PRC) M (FRERDASN) 294,344 71,885
EMEA BRIEF R 196,110 =
Total st 6,900,390 1,381,637
ii) Non-Current Assets i) IEMBEE
UK and ROI HEREFEEM 2,000,530 =
America = /J‘H 1,308,544 =
The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau) hE (BIEE B RRM) 1,039,488 1,071,748
Asia (Other than the PRC) M (AR EE LN 100,047 39,334
EMEA BN IERRER 73,286 =
Total 4E =t 4,521,895 1,111,082
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS — NET 5. UYram HthARE MU FEE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and other gains — net are as AEERKRDZ BB AREMBERFEZ
follows: ST :
2022 2021
—ZE-C —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i=S FET TFABT
Revenue &
Sales of goods HES M 6,362,315 874,666
Sports content production and distribution BARNARERZITWA
income 238,116 226,925
Sports park facilities and ice-skating rinks BEBERZMABKZEZEEW
hiring income and other service income AR E AR FE WA 203,855 226,262
Royalty income %%'J BEIRA 57,050 =
Sports team management income ABRMEE 1214&)\ 28,579 34,125
Gross rental income ﬁﬂ%ﬂ&)\w 7,884 13,672
Community development consultancy HEBRBEHRBE WA
service income 2,591 5,987
6,900,390 1,381,637
At a point of time EE R 6,362,315 874,666
Overtime & B [ 538,075 506,971
6,900,390 1,381,637
Other income Hg A
Government grants BT 4l RS 52,895 34,092
Interest income F B WA @) 24,528 13,176
Others Hih 20,598 34,197
98,021 81,465
Other gains - net Hthg =388
Gain on bargain purchases EEWE WG 39 956,346 =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBREBAE 2 WaE - 52,867
Fair value gain of derivative financial MEMBIAEZ
instruments NFEWR TR 18 23,039 =
Fair value gain on investment property ?ﬁ:éf#@%z&qzﬁﬂ& 13 10,600 74,830
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets/ BiBEmEATES +EZ
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ~ BABBE &BBZAYE
(B518) W@ (46,103) 20,110
Foreign exchange loss bE 2 &5 18 (31,663) (1,358)
Write-off of other payables fiE H A e I8 16,745 -
Net gain from early termination and IR IERETHEZ
modification of leases W FE 12(B) 4,152 5,915
Net gain on disposal of partial interestinan ~ HE —BEEE AT Z WO Em
associate Z Wi B RE 15 - 3,338,753
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE BEMZEZEIE
equipment FEE (8,553) (4,780)
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HEBFTEEZ BB (6,142) =
Deemed dilution gain on decrease of B —BEE AR 2 R EE
interest in an associate ZAREEE N 15 7,016 977,982
Others Hih 186 2,302
925,623 4,466,621
1,023,644 4,548,086
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

(CONTINUED)
Note:

(a) Total interest income on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost for the
year was HK$24,528,000 (2021: HK$13,176,000 at amortised cost).

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with
customers:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

5. Wz HAhUA R H fth i 5% 28
(&)
=

@ ERRBHEAATENTHBEENENS
A 2324,528,0008 70 (2= —F © 1R A
13,176,000 7T) °

MENBRHEEN KRS
FEBEERIE NATRENARNER:

2022 2021

=B B

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Contract liabilities — receipts in advance SHaE-TAlWEIE 109,232 103,351
Contract liabilities — customer loyalty programme HHEaBE-—FBREBHTE 19,885 611
129,117 103,962

Note:

Revenue recognised during the year that was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year was HK$97,027,000 (2021: HK$99,692,000).

As at 31 December 2022, included in contract liabilities was an amount of
HK$2,887,000 (2021: HK$9,682,000) received from associates, which is based
on normal commercial terms offered by the Group to major customers.

6. FINANCE COSTS — NET

Fe 5%

SAFVENEAGHEGZENERIBKRES
97,027, 000?575 (ZB = —45:99,692, ooo%m)

R_E__HF+_-_HA=+—H ' BBEQ
SR EY 2~ k182,887,000 T (Z B —4F !
9,682,000 7T) Lt A BN EE LRI
rEBHTERLARHEZEEEERRE

TEo

6. MBNAFE

2022 2021

- ~Jonienl —EZ—F

NOTQ HK$’000 HK$E'OOO

o =S FET FET

Interest on bank borrowings RITEFFE 20,864 16,078

Interest on lease liabilities HEaGHE 12(B) 50,229 20,971
Net interest income on the defined REBMEE 2 F B WA FEE

benefits schemes 19 (13,291) -

57,802 37,049
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31 December 2022 B _H#+"H=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

7. g
The Group's profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): f% B = B3 P15 A0 A s A 75 A 40 Bx . (5t

126

2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &% FET FABT
Cost of sales & AR
— Cost of inventories sold —BEEFEERK 3,326,493 448,414
— Provision for inventories —FEEE 47,037 822
— Cost of services provided — TR (R AR 7% Al A 366,271 360,019

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 412 ~ B B Kk 2% HT &5 12(A) 125,314 34,762

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEINE 12(B) 274,981 125,578

Amortisation of intangible assets B E 14 99,417 32,352

Auditor’s remuneration Z BB AN &

— audit and audit-related services — Z B R 1% BB R AR 75 27,036 5575

— non-audit services — IEZEARTE 3,156 3,349
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ E 2@ FIFY (BIEE SIS

remuneration (Note 8)): (ffzE8)) -

— Wages and salaries —TEKHE 1,272,307 313,349

— Equity-settled share option expenses —L/(Hx%m B BERERS 32 24,443 42,285

— Defined contribution retirement plans? R TR IRETEN 156,465 33,435

— Defined benefit scheme —%E%E%IJ Bl 19 5,367 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment MEEEZRERE

loss) on financial assets-net (CRUE R 18 #[0]) JF 58 43 4,617 (9,166)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment  #1 2 ~ Bk B K 5% 6 2 BB 12(A) 64,285 16,048

Impairment on right-of-use assets EREEEZRE 12(B) 276,756 71,111

Impairment on intangible assets BB EZHE 14 64,837 —

Net fair value gain on investment properties R B2 2 A F(E W & 558 13 (10,600) (74,830)

Foreign exchange loss bE 2 &5 18 5 31,663 1,358

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE BEKRREZ

equipment R P 5 8,553 4,780
Loss on disposal of intangible assets Hj’iﬂtﬂ/léfEZEiﬂE 6,142 =
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets/ BEGEAFTEFEZHE

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss :’TJX/E\T ZAFEERBES

(W zm) 5 46,103 (20,110)

Fair value gain on derivative financial TTERBIAZ

instruments NEEWER 5 (23,039) =

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERB AT Z WE 5 - (52,867)

Gain on bargain purchases EBEWERE 39 (956,346) =

Deemed dilution gain on decrease of /J'JZ DB E N R ESE

interest in an associate ZREE 8 s 5 (7,016) (977,982)
Net gain on disposal of partial interest in HE—RBBEQE 222

an associate a2 W am /?'%E 5 - (3,338,753)

# For the Group’s contributions under defined contribution retirement f oA & B 1R 15 T 2B R AR IR 5T 2 1’FIEH
plan, the amount of forfeited contributions used by the Group to reduce NERmEs  8E S __F+_—
existing level of contributions for the year ended 31 December 2022 = t+—HIEFEXAEER Z%%H‘a&'%i&'
under the Occupational Retirement Scheme in Hong Kong was nil (2021 REt 8 B REIRE fRUKFE R UL
HK$53,000), and the balance of such forfeited contributions as at 31 HEREEST (ZF - —F 153,000
December 2022 was nil (2021 Nil). BT O MZZEBRERE - —

f_E—i—éﬁ E)—l—— HN&EGHAZ (T
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

8. EEM=E

RSB ASEGEBIN)ERAT WE
EEARER) HASBRE EEES
BT

2022 2021

= B

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fees e 1,774 1,743

Other emaluments; HME = :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind (including — #rse ~ R AR BYIEF] (B FEEK

discretionary bonus) 1BIEAL) 15,176 14,133

Equity-settled share aption expenses DIRREERE 2 BN 8,243 15,535

Pension scheme contributions BRIKEFHEIMHRR 199 126

23,618 29,794

25,392 31,537

During the current and prior years, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option schemes of

the Company, further details of which are set out in Note 32 to the financial
statements. The fair values of such options, which have been recognised in profit
or loss over the relevant vesting period, were determined as at the respective
dates of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current
year are included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

REFEERBEFE EFTEFEHRERSE
ERRUERZMRBEAASBRES S E
RERE ARE—THFBHINRNYBRE
fizE32 - ZEMREZ AT ENERE B
HARIE R m sl W AERR L HEiEE
Mt A\ARFEEMBREREZREBEEFALX
PIRBEZESEMER-
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31 December 2022 —ZE

F+ZA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

8. EFEME ®W@

An analysis of the directors' remuneration, is as follows: EEMEoMUWT ¢
Salaries, Equity-settled Retirement
allowances and Discretionary share option scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind Bonus expenses contributions remuneration
HE RMR NRESEHEZ BREE
ik EMER BETEL RERS 64 & st
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Misk TER TEn FERT FERT FERT FERT
2022 i ook
Executive directors: BTES:
Mr. Li Ning FEiEE 200 11,866 - a7 18 12,501
Mr. Li Chunyang FERRLE 200 830 - 2,383 163 3,576
M. Li Qi FHEEE 200 2015 465 1,191 18 3,889
600 14,7111 465 3,991 199 19,966
Non-executive director: FHTES
M. Victor Herrero Victor Herrero4g 4 (@) 200 - - 3,574 - 3,774
Mr. Ma Wing Man Bk kL 200 - - 357 - 557
Ms. Lyu Hong Ba%t (o) 24 - - - - 24
424 - - 3,931 - 4,355
non BIUFRTES:
Mr. Wang Yan TEEE 250 - - 107 - 357
Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin HEREE 250 - - 107 - 357
Mr. Li Qing Epocs 250 - - 107 - 357
750 - - 321 - 1,01
1,774 14,11 465 8,243 199 25,392
Salaries, Retirement
a Discretionary scheme Tota
Fees Bonus contributions remuneration
) & 28 Mg REE 2 BikesE
ik BENEF WETEA 235 MR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TER TER TER TER TER
2021 —E--&
Executive directors: BITESE:
Mr. Li Ning FEEE 200 11,759 - 786 18 12,763
M. Li Chunyang FERLE 200 537 = 4,490 0 5317
Mr. Li Qifin FHBEE 200 1,837 = 2,245 18 4,300
600 14,133 = 7,521 126 22,380
Non-executive director: FHTES
Mr. Victor Herrero Victor Hemero4c 4 (@) 193 = = 6,735 = 6,928
Mr. Ma Wing Man Bk kL 200 — = 673 — 873
393 = = 7,408 = 7,801
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES:
Mr. Wang Yan EREE 250 - - 202 - 452
Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin BE®EE 250 - - 202 - 452
Mr. Li Qing e P 250 = = 202 - 452
750 - - 606 - 1,356
1,743 14,133 = 15,535 126 31,537
Notes: B EE -

(@) Mr. Victor Herrero, appointed on 14 January 2021.

(b) Ms. Lyu Hong, appointed on 18 November 2022.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office (2021: Nil). There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9. hAESHMAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included one director (20271: FRELRETMATERE—S%EE (CE
four directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 8 above. Details “—HF MOLESR)  CHMMEFBEEIIN L
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2021: one) highest paid XS  FRHEGHNG (T2 —4F .
individuals who are neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as Z) ERRBEFTHITHEH 2 & %ﬁ?ﬁiH)\
follows: TZMEEFBWT
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFABT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RN EYET 47,926 15,544
Equity-settled share option expenses M EEE 2 ERERS 8,956 12,427
Retirement scheme contributions BAREET B HR 371 36
57,253 28,007

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid individuals “)’% MEUTHE ZIFEE RIETRAETR
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: EeHMATZ ASWT :

Number of employees

EEA#

2022 2021
—E-- —E-—
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 75 £6,500,0007 75 1 -
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 75 £9,000,0007% 75 1 -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,001 75 £9,500,0007% 75 1 -
HK$28,000,001 to HK$28,500,000 28,000,001 78 75 £28,500,00078 75 = 1
HK$32,500,001 to HK$33,000,000 32,500,001 75 E 33,000,000 7T 1 -
4 1

In prior years, share options were granted to the non-director and non-chief RBEFE EMEESTRIFITHRAHZ

executive highest paid individuals in respect of their services to the Group, further EeaMATAAEBRTMAERELE
details of which are set out in Note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value R BRAE—TFBEHN M B RERM T
of such share options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting ~ 32 ZZ R > AT ENRFBHALEEE

period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the mER URREHBBEE Mt AKE

financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-director and EMBRKx MBS A LXIBEZIE

non-chief executive highest paid individuals remuneration disclosures. EERFTHEBH 2 ESTMA T ZME
A o
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

10. INCOME TAX

10. FR1GHR

2022 2021
—s-— —E-—&
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
IS FET TET
Current tax - Hong Kong EHRMIBE—FH
Charge for the year FRZH 1,051 704
Over-provision in prior years BT EBEREE (399) (1,020)
Current tax — other jurisdictions HEARIE—HM B EEE
Charge for the year FRZH 89,043 31,199
Under-provision in prior years BEFEREBTRE 6,465 331
Deferred tax IRIEFRIE
Origination and reversal of temporary B RF &= RA Y EE 4 R #2[o]
differences 29 (98,020) 4,521
Income tax (credit)/expense Frigie (k%) Hx (1,860) 35,735
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on EBMNERERFARS BRI GEE

the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The PRC
corporate income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is calculated
mainly based on the statutory tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. UK corporate tax has been provided at the rate of
19%, on the estimated assessable profits arising in UK. The US corporate income
tax provision is subject to US federal corporate income tax at a rate of 21%
and state income tax at rates range from 2.5% to 9.9% to the extent of the
apportioned profit. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to profit before income tax
for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax charge is as follows:

BB UIRE165% (ZBE - —F : 16.5%)
k@ Bt PEERIELE 2R EFT

BREGETENREMEMIBETER 2B
ﬁ@%&$¢f@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ,ﬂu%%L_

T F 5% ZEERMEGFE HE L E
maﬁﬂ“léizﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬂuﬁ
IO EFH EHCEXFEREBEAR
21 %M BB ER B EFREBR > LD
7B # B 452.5% = 9. 9% 5 = 440 1 Py 18
o EE MM & FERRER 2 RIE > THiRIE
SERERKERTERR,BEEE 2R
TREFE-

KRB REKREBM B R FrEEREEE
ZBERARRFIERAEHN Z SR AE < &
MIEZ HZ HERWT :

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAET
Profit before income tax BRFT 1S 12 A& A 871,151 4,509,989
At the statutory/applicable income tax rates of BRI AR AT,/ BREFFE
different jurisdictions MEHE 85,901 724172
Adjustments of deferred tax arising MEESH ELNRLERIEFE
from change of tax rates (21,475) =
Tax effect of profits less losses attributable to BE NI REEREEB MR RS
associates and joint ventures ST E (91,079) (83,247)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BAEZRRIAZRE L (236,329) (748,540)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AN REE N & 81,187 42,671
Under-provision/(over-provision) in prior years BEFERBTIE (BREER) 6,066 (689)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KEDBREBBCMBELE 145,057 90,823
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EFRAREBEECRBEE (7,449) (4,726)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences  REERE R EZZE 2 R £ 36,426 2,384
Withholding tax on the disposal of a PRC subsidiary & — R EI I &8 A B 2 TR - 12,474
Others HA (165) 413
Income tax (credit)/expense Frigi (8% B (1,860) 35,735
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11. PROFIT PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts for the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021 is based on the profit for the year attributable to

equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue and participating equity instruments during the years.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 is based on the profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company after adjustments to the dilutive effects of share of

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

. BAFREEFAEARGEREF

BE_ S __#kK-_Z2-_—%+_A
Tt HIEFEEERERABINEEELIR

BANBEaFE ABEEREN RFER
ERTEERKMBHERAT BT
o

BE_T-__FR-FE-_—5+°A8
S+ HLEFEZERBFEFNEEIR
BARAREFA ABEER @A (EE‘TE

profits in an associate arising from its potential ordinary shares; and the weighted BEZBEREEZDME— F'ﬁ B & A 8] E A

average number of ordinary shares after adjustments for the effects of deemed ZEEEEERREE)  REBRKRM ¢%$i’—3

exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares at no consideration #H EMBERFVRERETHEIERS

at the beginning of the year. For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, P E lﬁ i T‘ = Hy 2R BEHRE) 5t

the effect of the outstanding share options were included in the computation of H-HE_ZE_—_FKR_ZFE-_—F+=A

diluted earnings per share as they were dilutive. =t+—HLEEFEE AR ERITENERE
BEENE ARt EEREERIE
Bt RERITEBREFE.

2022 2021
k-t = —E-—-F

AR EERERBNZAAT
EanFe ARG (FET)

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company,
used in the basic earnings per share calculation

(HK$'000) 850,416 4,562,639
Adjustment to the share of profits in an associate R BT E Z @R MAE D H—

arising from its dilutive potential ordinary shares F'ﬁ BeE AT zmH (FE7T)

(HK$'000) (3,675) (4,523)
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, AR ETEESRBERF Z XA T

used in the diluted earnings per share calculation IR IFAE AELERN (FHT)

(HK$'000) 846,741 4,558,116
Number of ordinary shares EiEREE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in )%73’5 SEEREARNZBEET

issue and participating equity instruments used i~ Z @R RS ERAT B 2~ N

the basic earnings per share calculation ('000) EHE (FR) 11,369,396 11,296,273
Equivalent dilutive shares arising from potential REBEZERMELEZEHEER

ordinary shares ('000) R & (FAR) 92,293 57,175
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and ~ AR I EESRBERA) 2 ZERK

potential ordinary shares used in the diluted FBEEERNETEE

earnings per share calculation ('000) (:FHQ) 11,461,689 11,353,448
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREXRZRH GB) 7.48 40.39
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) FREERH GB) 7.39 40.15
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31 December 2022 —E__&F+_"_HA=+—H

12(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12(A) ME-BERRZE

Leasehold
improvements, Machinery
Land and furniture and and office Motor
buildings* fixtures equipment vehicles Total
TRk FAEYEEE 83 R A
g RAREE ERHE RE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET F#ET FHET
31 December 2022 ZEZZH+ZB=+—-H
At 1 January 2022 RIZEZZF—HF—H:
Cost (DN - 113,258 122,777 5,167 241,202
Accumulated depreciation and impairment REMERRE - (53,244) (65,534) (1,658) (120,436)
Net book amount IREFE - 60,014 57,243 3,509 120,766
Opening net book amount FYREEE - 60,014 57,243 3,509 120,766
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEH B AR 744,705 405,425 150,248 39 1,300,417
Additions RE 32,170 106,516 44,530 1,036 184,252
Disposal RE (2,363) (9,025) (3,175) (809) (15,372)
Depreciation charge EE (17,335) (68,243) (39,030) (706) (125,314)
Impairment A (15,111) (47,841) (1,333) = (64,285)
Currency translation differences EREE (11,053) (807) (5,608) (246) (17,14)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 731,013 446,039 202,875 2,823 1,382,750
At 31 December 2021: RIZZ—F+ZA=+—8:
Cost RS 761,601 531,415 291,642 5,259 1,590,007
Accumulated depreciation and impairment REMERRE (30,678) (85,376) (88,767) (2,436) (207,257)
Net book amount REFE 731,013 446,039 202,875 2,823 1,382,750
31 December 2021 —E_—-%+ZH=+—H
At 1 January 2021: RIE-—%—H—H:
Cost B 11,854 55,385 97,228 3,864 168,331
Accumulated depreciation and impairment REIMERRE (326) (21,546) (51,599) (2,238) (75,709)
Net book amount REVEE 11,528 33,839 45,629 1,626 92,622
Opening net book amount FEYEREFE 11,528 33,839 45,629 1,626 92,622
Additions wE - 60,474 27,275 2,690 90,439
Disposal RE (11,489) (2,795) (1918 (302) (16,504)
Depreciation charge TEE (176) (19,232) (14,787) (567) (34,762)
Impairment A - (15,520) (528) - (16,048)
Currency translation differences EREE 137 3,248 1,572 62 5,019
Closing net book amount FRE@FE = 60,014 57,243 3,509 120,766
At 31 December 2021: R-B_—#+"A=+—8:
Cost B AR - 113,258 122,777 5,167 241,202
Accumulated depreciation and impairment REMERRE - (53,244) (65,534) (1,658) (120,436)
Net book amount REFE - 60,014 57,243 3,509 120,766

Because of the slower pace of recovery from COVID-19 in the UK and USA for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and challenging retail market in the PRC due
to the spread of COVID-19 for the year ended 31 December 2022, particularly in
the second half of 2022, the management of the Group considered that certain
property, plan and equipment were subject to impairment.

* As at 31 December 2022, land and buildings include freehold land
amounted to HK$247.3 million (2021: Nil).
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12(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
The management estimated the recoverable amounts of the CGUs as follows:

CGUs in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The recoverable amounts of the “bossini”, “bossini. X", “LNG", “lce-skating rinks”
and “Clarks” CGUs comprising from each store have been determined based on a
value in use calculation which was approved by the management using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of the
respective items of property, plant and equipment. Key assumptions used for the
value in use calculation as at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H
12(0) ME-BERRZE @
EEEGREELE B2 EISEN
B

BERME -BERSBURERAEESEN
HEEEEN

Mbossini | ~ Mbossini.XJ ~ TLNG 1 ~ B kI8 &
[Clarks 1 IR E A BN (AEEFIEHERR) B9
OlEEEFERESEBHANIRERE
BAGTEHFREEEEE REeREEA
ERNRESVE BEAXFEEERTA
FRERAZHEBEFE R 2=
+_B=+—HstEEREEMXBZE

FHRZWOT :
2022
ZZZZE
“bossini” “bossini.X" “LNG"  “Ice-skating rinks” “Clarks”
CGUs CGUs CGUs CGUs CGUs
Mbossini | Tbossini.X | TLNG FEkiE) Clarks J
REELEQ REELE( REELE( REELE(N REEEEl

Sales growth rate HERRX 0% Note 1 [fizF1 Note 2 [ffzF2 Note 3 [ffz¥3 2.5%

Gross margin rate EIIES 27.8%-62.9% 17.9%-65.4% 57.2%-80.1% 27.1%-46.2% 30.8%-79.4%

Discount rate BERE 13.0%-14.0% 14% 14.0% 15.9% 9.4%-16.0%

Note 1: Sales growth rate for “bossini. X" CGUs was based on the budgeted sales approved MizE1 : ThossniX I IRESEEBENHE_T_=
by senior management for the year ending 31 December 2023, 33.0% for the F+ZRA=1t—HILFENHEEREE
year ending 31 December 2024 and 0% thereafter, THER F‘”H?& BB EZHETREER

HREBEE_ZAF+ZA=+—H
IEEE£33% BEEA0%

Note 2 Sales growth rates for “LNG" CGUs are from -7% to 132% for the year ending 31 izEe . TINGIIRESELFEMNBE_ST -_=F
December 2023, 35% for the year ending 31 December 2024 and 25% for the +ZBE=1+—HLEFENHEHEEEX
year ending 31 December 2025 respectively. A-T%EI10% BE_ESE_ME+_AH

—t+—HIEFENHEERREERA35%
MmBEE_ET_HFE+_HA=+—HIHE
ERHE IR A25%

Note 3: Sales growth rates for ‘Ice-skating rinks” CGUs are from 3% to 10% for the year MizEs: MBAXB I BREELFBEUHEEZZ =

ending 31 December 2023, 8% for the year ending 31 December 2024, 6%

for the year ending 31 December 2025, 5% for the years ending 31 December
2026 and 2027, 3% for the years ending 31 December 2028 and 2029 and 2%
for years thereafter.

$+_ﬁ_+ HEFERNHEREER
RKAEGEI0Y BE_ZE_NE+_H
Zt+—HILEEENHEREXRAS% &
§:$:£¢+—ﬁ*+ Et&ﬁ
FISHE EER A% B E “RER
B tE+ZRA=1+— Etﬁf&ﬂ
EMERANBHE T N\EER_E
ThAE+T-B=+—HIEFENHEY
EEA3% BBREEA%-
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

12(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
CGUs in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (Continued)

The management determined the above sales growth rate and gross margin rate
based on historical operation data, the expectation of future market development
and taken into consideration on the recovery from the COVID-19.

Impairment provision on property, plant and equipment of HK$64,285,000
(2021: HK$16,048,000) was recognised for certain stores in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2022,

@ Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of "bossini” CGUs in
relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-or-use assets

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “bossini” CGUs had been 10%
higher/lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$2,789,000 or a higher of
impairment charge of HK$5,035,000, respectively would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “bossini” CGUs had been 20%
higher/lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$3,435,000 or a higher of
impairment charge of HK$10,811,000, respectively would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
for “bossini” CGUs had been 1% higher/lower, a higher of impairment charge

of HK$163,000 or a lower of impairment charge of HK$166,000, respectively
would be resulted.

(b)  Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of "bossini. X" CGUS in
relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-or-use assets

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “bossini.X” CGUs had been 10%
higher/lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$11,967,000 or a higher of
impairment charge of HK$6,781,000, respectively would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “bossini.X” CGUs had been 20%
higher/lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$24,168,000 or a higher of
impairment charge of HK$12,503,000, respectively would be resulted.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

12(A) Y¥E - -BEREZE @

BRI -BERSBEUREHESEN
REELEM (@)
CRERBEATYERE -BHREEARTR
2L & R ARCOVID-19IRE A8 TE _F iy & 1
EXRKEFZEo

ETEHZYE - BEAKEBZRERSE
64,285,000 (ZTZ—4 : 16,048,00078
T BEREE_E-_—4#+-"HA=+—H1t
FEZIEERNER

@) BEYE BERREUREFES
EEHYbossini ) BZ 52 ZE 4 B {7 i (B 57152
R E DT

RE__F+-_B=+—H WHEBRR

Mpossini IR ELEEMNZIRER=TEAZ

BHE_ZE_-—"F+"B=+—HILFEZ

TERISHE N, R 10% 0 1D B E R

ESEEm /12,789,000 o Bl R B & 2B M

5,035,00078 7T ©

RE__F+-_B=+—H WHEBRR
Mpossini IR ELEEMNZIRER=TEAZ

BHE_ZE”_-—_F+A=+—HLFEZ
TERISHE N, R 20% 0 1D B E B R
B 585 /1°3,435,0008 ool BB = 2B 1L N
10,811,000/ 7T ©

RE__F+-_B=+—H WHEBRR
Mpossini IR ELEEMNZIRER=TEAZ
BRER RN 1% B0 B EBURE S
EE12 1N163,0007 7o = 8 {8 & B8R 2 166,000
BT

) BEYE BERRELREHFES
BB bossini X | B2 £ BE 4 88 (i B 1B 5T 1
ZHRE DT

RE__F+-_B=+—H WHEBRR

Mhossint X J IR EEBANZRER=EA

ZHE_E_—F+-_B=+—HILEEFE

ZTERISHEEM, B 10% 0 1D B EBUR

B ER /1 11,967,00078 7T 54 B B = FE 12 N

6,781,0007& 7T, ©

RZIEZZF+-A=+—H > WEARN
Mhossint X I IREEL BN ZIRERETER
Zéki_7__¢+ B=+—BLtEFE
2 IBRISEE I, RL20% 0 1 BB BUR
B EE R 124,168,00078 7T ol 8 B = B8 12 0
12,503,00078 7T ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

12(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
CGUs in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (Continued)
(b)  Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of "bossini. X" CGUs
in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-or-use assets
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2022, if the discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
for “bossini.X” CGUs had been 1% higher/lower, a higher of impairment charge
of HK$140,000 or a lower of impairment charge of HK$141,000, respectively
would be resulted.

(c)  Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of “LNG” CGUs in relation
fo the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “LNG” CGUs had been 10% higher/
lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$3,286,000 or a higher of impairment
charge of HK$3,985,000, respectively would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the forecast sales for the year ending 31 December
2023 applied to the cash flow projection for “LNG” CGUs had been 20% higher/
lower, a lower of impairment charge of HK$6,175,000 or a higher of impairment
charge of HK$7,457,000, respectively would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
for “LNG" CGUs had been 1% higher/lower, a higher of impairment charge of
HK$74,000 or a lower of impairment charge of HK$77,000, respectively would
be resulted.

(@) Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of "lce-skating rinks”
CGUs in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The respective assets that are subject to impairment under “Ice-skating rinks”

CGUs are fully impaired as at 31 December 2022.

31 December 2022 —E-__HF#+_H=+—H

12(0) ME-BERRZE @
BERAVME BERRBURERAEEEN
WEEEENMN B
) BEYE BERZEUREHEE
BB bossini X | B = BB 4 B i el 1B 5T 1%
Z R E T (48)
RIE_—_F+ZB=+—H ' HEAR
MpossiniX I IREEFBU RS RETEA
Z BRI R 1% D B EBUR
B & ZE 18 N140,000% 7T 3 R 1B & 28 R D
141,000 7T ©

© BEYE BERZEUREHEES

ERITING 3% E 4 E U B2

R E 2T
N_E_"F+_B=+—HB WEAR
NNGIIREEFENREsRE=BAZEHE
T =F+ZRA=1+—HIEFEZEA
SHEWEM, R L10% B DB BB ESEE
J213,286,00078 7T 3% 78 (B & BB 18 103,985,000
Bre

R_E_—_F#+_A=+—H WEBR
NN IBEELBMNRER=RAIZEE
—EC=F+ZA=+—HLEFEEZEA
SHEI,EL20% BID B ERRESEE
B6,175,0007 7T 5% 6t & s 2B 1 N7,457,000
BT e

RZIEZZF+ZA=+—B HERR
NNGUIRSEELEBEUZRER=ETEAZ
RIS, A% Bl DRI BB R ER
ZE1E A074,00078 7T 3R E & 2B R 77,0004

JT ©

@ BREDE BERKEAREHEES
EBYE K G B 2 L E AR A IS
ZBRED

RN_E - "HF+ZRA=+—H> TEKE]

REELEBEUTATREZHEBEEEDS

BURE °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

12(A) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

CGUs in relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets (Continued)

(e)  Sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of “Clarks” CGUS in
relation to the property, plant and equipment and right-or-use assets

As at 31 December 2022, if 0% sales growth rate applied to the cash flow
projection for “Clarks” CGUs a higher of impairment charge of HK$63,649,000
would be resulted.

As at 31 December 2022, if the discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
for “Clarks” CGUs had been 1% higher, a higher of impairment charge of
HK$8,085,000 would be resulted.

12(B) LEASES

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases
when the Group is a leasee:

12(A) Y% -KER=ZE @
ERVME - BERREBEURERAEESEN
REEEEN (B)
€ BREDFE BERREUREFES
FEBY T Clarks ) 3 & BE 4 B (i B (B 57 152
HRE T
RIEZZF+-A=+—H > WEARN
Mlarks I IREEL BUZIRERETEAZ
HEEREXAB0% REBREEZEILM
63,649,0007 7T ©

RIEZZF+-A=+—H > WEARN
Mlarks I IREEL BUZIRERETEAZ
Al IR 218 01 % > 4 93 B 28 BB B = RE 1 0
8,085,0007 7T ©

12(8) THE

() REHBKRIRERNRE
MBI R R RU TS (S EEEA AR
A) HBREFUE

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
—EHF —E-—F
+ZA=+—H +ZB=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT

Right-of-use assets FREEE
Buildings and properties BF Y 1,249,135 321,502
1,249,135 321,502

Lease liabilities HE&aE

Current REN 519,199 123,689
Non-current JER BN 1,438,100 362,630
1,957,299 486,319

Right-of-use asset of HK$1,506,608,000 was acquired through addition and
acquisition of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$262,880,000).

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

HE_E-__F+B=+—HLEFE
ZRRERWBK B AR MmN ER
B EA15066080008T (ZE-—4%:
262,880,0003& 7T) ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

12(B) LEASES (CONTINUED)

(i) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s management identified certain shops
which continued to underperform. The recoverable amounts of the “bossini”,
“bossini. X", “LNG", “lce-skating rinks” and “Clarks” CGUs comprising from

each store have been determined based on value in use calculation which was
approved by the management using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering the remaining lease terms. Details on the key assumptions used
for the value in use calculation of the above CGUs are disclosed in Note 12(A).

An impairment provision on right-of-use assets of HK$276,756,000 (2021:
HK$71,111,000) was recognised for certain stores in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2022,

(ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

12(8) #HE @

(i) MREBKARERHORIE

N _E-__HF+"HB=-1+—H Xx&EEE
BEE#NETHERBERNENMEH-
FH = P95 & 4R A% 2 T bossiniJ ~ Tbassini. X ~
FINGJ ~ T9B k) K MClarks 1 SRS EE B
N WESEFERESEREENIRS
MERNGBEZ2EREEES BEnRE
FBAERNRKRERTHEFHR 2 MHEE
H-BRAULBRETELBANGEERE
BB TERRFBEEEMFI2(A)

B o

ETEH2HCAREERERRB
276,756,00058 75 (ZF ——4 1 71,111,000
T ERBEE_E__F#+_A=+—HI
FEZERmAER

(i) MIEERERHRIE
BRFRIWRUTHERRRIE !

2022 2021
—E-HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFABT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets TREEEITESE 274,981 125,578
Impairment on right-of-use assets EREEEZRE 276,756 71,111
Net gain from early termination and modification AR IEREFTHE 2 W m 358
of leases 4,152 5,915
Interest expense (included in finance cost) FMEBRRE Gt AR ) 50,229 20,971
Expense relating to short-term leases and variable %2 HAFE & K&l &40 & FAERI B 2
lease payments (included in cost of sales, selling (Gt ASHE B A~ $HE Fe D iH B8
leases and distribution expenses and administrative MU EITHE EMAZEE)
and other operating expenses) 250,587 67,904

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$624,976,000 (2021: HK$237,018,000).

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for
The Group leases various offices, sports parks, ice skating rinks, retail stores

and staff quarters. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to
20 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

BE_ZE__+_RB=+—BLtHE"
T EENAVIR S M H 4B 58 %4624,976,00078 7T
(T = —4 : 237,018,000 7T) ©

(i) EEZBEEFIRAEARSGE
FEEEEZEMAGT -REE B XK
BoPIESARBIES HESNEBZ
FE20F Z B HABRET L - &R RIZ(E 5 &
EER > B EENR AR AR 1
EMZAHMEMNZE HEEEEFR
RIEEMIERY)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

12(B) LEASES (CONTINUED)
(iv) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales aT % HEESHEEMELENHERE
generated from a stare. For certain stores included fixed and variable payment $9 () B 88 15 R AR K o B T B A B E K A
terms, the variable payment terms are with percentages ranging from 1% to AR AF TR BV S ST S 0 B A R R
37% of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including FIHEZERI%ZEIT% @ﬁﬁ BE- NS R
minimising the fixed costs base for newly established stores. Variable lease ZRERERE BEEHREHNEE RS E
payments that depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in ESS TN ﬂ: HE R E & éﬁ By B] B4 70 B {4 7K
which the condition that triggers thase payments occurs. REEZENANEEZEENEBARE
EWE%O
(v) Extension and termination options (v) BRAEESEEMKEEREERE
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases AEBNETEMERECSEBEEZE
across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of MR IR E = % Ho-MBEEAREFRSEH
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. NEEME  ZSEEZRNFERENER
BipEBEEHETRAL.
13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REME
Note HK$’000
B 2E FET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 N ZE - —F—HF—HZEEE 203,700
Fair value gain NIFEW @ 74,830
Transfer to assets classified as held-for-sale BREEDEAFFEHEZEE 40 (184,730)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and R_E_—F+"HA=+—HxK
1 January 2022 - _F—H—HZKEE 93,800
Fair value gain NFEEWER 10,600
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 R_B__F#+_A=+—HZKEE 104,400
Amounts recognised in profit or loss for 2022 2021
investment properties MIEEMEZIBGERBZEE —E_-C —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Rental income HEBWA 2,154 6,648

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no unprovided contractual obligation for
future repairs and maintenance (2021: Nil).

The Group’s investment property was valued as at the end of the reporting period
by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer, at
HK$104,400,000 (2021: HK$93,800,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decide to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the external valuation
of the Group'’s property. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
management have discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation result when the valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are included on page 209.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

R-E_—_F+_RB=+—H ' AEEL
’(__ L,\’\JTEE%E%H)%ZHJ}E HERRESE

AEBZREYERBIEESE KRG
EMESBEERIFHEAERATNIKREH K
Z A EEA104,400,00058 75 (:%:—E
93,800,000/ 7T) - AEBZEEBENESE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 13. KEYME @
Fair value hierarchy NEEZRE
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's TERMBPAEBE REYE 2 AT EF=
investment property: K8 .
31 December 2022 T+ ”"H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
RAZATEHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
BEX BEX
i AR FrAIBR
hiERE BARE WA Mt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(-8 (BZE) (=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurement for: KEMRNFENE
Industrial property TEY= - - 104,400 104,400
31 December 2021 —E-—H+”"“H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
KA ATEHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
B BKX
VE BB GIE kS FEHE
mIGRE A BUR WA B wmEt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—/8) Ed=) (=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT FTHET THET
Recurring fair value measurement for: KEMEATESE
Industrial property T - - 93,800 93,800
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).

The fair value is estimated using a direct comparison approach. Under the direct
comparison approach, fair value is estimated by using the direct comparison
method on the assumption of the sale of the property interest with the benefit of
vacant possession and by making reference to comparable sales transactions as
available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the investment property,
which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion

and other factors collectively, to arrive at the unit market price. The fair value
measurement is based on the above property’s highest and best use, which does
not differ from the actual use.

The key input is the unit market price (2022: approximately HK$5,000
(2021: HK$4,500) per sa.ft for industrial building and HK$2,400,000 (2021:
2,000,000) for car park). A significant increase/decrease in the market price
will result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
property.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

13. #&E%%(ﬁé)

R E— ,f*—zﬁﬁjrm@$@+
s EE, NEEBEAFELE =B 215
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__HF#+_H=+—H
o -
14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEEE
League
Qualification
and Home
and Away Players
Trademark and Operating Co-operation Registration Member-
Goodwill  Licensing Right Rights Agreement Rights Ship Software Total
HEERR
BER TRGATE
B8 HIRER BEH 4 q8% L1 L o3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T#En TR TR TR TR TR T#En TR
A1 January 2022: RZB-ZF-F—H:
(Opening net book amount EREEE 81,516 70,880 14,137 77,049 6,247 17,037 - 266,866
Acaquisttion of subsidiaries IR E A - 47,600 - - - - 334,390 381,990
Aditions "E - 1,326 - - 17,645 - 118,001 136,972
Disposal RE - - - - - - (6,142) (6,142)
Amortisafion charge BiHE - (9,793) (999) (12,264) (4,762) (5,424) (66,175) (99,417)
Impairment charge HEE (32,134) = = (24,854) (7,849) - - (64,837)
Currency translation differences ERER (4,650) (4,576) (1,030) (4,617) (629) (1,109 (4,423) (21,034)
Closing net book amount FRRESE 44,732 105,437 12,108 35,314 10,652 10,504 375,651 504,308
At 31 December 2022: S
+ZB=+-H:
Cost A 224,831 142,252 15,735 109,238 33,676 26,262 445,629 997,623
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment Rt BERAE (180,099) (36,815) (3,627) (73,924) (23,024) (15,758) (69,978) (403,225)
Net book amount IREFE 44,732 105,437 12,108 35,314 10,652 10,504 375,651 504,308
At1 January 2021 RZB_-%-F-H:
Opening net book amount FNREE 79,360 76,540 14,749 87,320 8,547 22,068 - 288,584
Addtions AE - 816 - - 2,406 - - 3222
Amortisation charge BHE - 8,205) (1,029 (12,621) (4,914) (5,583) - (32,362)
Currency translaton differences ERES 2,156 1,729 47 2,350 208 552 - 7412
Closing net book amount FRIREEE 81,516 70,880 14,137 77,049 6,247 17,087 - 266,366
At 31 December 2021: RIBZ-%
+ZA=+-8:
Cost B 242,605 100,252 17,014 118,116 17,938 28,397 - 524,322
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment Kt RAE (161,089) (29372 (2.877) (41,067) (11,691) (11,360) - (257,456)
Net book amount REFE 81,516 70,880 14,137 77,049 6,247 17,087 - 266,966
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill acquired through business combinations are mainly allocated to the
following CGUs, which are separate business operations, for annual impairment
testing:

° Sports parks CGU
° Esports CGU
° Ice-skating rinks CGU
° Other CGUs

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU with significant amount of
goodwill:

14, BREE @
BRERCHESHNBETZTESEEE TS
BIUEHR=ZENIReELEN LUETHE
ERERE

WEERSELE(Q
BERGELB
BB S B
{1035 4 7 4 BB A

HENREESEESBESERANR
EEEBA

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FABT

Sports parks CGU BEEREELEN 5,410 5,410
Esports CGU EBRIRSELBN - 33,646
Ice-skating rinks CGU BAKBIREELEEN 38,605 41,743
Other CGUs HMIREEL BN 717 717
44,732 81,516

Impairment testing

(i) Sports parks CGU

The recoverable amount of the sports parks CGU has been determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a ten-year period approved by management. Management considers

it is appropriate to apply a financial forecast covering a ten-year period in the
VIU calculation based on the factors including: (i) predictability of the trend of
operating scale; (i) expected sustainability of business growth; and (iii) length of
period to achieve business targets. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections is 23.1%. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of
the sports parks CGU beyond the ten-year period is 2.0%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the sports parks CGU
for 31 December 2022. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill;

2.0%-27.2%
16.0%—26.9%
23.1%

Revenue growth rate:
EBITDA margin:
Pre-tax discount rate:

The revenue growth rate is for the ten-year forecast period. The cash flow
projection is derived from the approved business plan which has a forecast
covering a period of ten years that is in line with operation period of the sports
parks, and have incorporated necessary updates.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing (Continued)

(i) Sports parks CGU (Continued)

The percentage of EBITDA of revenue is the average percentages over the ten-
year forecast period. It is based on the current margin levels, with adjustments
made to reflect the expected future market conditions.

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the above key assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the sports parks CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

(ii) Esports CGU

The recoverable amount of the Esports CGU has been determined based on

a fair value less costs of disposal calculation using the comparable company
method under the market approach, prepared by Roma Appraisals Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuer engaged by the Group, to assist in the
determination of the fair value less costs of disposal.

The following key assumptions were used in the estimate of fair value less costs
of disposal of the Esports CGU as at 31 December 2022 in connection with the
impairment testing of goodwill:

() the enterprise value/sales multiples (“EV/Sales Multiple”) observed from
a group of comparable companies engaged in the same business ranged
from 0.4 to 1.9 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:from 2.3 t0 2.9);

(i) adjustments factors, such as illiquidity discount that market participants
would generally consider when estimating the fair value of the Esports CGU
(2022: 20.6%) (2021:20.6%); and

(i) appropriate amount of cost of disposal.
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing (Continued)

(ii) Esports CGU (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, impairment loss of HK$32.1 million
(2021 Nil) and HK$32.7 million (2021: Nil) was recognised for goodwill

and intangible assets, respectively. Impairment was made primarily due to the
unpredictable poor performance of the business in 2022. The impairment loss
recognised for the year represented the difference between the carrying amount
of the CGU including goodwill and intangible assets and its estimated recoverable
amount.

If the EV/Sales Multiple increases or decreases 5%, a lower of impairment
charge of HK$1,828,000 or a higher of impairment charge of HK$1,828,000,
respectively would be resulted. If the DLOM increases or decreases 1%, a lower
of impairment charge of HK$459,000 or a higher of impairment charge of
HK$459,000, respectively would be resulted.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, management believes that a reasonably
possible change in any of the above key assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the Esports CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

(iii) lce-skating rinks CGU

The recoverable amount of the ice-skating rinks CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 20.6%. The growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows of the ice-skating rinks CGU beyond the five-year
period is 2.0%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the ice-skating rinks
CGU for 31 December 2022, The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:

2.0%—36.3%
26.3%-31.2%
20.6%

Revenue growth rate:
EBITDA margin:
Pre-tax discount rate:

The revenue growth rate is for the five-year forecast period. The cash flow

projection is derived from the approved business plan which has a forecast
covering a period of five years and have incorporated necessary updates.

The percentage of EBITDA of revenue is the average percentages over the five-
year forecast period. It is based on the current margin levels, with adjustments
made to reflect the expected future market conditions.

The discount rate used is pre tax and reflect specific risks relating to the CGU.
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing (Continued)

(iii) lce-skating rinks CGU (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no impairment loss was
recognised as the management believes that a reasonably possible change in any
of the above key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the ice-
skating rinks CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

(iv) Other CGUs

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no impairment loss was
recognised on goodwill and other intangible assets of other CGUs in profit or loss.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2022
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 15. REEATIRGELEZES
2022 2021
—E--fE C—EB-—&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Associates /N 4,151,531 4,123,956
Joint ventures BEhE 279 435
4,151,810 4,124,391
Interests in associates REE AT Z#ER
The following is a movement of interests in associates during the year: UTAFEFARBE AT EREE) .
2022 2021
—E-_HF B —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FET TFET
At 1 January nw—B—H 4,123,956 3,031,113
Share of profits less losses for the year DEE R R 543,449 492,641
Share of other comprehensive loss DMEEMEEER (773) (2,346)
Share of reserves DEEE 59,114 26,370
Dividend received B E (167,929) (82,247)
Change in interest in associate due to partial  FAFS B840 HE KR /E#EE R
disposal and deemed dilution REE QBN mEH) (@),(d) 7,016 522,412
Currency translation differences bEE 12 = 2 (413,302) 136,013
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 4,151,531 4,123,956
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31 December 2022

15.

(@

B2+ HA=+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

The Group entered into a placing agreement (“the 2021 Placing”) with

J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited on 18 May 2021 to sell
60,000,000 Li Ning Co Shares. The Group's investments in Li Ning Co is
considered as investments in associate and accounted for using the equity
method before and after the 2021 Placing. Upon the completion of the
2021 Placing on 21 May 2021, the Group derecognised the carrying value
of the associate proportionate to the percentage reduced, reclassified a
proportionate amount of exchange fluctuation reserve previously recognized
to the consolidated financial statement, resulted in net proceeds of
HK$3,786.9 million and gain of HK$3,338.8 million. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18 May 2021,

On 27 October 2021, Li Ning Co, Viva China Development Limited (the
“Vendor”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group) and J.P. Morgan
Securities plc and Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Placing
Agents”) entered into the placing and subscription agreement, pursuant to
which () the Vendor has agreed to place, through the Placing Agents, on a
fully-underwritten basis, an aggregate of 120,000,000 Li Ning Co's shares
held by the Vendor (the “Top-up Placing Shares”), at the price of HK$87.50
per Top-up Placing Share (the “Top-up Placing Price”); and (ii) the Vendor
has agreed to subscribe for 120,000,000 new Li Ning Co's shares (the
“Top-up Subscription Shares”) at the price of HK$87.50 per Top-up
Subscription Share (the “Top-up Subscription Price”) which is equivalent to
the Top-up Placing Price (the “Top-up Placing and Subscription”).

The placing of the Top-up Placing Shares held by the Vendor (the “Top-up
Placing”) was completed on 1 November 2021 and the subscription of the
Top-up Subscription Shares by the Vendor (the “Top-up Subscription”) was
completed on 3 November 2021.
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15.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

(Continued)

On 27 October 2021, the Group held 271,201,543 Li Ning Co’s shares,
representing approximately 10.9% of the issued shares of Li Ning Co. The
Group’s shareholding in Li Ning Co was decreased from approximately
10.9% to 6.1% upon completion of the Top-up Placing and was restored
to approximately 10.4% upon completion of the Top-up Subscription.

The deemed dilution gain arising from the Top-up Placing and Subscription

with a decrease of 0.5% shareholding in Li Ning Co was HK$978.0 million.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28
October 2021 and 3 November 2021,

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

15, REE AR REELE 2R

(b)
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(&)

R_E_—F+8_-_+tH &~%H
BFA271,201,543REERT KRS > 14
TENABBITRMNAI09% RAiE
BHEESERNEB AEERERE
NEMIFRERLI10.9%RE6.1% i
RNEERNABBETETHEMEEL
10.4% ©

HEERMEE RDBBEFEMA D
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978,000,00078 7T ©
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Percentage of ownership interest

Name Notes registration directly attributable to the Group Principal activities
B3 AV TEEEERLEEERERY
Ry Mzt  EEfRMhEL Bt FTEEH
2022 2021
T —_E-—%
Li Ning Co () Cayman Islands 10.3% 10.4% Brand development, design, manufacture, sale and
ZFENF HEEES distribution of sport-related footwear, apparel,
equipment and accessories in the PRC
RAEIE AN B RS S ERELE  ARET
BMREGNMEERE R RE
TE R
CITIC Land The PRC 29% 29% Property development and operation; property
REEXE = management; hotel investment and
management; construction project and facilities
contracting and equipment installations;
decoration unit; landscaping and property
development consultancy
FHERME K MEEE BIERE
BIE, BERTIBEHIARBRE; £
B4 Eh T2 ; BMARE f Bt B 54 5
AR 75
Double Happiness () The PRC 10% 10% Manufacture, research and development,
AE=s F marketing and sale of principally table tennis

and badminton equipment under its own “AL £&
Z= (Double Happiness)” brand and other sports
accessories

BE R  EHRHEREBREMEMA
€E=E TN EFITEERERPEKSEM
REAMBB B4
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

(c)  LiNing Co and Double Happiness are regarded as the Group’s associates
due to the existence of significant influence by the representation on the Li
Ning Co and Double Happiness's board of directors.

As at 31 December 2022, the market value of Li Ning Co’s listed shares was
HK$67.75 (2021: HK$85.35) per share. The number of Li Ning Co ordinary
shares held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
271,202,000 Shares (2021: 271,202,000 Shares).

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s
principal associate extracted from its financial information or financial statements
after adjusting for the impacts of adjustments made at the time of acquisition and
adjustments for differences in accounting policies, if any (the one extracted from
Li Ning Co is after adjusting for the impacts of adjustments made at the time of
acquisition and adjustments for differences in accounting policies, if any, and for
non-coterminous periods between the Group and Li Ning Co):

15. REBZEATIREGELEZER
€=))
€ FERAMAEERANRETERAMA
C=EEFTTNRREEEARENM
WRARNEEZHERT -
RZEB__F+-R=+—H'FER
B LMk ecmEARAERET. /58T (ZF
——% 185358 KRB _F+_
B=+—HB XEEFBEZEEADEHE
BB 4A271,202,0000 (B - —4F
271,202,00088) ©

TREEAERTEMELT 2B ENH
B AENDBEREEMBEN Y
BRE (ERRNWERFLZARZEF
LHERAESBRER (WA) (FEHAE)
(ZERBREFERTDZEHTERN K
BRELZABRZEFLARKMTER
HFTERNTAZEGFHRNEERE WA &
AEE SR FHAR)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—ff
Li Ning Co Li Ning Co
FENF =S /NE]
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Gross amounts of the associates BE AT ZEEEE
Current assets TMENE E 15,249,178 21,919,778
Non-current assets EREEE 26,113,719 16,951,086
Current liabilities mENEIE 9,929,185 9,423,166
Non-current liabilities ERBARs 2,298,162 1,781,625
Net assets BEFE 29,135,550 27,666,073
Revenue for the period AR &= 30,994,547 24,161,773
Profit for the period B3P Ja F) 5,090,525 4,119,487
Other comprehensive loss Hith2mEE (7,479) (95,269)
Total comprehensive income EWmIEEE 5,083,046 4,064,218
Reconciliation to the Group’s interests in FEBRKHE QAT NWEREHR
associates
Gross amounts of net assets attributable to the BE AT IEEAEBLEES
equity holders of the associates B48%E 29,132,796 27,662,946
Group's effective interest REBRBEHR 10.3% 10.4%
Group’s share of net assets of the associates RNEBELEBMEATNEEFE 3,000,678 2,868,648
Goodwil mE 550,722 599,527
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial R ér e AR FRNEREE
statements 3,551,400 3,468,175

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 include the Group's share of the results and reserves of Li Ning Co for the
twelve months ended 30 September 2022 and adjusted for any significant events
or transactions for the period from 1 October 2022 to 31 December 2022. The
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021
include the Group's share of the results and reserves of Li Ning Co for the twelve
months ended 30 September 2021 and adjusted for any significant events or
transactions for the period from 1 October 20271 to 31 December 2021, The
Group has adopted the provision contained in HKAS 28 whereby it is permitted to
include the attributable share of associates’ results based on accounts drawn up
to a non-coterminous period end where the difference must be no greater than
three months. There is no non-coterminous period end for other associates and
joint ventures.

Interests in joint ventures
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no impairment loss of
investment in joint ventures were recognised in profit or loss.

Commitments in respect of associates and joint ventures
The Group has no commitment to provide funding for associates’ and joint
ventures’ capital commitment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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31 December 2022

B2+ HA=+—H

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 16. EREDRAFEFAEZHEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS E/afE
2022 2021
== T —F
Note Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
k= BE afE BE aE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FET FHETT
Loan and interest FE E =K F B

receivables (a) - - 587,129 -
- - 587,129 -

Amount represented a loan with principal amount of HK$509,796,000 (equivalent
to GBP53,550,000) (2021: HK$563,774,000 (equivalent to GBP53,550,000)) at
an interest rate of 4% per annum due from Lionrock Capital GP Limited (“Lionrock”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the parties to the Loan Agreement may agree
that, at any time, the principal amount of the loan together with all outstanding sums
accrued under the Loan Agreement may be converted into and/or set off against
any subscription amounts payable by Viva China Consumables Limited (formerly
known as Viva China Entertainment Holdings Limited) a wholly owner subsidiary
of the Company, in order to subscribe for equity in LionRock Capital Partners
QiLe Limited (the “SPV"), a company wholly owned by LionRock, therefore, the
balance is accounted for as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of financial position according to the results of assessment
of business model.

The acquisition of the SPV was completed on 2 July 2022. The loan and interest
receivables were setting off against the subscription amount payable, and the loan
was deemed fully paid and satisfied in full and was terminated upon the completion
of the acquisition.

For details of the Loan Agreement, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 28 September 2020.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

17. ZREMEENZRAFESE
ZHMBERE

2022 2021

- Jonlenl —EZ—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Government bonds BT ES 7,959 =

The above debt investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income as the objective of the Group in holding these debt
investments is to collect contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets.

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(i) Derivative financial instruments
The Group has the following derivative financial instruments:

LREHFRECSATAIHEMIEE R R AT
Bt ARtIZENm  BREEBRFE X
FEBRENENEWRENET R AN
ETHMEE-

18. TTEMBFEIA
(i) TTEHFEIA
REEBUTFTEMB IR

2022 2021
—EZCHE —E—F
HK$’000 HKT?’OOO
FAET FET
Forward exchange contracts - cash flow BEISMNESHN—RER=H
hedges

Current assets TMENE E 6,289 =
Non-current assets JERIEE 2,785 =
Current liabilities mEEE 25,226 =
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE 11,469 =
2022 2021
- B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Forward exchange contracts — not BHERSN-AHaHPEH

qualified for hedge accounting

Current assets MENE E 82,913 =
Non-current assets FERBEE - =
Current liabilities mEaE 3,219 =
Non-current abilities FERBEE = o

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to reduce exposure to foreign
exchange rates. The derivatives used are designated as hedging instruments of the
cash flow hedges and the portion of the gain or loss that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income.

AEBEERABRANESHOLURLDINER
Bo-PMEANTTETIARIEERTEEMRE
HAMEA TR BEAARNH PNED
BN EMERS W m PR
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 18. FTEMBEIAE @®
(i) Cash flow hedge (i) REREHP
The Group’s hedging reserves relate to the following hedging instruments: REBNH A EHEETIHATEBRH
Cash flow
hedge reserve
ReE
HipGEE
HK$'000
TFET
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and w2 —F—HF—H -Z&8-—&
1 January 2022 tZA=+—HERZ-F-_—_#—H—H -
Fair value loss of hedging instrument REMEEWABRIZEHE AT EAFE
recognised in other comprehensive income 518 25,663
Reclassified from other comprehensive income to proftor BEMEEWAEFHSEETER
loss 1,378
Deferred tax IEIEFRIE (6,760)
Non-controlling interest JEER R = (15,0006)
As at 31 December 2022 RZIEZZH#+”“HA=+—H 5,275
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18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(ii) Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Amounts recognised in profit or 108S

In addition to the amounts disclosed in the reconciliation of hedging reserves
above, the following amounts were recognised in profit or loss in relation to
derivatives:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H
18. PTEMBIHE @

(i) REREHH (B)

T A 1B BYE BB

br bt R BB PIREN LRI U
TEHBEEEIAETETEBRANER

2022 2021
- Jonlenl —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFABT

Net gain on foreign currency forwards not qualifying 195 & 8 23 9 5 I % 148 B9 S i
as hedges included in profit or loss = HRW R ER 22,521 =

Hedge ineffectiveness of foreign currency forwards 9Nl 153 HR S 4E 54

— amount recognised in other gains — st AHMK R EER 518 -

Hedge ineffectiveness

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship,
and through periodic prospective effectiveness assessments to ensure that an
economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument,

For hedges of foreign currency purchases, the Group enters into hedge
relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly
with the terms of the hedged item. The Group therefore performs a qualitative
assessment of effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the
hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical
terms of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative
method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency purchases, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of

the forecast transaction changes from what was originally estimated, or if there are
changes in the credit risk of the Group or the derivative counterparty.

19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES

P
HHAEMMREPEAREREES L8
B E HATR A A WL ST LU R R IR B &2
HWhITAZEEFELERE

HINEBESE D xEEREFPTAN
RS R R B P IE B IR E 2 LAY IR
NI PRR - AL AEEBW AN
ETEMNG - HBEREESTELH TIRE
YRR > B R BRI 3 P T BBV 5R
FERAB2LE  AEBRARRKRITE
AHE BRI -

RINEBELH PR HRARZ BRI G
SAELESE HHAERNNTETARS
HFHEERBRNEE FTREHEBEENN

1B e

19. RERFIE

2022

g
UK USA Total
[ ==& 45t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET
Present value of obligation H5EIRE (6,991,588) (956,092) (7,947,680)
Fair value of plan assets SEIBEEATE 7,812,936 864,118 8,677,054
Defined benefit surplus/(obligation) REBN B (B 821,348 (91,974) 729,374
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The Group, through Clark Group, operates pension schemes in the UK and USA
including defined benefit and defined contribution sections. The defined benefit
plans under the schemes in the UK and USA are administered by separate funds
that are legally separated from the entities. The trustees of the pension fund are
required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders
in the plan. The trustees of the pension fund are responsible for the investment
policy with regard to the assets of the fund. Both UK and USA schemes were
closed to new participates in 2018.

Full actuarial valuations were carried out by qualified independent actuarities for
the UK and USA defined benefit schemes.

The defined benefit plans in both the UK and USA typically expose the entity to
actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary
risk. This is considered in more detail below.

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated using a
discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if
the return on plan asset is below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently
the plan has a high proportion of its investments in debt instruments with
smaller amounts in equity securities and real estate. Due to the level of risk
associated with each type of asset, the trustees of the pension fund consider it
appropriate that a reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in
debt instruments, while the long-term nature of the plan obligation means that
is considered appropriate that a portion of the investment portfolio is in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by the fund.

Interest risk
A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan obligation but this will
be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference
to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after
their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will
increase the plan’s obligation.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

19. REBFETE (@
AEBEBBCakEBRRREREEHEFR
58 BERERN R EBMERED
5T 818 T 2R B K = Bl /Y 57 E &8 7 5t &) B Kk
FRINEBENBIETEE -BEEZES
MRFEABRIBEZREREUR S REHEIH
FTERBENENNGTE - BEEESHN
RAEAEEAHESTEENRERR R
B KkEEEHN - N\FEFLEDHZ
BERE A

REREEREEMFENEZEFBEGLE
HEBERBIREMET

— AR T - B R S E 0 SR A R 5t B39
EEBEEEEAR fl  BEER
NEAR EFEAREFLAR FBHRT
S o

KRERE
REBANABEEZRENKABLSEEE
AREFKHREENMIBERAE ; M5t
BEEMLHRMENZLEER B EL S
HRFHBE ABNEHFLAREZRELHR
S MRREBSFREMEZKRELEAR
MNe AR ERBUEERRZABKT &
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19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

Salary risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference
to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the
plan participants will increase the plan’s obligation.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet and the movements in the net
defined benefit obligation and net plan assets over the year are as follows:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

ERRFETE -RHIE
Mt FEEM

. FREBAFE @
#r < m g
REBAEEEZRESEHESH

REEERRTEIRNETEERERH
SEFEKGEEEFREHSEOT :

2
HEBREFS N

Present value of Fair value of
obligation plan assets Total
BEERE SHEEEATE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
1 January 2022 —$-_”%-A-H - - -
Current service cost SRR & AR A 2,504 - 2,504
Adminisiration costs THER 7,191 3,900 11,091
Interest expense/(income) FEZH/ WA) 122,593 (135,884) (13,291)
Past service coss BERBHE 2,773 - 2173
Total amount recognised in profit o loss REGRREDEE 135,151 (131,984) 3,167
Remeasurements BHEE
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in SFEEEDR FE (KA
interest (income) AEZ BRI - 1,480,567 1,480,567
Actuariel gain from change in demographic assumptions — RE A DBt E8 2 REBENE (35,221) - (35,221)
Actuarial gain from change In financial assumptions REVMBERREY BEN R (867,858) - (867,858)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive ~ R EM2 EWERIEE
income (903,079) 1,480,567 577,488
Acquired in business combination (Note 39) REBAMBRPUE (H5E30) 9,072,310 (10,371,951) (1,299,641)
Exchange differences EREE (97,887) 119,964 22,077
Contributions: (e
Employers BE - (32,465) (32,465)
Benefs paid B fiER (258,815) 258,815 -
31 December 2022 “E-"E+-B=t+-H 7,947,680 (8,677,054) (729,374)
The net assets disclosed above relates to funded and unfunded plans as follows: TR BErEEFEEBBEE R AREES
ZAEREWT
2022
—ECE
HK$’000
FET
Present value of funded obligations EEEETIRE 7,940,622
Fair value of plan assets FEEEATE (8,677,054)
Surplus of funded plans BB EE B (736,432)
Present value of unfunded obligations FEEEMEIRE 7,058
Total surplus of defined benefit pension plans (before REBA BRI BIRFEZE (BE LRAD
asset ceiling) (729,374)
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ 3R
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 19. RER®FAIFE @
Plan assets HEEE
The major categories of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows: BAEEEATFENETESLEUWT
2022
—EZCH
HK$’000
FET
Equities e 240,664
Bonds =E=3 4,277,266
Real assets/infrastructure EVMEE/ERRIE 745,094
Insurance contract REEEH 1,778,496
Alternative credit/diversifying strategies BREE ZibRE 1,231,225
Cash B 404,309
Total plan assets MBI EE 8,677,054

Included in the above, there are debt securities of HK$3,847.0 million where the EXFrit B E 5 553,847. 08 BB Tt %
fair value of these debt instruments is determined based on quoted market prices. EEHFILENATFERETSREET

The weighted average asset allocations at the year end were as follows: FRZMEELHEEDERUWT -
UK plan USA
assets plan assets
as at as at
31 December 31 December
2022 2022
EEHIEE EEHIEBEE
RZEZZ RZEZZ
+ZB=+—8B +ZB=+-—H
Asset category BEESHH
Equities GE 0% 27%
Bonds &% 52% 22%
Real assets/infrastructure BEMEE/EREH 7% 22%
Insurance contract = 23% 0%
Alternative credit/diversifying strategies BEREER L nlbkig 13% 27%
Cash e 5% 2%
100% 100%
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11.4 years as N _E T HF+"HBA=+—H>'ATEREF
at 31 December 2022, BEENMEFEHFRA11.4F -
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19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

31 December 2022

19. RERFAEE @

g A
oz o = ]

MR R M E

B2+ H=+—H

Plan assets (Continued) SEIEE (@)
The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows: FEBEBRIZAOT .
2022
—EIHE
UK USA
[ EE
Discount rate AR IR = 4.75% 5.40%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment BEESNREBREE 2.45%-3.05% N/A 73 B
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment FILEERERE 2.45% N/A 73 B
Inflation assumption BIRBR 3.15% N/A 3E
UK USA
as at as at
31 December 31 December
2022 2022
HE E e
RZEZZ RZEZZ
+ZB=+—HB +ZB=+-—H
Weighted average mortality rate assumptions used to determine net pension cost for the period end
BEUEEHRERER A FEZMETI9FERSSH GETE)
Male
Member age 65 (current life expectancy) B4 22.2 20.7
Female
655x bk B (BRI TRHAZ ) pegcd 24.1 22.6
Male
Member age 45 (life expectancy at age 65) L 23.4 22.2
Female
45w h% 8 (655 FF R TR AR 6p) peg i 25.9 24.1

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit
obligation are discount rate, rates of inflation and mortality. The sensitivity analyses
below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding
all other assumptions constant.

EERAERMNEAZIEZRERR AR
E BRERFETE - UTHREDNTLE
REBRRKRNBEMREENSER L
BMEE > MPAA EMRRERFT A E
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

19. DEFINED BENEFITS SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
Sensitivity analysis: Impact of change in key assumptions on

actuarial value of obligation

19. REBFEE @)
BRESH . EEREEEIERRED
-4 -
UK
as at
31 December
2022
HEH
(S -
+=A
=+—8

Base case

0.5% decrease in discount rate

1 year increase in member life expectation
+0.5% change in inflation

EHAZ A
AR IR F R B£0.5%

R ETRRAE Mg N — &

BARE EFH0.5%

HK$’000
TR

6,991,588
7,153,632
7,035,632
7,032,800

USA

as at

31 December
2022

ESJE|
R

+—A

=+—H

Base case
0.5% decrease in discount rate
1 year increase in member life expectation

BEARZEH
REIRE T [E0.5%

HK$°000
FAT

956,092
1,011,047

P ETARS I N—&F 981,046
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31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

20. INVENTORIES 20, 78
2022 2021
- Jonlenl —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Raw materials R A7t 9,844 10,335
Waork in progress Y 9,241 5,740
Finished goods BBl 4,042,045 265,204
4,061,130 281,279

As at 31 December 2022, certain inventories of the Group’s subsidiaries were
charged as security for bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2021, no inventory
has been charged as security. Details are set out in Note 28.

21. TRADE DEBTORS AND BILLS RECEIVABLE

RZBE__F+_B=+—H xEEK
BABEMNETEEEMBETERERIFZ
AR _BE_—F+_A=+—8 &%
EEIRRZ B osEIBEH N HIzE28 0

P& Wt PR R B2 FE MR R 4R

2022 2021

—E-HF —E-—F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

M 5F FET FAET

Trade debtors and bills receivable FE U BE 27 K FE W 2 4 869,754 104,754
Less: loss allowance B ESIEEE 43 (10,276) (6,758)
859,478 97,996

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, generally 30
to 90 days, extending up to six months for major customers. Each customer

has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by

senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade debtors and bills receivable balances. Trade debtors
and bills receivable are non-interest-bearing.

As at 31 December 2022, certain trade receivables of the Group’s subsidiaries
were charged as security for bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2021, no
trade debtors receivables has been charged as security. Details are set out in Note
28.

FEBTERCKRANEATRRS  EE
H—MRA0ENKR TEFRAR %TL%
EEHERER BRXLEFHUEERSEES
REE-mREEETCHENARER A&
B EMEBBERRERZREHRTAE
ERREFRIEMEREE ZRE B
R RER/ TR

N _E - "HF+"RA=+—H 'FxEBEN
BRBNETREAERREMIBITERFER

WZzB-R_BE-_—F+"RA=+—H'#&
ERWERREIEIR 2 B o sFIBE AP sE28
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

21. TRADE DEBTORS AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)
An ageing analysis of the trade debtors and bills receivable based on the payment
due date is as follows:

21. BRI REKREE @)
EWEFRREREZERIENRINEAHZR
oM

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Current BDER 583,773 77,465
Less than 3 months past due #HA DR =R 216,288 18,155
3 to 6 months past due BHA==XEA 29,127 2,198
More than 6 months past due AR B < E B 30,290 178
859,478 97,996

Information about the impairment of trade debtors and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest risk can be found in Note 43.

Included in the Group's trade debtors and bills receivable are amounts of
HK$40,930,000 and HK$42,665,000 (2021: HK$26,701,000 and nil) due
from associates and a joint venture, respectively.

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BERHERRINBEURANEETRREES
RS~ NS LB R R R BB 2 Bk 5526
B 5E43 o

SATEEZEREIKRERZEED R
AEWBE AR —BaEtERE
40,930,000 7t 42,665,000 7T (Z B ——
£ 126,701,000 75 R EHBTT) ©

22. FA(IRRIAHERHEMEWRIEA

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
By &% F#ET FABT
Prepayments TR RIB 789,146 334,252
Deposits and other receivables & R 2R ERIE @) 329,223 223,672
Less: loss allowance for deposits and other 78 : 2% R EMMAEWRIE
receivables R b 43 (95,321) (96,013)
1,023,048 461,911
Less: current portion B OmENE D (681,272) (160,028)
Non-current prepayment, deposits and other ~ FERENFEFRNIE ~ 2%
receivables Tz H At fE U =118 (b) 341,776 301,883
Note: B EE

(a) Deposits and other receivables are measured at amortised costs. The detail
information about the credit risk and impairment analysis of deposits and other
receivables can be found in Note 43.

(b) Included in the Group’s non-current prepayment, deposits and other receivables are
amounts of HK$280,976,000 (2021: HK$253,177,000) down payment for the
acquisition of properties located in Shanghai, PRC.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(a) Cash and bank balances comprise

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

23. RHERBREEZEEY
(a) REKRIBITEGRERE

2022 2021

—EZCHE —E—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances other than time deposits T HIEFUIN 2 IR & K IR1T 45 6% 1,561,063 742,481
Time deposits — less than three months EHER—LDR=@EAH 1,413,740 1,787,182
Cash and bank balances B& MIR1T4EER 2,974,803 2,529,663

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$316,591,000 (2021:
HK$472,345,000), approximately HK$285,581,000 (2021: HK$368,152,000)
of which was domiciled in the mainland China. The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies in the mainland China, however, under the PRC'’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks other than time deposits earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of
between one and three months depending on the short-term cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

(b) Net debt
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RESHER ZEBUAREFEZIRS
R SR 1TAE B8R 4975316,591,00058 5 (B _—
1 472,345,000 7T) » HA#£9285,581,00078
7T (CZB T —4 368,152,000 7T) 2 HE
Wihec N\EBPRABEAM AT EHTHRS
HME o 28Am > iRiR (P ESNE F 2R H)
RGEE EERNESERTE)  ~EHE
EEBEREETIEER ZRTEAR
BERBhAsHMEK.

RITHREE (EREFEMRERIN REGRRTE
RA R H B EBHINAE - BHAEHE
RRmB—=EZ2=Z@RAEF RIELEEEN
REJ/RME > WIZE B L HE R FRFA
REDANB - ROTEFERNROEEN
BB EERFZRIT

(b) EFEFEE
AHHEEBRE _E KB —F
+ R =+—HIEFENEHFEZ DN
KB FEE EE o

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net debt B3R
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIRETEEY
(included bank overdraft) (BIFIR1TER) 2,930,189 2,529,663
Deposit with balance with maturity period over EFRERIE =@ B 2 R8T
three months 3,962 4,284
Restricted bank balances PR & 14 3R 17 45 &R 19,615 6,855
Bank borrowings (excluded bank overdraft) RITER FBEFERITES) (299,516) =
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,957,299) (486,319)
Net debt B3 %A 696,951 2,054,483
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 23. REKRREFEY @

Liabilities from financing activities Other assets

REMEEHZEE HittEE
Cash Deposits
Bank and cash with banks
borrowings equivalents  with maturity Restricted
(excluded bank Lease (included bank period over bank
overdraft) liabilities Sub-total overdraft) three months balance Total
Rek
RITER RE%EY HRE8R
(FaE (B4 =Rz PR 51 14
BITER) HEaE Nt RITER) BIER RITHEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTERT THET TERT TER THET FTERT
Net debt as at 1 January 2021 RIE-_—F—F—HZBEHIE (1,256,000) (408,788) (1,664,788) 1,857,441 - 3,627 196,280
Cash flows ReEng 1,272,078 169,114 1,441,192 667,896 4,284 3,121 2,116,493
Interest expenses FIERHX (16,078) (20,971) (37,049) = = (37,049)
Addition - leases HE—THE - (262,880) (262,880) - - (262,880)
Modification — leases BiI—HE - 49,239 49,239 - - 49,239
Foreign exchange adjusiments SMERE - (12,033) (12,033) 4,326 - 107 (7,600)
Net debt as at 31 December 2021 and RI2Z—f+ZF=1+—-Bk
1 January 2022 ZZ__F-R-HZBEBRE - (486,319) (486,319) 2,529,663 4,284 6,855 2,054,483
Cash flows Rehe 215,759 374,389 590,148 (536,573) - 12,630 66,205
Interest expenses FIERHX (20,364) (50,229) (71,093) = - - (71,093)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WeEEHT B A (526,841)  (1,428,065) (1,954,906) 990,962 - 1,007 (962,937)
Addition - leases HRE—HE - (416,404) (416,404) - - - (416,404)
Modification — leases B —HE - (16,856) (16,856) - - - (16,856)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMNERE 32,430 66,185 98,615 (53,863) (322) (877) 43,553
Net debt as at 31 December 2022 RIZEZZE+ZHB=1+—-Hz
BEEE (299,516)  (1,957,299) (2,256,815) 2,930,189 3,962 19,615 696,951
24. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 24. PR#MESRITARER
2022 2021
—E-Z —EZ—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Restricted bank balances BB &4 R 1T 44 65
Current TREN 2,635 3,183
Non-current JERE 16,980 3,672
19,615 6,855

The restricted bank balances were pledged as security for the operation of sports
parks and lease of retail stores and as security for bank guarantee for subsidiaries
of the Group.

[REIERITEFRESRIFERESENEE
REETEEZERREAEEENEA
BIERTTIERZ IR
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25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

25. MEIERR B RBRAME

TA 18

2022 2021

—E-HF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’OOO

TFET FET

Trade payables JFE (T BR R 2,090,720 233,478

Bills payable EINEE 14,812 11,693

Other payables H {78 691,061 272,913

2,796,593 518,084
Included in trade payables is HK$351.6 million (2021: Ni) relating to a vendor BUEREEA-—HRTZHETRER
financing facility arrangement with a bank, allowing certain suppliers to be paid HFARMZ BEART CEZ—F 1 F)
earlier (by the bank) than the Group'’s standard payments terms. If this option ST A& B L AR 22 S (Y R RRAR A (FRER1T)
is taken by the supplier, the Group will no longer be able to make earlier direct 0145 T 15 FE 8 1 0 o fid 3L P P SR N R iR 428
payments to the supplier and will pay to the partner bank under the Group’s AEERTEFEFERMEEREAMNR
standard payments terms when the payable becomes due. The Group has T 135 AR 4% 2 £ [ AR 2 (SRR RS BB (Y "R I
determined that the terms of the trade payable under this arrangement are B S ERIT AR A AEBEE
substantially unchanged and that it is continued presenting the relevant amounts REZZHEE N B AR RIE RS ELAh 75
within trade and other payables. EARwEme(t FIt FHESBEENEN

AR T K FE AT FRIE AR B AR ©
The normal credit period for trade payables generally ranges from 30 to 90 days. EARRZEREEH RN FI0EX -
Ageing analysis of trade payables based on due date at the respective balance RNEBEESEXRE RBREMNRIBABEZE
sheet date is as follows: TR ERE DATIOT

2022 2021

—EZHF B —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current BN HAR 1,925,965 211,923

Less than 3 months past due wHA DR =@ER 116,859 17,909

3-6 months past due BEE=ZFNMEB 5,685 2,640

More than 6 months past due mAREE A S E A 42,211 1,006

2,090,720 233,478

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade, bills and other payables
are amounts of HK$7,807,000 (2021: HK$1,221,000) due to associates.

26. ACCRUALS

A CE - TE+_A=+—H xERZ
BRI - EMZEREMEMRIBSRE
FE{T Bt = AT 27,807,000 (& - —
£ 11,221,000 7T) ©

26. fESTEH

2022 2021

=B B

HK$’000 HK$'OOO

FET FAET

Accruals fE=t & H 642,695 136,069

Included in the Group’s accruals is amount of HK$236,616,000 (2021:
HK$75,845,000) for accrued staff cost. Other accruals mainly represent accrued
rent, professional fee and other operating costs.

XEBRETERCEESFE IR A
236,616,00058 75 (Z & — —4 : 75,845,000
7T cHMMEAERTEARHEHS B
BERAREMEERZ -
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

27. DEFERRED INCOME

The movements in deferred income as stated under current and non-current
liabilities are as follows:

EIEUTA
§'J7\/ﬁ§jJ7§ziFm§iJ%LIE—FZ SEWAZ
2EWMT :

2022 2021
s —EZ—%F
HK$’000 K 000
‘ FHET TAT
Carrying amount at 1 January N—B—HZEmEE 7,759 9,810
Credited to profit or loss st AE@ (1,028) (2,300)
Currency translation differences PE = %E (552) 249
Carrying amount at 31 December BA—f— B=1+—HZKEE 6,179 7,759
Less: current portion B ORENE (453) (1,199)
5,726 6,560
Deferred income mainly represents government grants obtained for the purpose FIEWA T EEMEBHNE AR ZEEMm
of subsidising subsidiaries” operation. Government grants received are initially BNEZHF/HEE B 145( E& T 78 B ) 5 B4R
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as deferred income SR BARTRAER B IELE H& I
and are amortised through profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in SEERZMBUMAE THEZABENER
which the grants are intended to compensate. Hgg s o

28. BANK BORROWINGS

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
= FHT TABT
Bank overdraft, unsecured RITEX  BIEHE 41,652 -
Bank overdraft, secured R1THE X > BT 2,962 =
Bank loans, secured RITEF BiLHE 299,516 —
344,130 -
Less: Current portion o RENEE (55,934) =
288,196 -
Bank borrowings bear fixed rate and floating rates of i) CHIBOR minus basis, IRITERREEMNEK)FEIRITRZENTE
fi) EURIBOR plus basis and iii) secured avernight financing rate (“SOFR”) plus IS TE B & Kl )EATEE?ETTH¥?EM M¥EE
margin. %%ﬂi’zm)ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁnﬁin@éﬂ < (THEE1R0R
RHMEFZE)) NMFREE 2 FEFIERGFE

As at 31 December 2022, property, plant and equipment of HK$8,477,000,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of
HK$7,959,000, inventories and trade receivables of HK$863,883,000 had been
charged as security for bank borrowings of subsidiaries of the Group. As at 31
December 2021, no asset has been charged as security.

The Group has not breached any covenants for the year ended 31 December
2022,

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

R-ZEZ—F4+="8=+—H 8,477,000
TR R E K8~ 7,959,000 T3
BEHMEE KRS E’&‘:ﬂﬁﬁizﬁﬁkéﬁ
£1863,883,0008 T 7 & K& FE U BR X B2 15
WEAKREEE FHBARRTER &
ﬁ R IEBE-—F+_HA=+—H K~&EE
TREEEEBREZA-

rERRBE_Z__F+_H=+—~H
IEFE I I8 R AR 224 ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 29. IRIERIBEERER
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial ERGEMERARERZELEREESE
position are as follows: FEUT
2022 2021
=B B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets IREMIBE E 120,127 26,397
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEE (96,664) (87,738)
23,463 (61,341)

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows: FRIELEREBEERBEZEZBNT .

Depreciation

Impairment allowance in

and other excess

temporary Lease of related
Deferred tax assets movement differences liabilities depreciation Tax losses Total

HEREM BHARNE
EEREEEED EREE HEBR  ZinEhEfE fEsE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2021 R-E2"-%-B-H 20,898 3,486 - - 24,384
(Charged)/credited fo proft or loss RiE% (NBR) /A (2,320 3,615 = = 1,295
Currency translation difference ERER 483 235 - = 718

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE_—E+_A=+—-AK

“E-"#-A-H 19,061 7,336 - - 26,397
Acquisition of subsidaries WEREAR 70,575 - 58,263 229,212 358,050
Credlted/(charged) to profit ar loss RERE A/ (08 88,974 4,361 (27,199) 12,934 79,070
Credited to other comprehensive income REMEZEKGEEA 6,760 - - - 6,760
Currency translation difference ERER (372) - (1,073) (1,650) (3,095)
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZF+ZA=+-H 184,998 11,697 29,991 240,496 467,182
Set-off of deferred tax liabiities BHELRESR (347,055)
120,127
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

29, IREREBEEEREE @

Fair value
adjustments Depreciation

Revaluation arising from allowance in Other

of investment Intangible Pension acquisition of  excess of related temporary
Deferred tax liabilities movement properties assets obligations subsidiaries depreciation differences Total

Bt KEMBAR  BUABNE Hity
BEREEEES RENE BREE RAEEE 2ZATESEE ZIERE ERES At
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TER TR TR TR TER TER
At January 2021 RIEZ-5-F-H (32,133 (48,483) - (53) - - (80,669)
(Charged)/credit to profit or loss REE (0FR) /3t A (12,347) 6,531 - - = = (5,816)
Currency ranslation difference ERER - (1251) - ?) = - (1,253)

At 31 December 2021 and 1January 2022 RIB--F+-A=+—-AKk

“Z-"#—-F-H (44,480) (43,203) - (55) - - (87,738)
Acquisition of subsidlaries Wk B AR - - (340,862) (26,030) (92,890) (62,666) (522,448)
Crealted/(charged) to profit or loss REFEA/ (05 31,460 6,346 (8,319) - (6,258) (4,279) 18,950
Credited to other comprehensive income REMEERGEA - - 136,957 - - - 136,957
Currency translation difference ERER - 2,889 6,385 222 623 L7 10,560
At 31 December 2022 AZEZZE+ZRA=1-H (13,020) (33,968) (205,839) (25,363) (98,525) (66,504) (443,7119)
Set-off of deferred tax assets HHEETHREEE 347,055
(96,664)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$1,771,126,000 (2021: HK$1,365,534,000), subject to the
confirmation of tax losses from the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department. These
tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had estimated tax losses arising in the USA
of HK$1,7083,397,000 (20271: Nil) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group also has tax losses arising in the mainland
China of HK$783,049,000 (20271: HK$474,623,000) that will expire within five
years to offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in companies that have been loss-making for some time and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liability has not been recognised for withholding taxes that would

be payable on certain portions of the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC as
all of those profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities
of HK$30,616,000 was arising from the disposal of investment properties in
March 2022,

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by
the Company to its shareholders.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

ATE T T EFE+ A=+ —H AEAR
ERESRIEEIEL1,771,126,0008 T (=
T —4F 1 1,365,534,00087T)  EBEEE
MEBERRNIBEER MZEREHEA
ﬁﬁ%%@ﬁﬁﬁ%%@ﬂZ%ﬁ%%ﬁ
A o

R_BZ"F+-B=+—H AEER
EEEEZ A KRIAEER1,703,397,00078
T (CE— : ) o o] E R (IR E
R R/AE) B 2 R A o

R_E__F#+_R=+—H>&x&E&TF
A R R P 3 2 AR 7R TE A5 48783,049,00038 7T
(ZEZ—4F : 474,623,000 7T) » sl AR
MR ER RGN BRREEEBER
AERKY

MR ZEAFAERBEE—KRKRB MA
ERMREA BRI AR EREE
;;k P B LA F R IR SRR IE TR 1B

AREBI RS T 5P BRI Z M B A F
z%[ﬁﬁﬂz%$ﬂ ) 0 FE {5 TR 40 1R B

SOEIEIRIARE AN ZEFMN BEE RS
ETE%X sl v

REBEE_E__F#+_B=+—HLILHF
BRI I & E$55]30,616,00078 702K B
N CE T T E-RHEREYE-

#@@ﬁﬁ&%iﬁ& \ i 48 £ fa] B 7% P
ST &

o



30. PROVISION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

30. #BifE
Onerous Guarantee
Dilapidation lease to joint
provision* provision venture* Others Total
HB—K
'R BiEt fEhE
BERE HEEHFE REER Hith Hit

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TER TER TER TER TER

At T January 2021,
31 December 2021 and

Sel B

_H_E \
2T —F+-A=+—-H

1 January 2022 R_BEZ__F—H—H - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B T A 7 51,909 7,667 99,680 38,176 197,432
Charged to profit or loss RiERFA 9,135 3,968 = 11,229 24,332
Amounts utiised BHEEH (521) (2,132) = = (2,653)
Amount released BRFEEH (4,325) (2,660) - (4,376) (11,361)
Currency translation difference fERERE 516 (292) (5,387) (226) (5,389)
Balance at 31 December 2022 ATEB-E+-H=1+—H

EREE 56,714 6,551 94,293 44,803 202,361
Less: current portion BORENE D - - (94,293) - (94,299)
Non-current portion FERBE D 56,714 6,551 - 44,803 108,068
5 A provision is recognised for expected costs required to restore leased properties to # MRS EEt2EERYERETH

their original condition per the current closure plan. It is expected that these costs

will be incurred at the end of the lease agreement.

A provision is recognised in relation to a guarantee provided by Clark Group to its

joint venture.

ARG PR BRI TR RA R AN PE BB R © TR ST %
ERARNBERRGERRESE

FClakEEEAME G E R ERHERER—
EE
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. R
Shares B& 15
2022 2021
- Jonfenk- 3 “EZ-fF
Nominal value Nominal value
HfE HE
No. of shares HK$'000 No. of shares HK$'000
BAnE4E] TAERT BRHEE TET
Authorised: ATE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SREENSETZEER
(‘Ordinary Shares’) (MEERR) 20,000,000,000 1,000,000  20,000,000,000 1,000,000
Redeemable convertible preferred shares of SREE0.0ETZTERR
HK$0.01each (‘Preferred Shares’) BiERK (MBEKR) 6,000,000,000 60,000  6,000,000,000 60,000
Total st 26,000,000,000 1,060,000 26,000,000,000 1,060,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
Ordinary Shares E@R 9,680,413,727 484,021  9,621,242,726 481,062

A summary of the movements in the Company's issued capital during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

BE_E-_—_#F_FT-_—%+=H
Z+—HIEEEXRAT B HTRAE BN
MUNE

Issued Capital BEITRE
Number of
Ordinary Share
Shares in Issued premium
issue capital account Total
BET
EER#E BEITRE BRAD R ER @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BifEE TAET THET TAET
At 1 January 2021 RZE2-_—F—F—H 9,496,332,726 474,817 2,418,755 2,893,572
Issue of ordinary shares BTEER @) 124,910,000 6,245 166,232 172,477
Dividend paid BERRE - - (1,504,119) (1,504,119)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-B=+—H 9,621,242,726 481,062 1,080,368 1,561,930
Issue of ordinary shares BOLBER (0) 59,171,001 2,959 47,227 50,186
At 31 December 2022 R_E-_F+_-_A=1+—H 9,680,413,727 484,021 1,128,095 1,612,116
Notes: B 5E

(a) 64,910,000 Ordinary Shares were issued upon exercise of certain share options
for proceeds totalling HK$32,450,000 and 60,000,000 Ordinary Shares were issued
upon conversion of part of the perpetual convertible bonds during the year of 2021. The
proceeds of issues upon exercise of certain share options had been applied towards general
working capital of the Group.

(b) 59,171,001 Ordinary Shares were issued upon exercise of certain share options for
proceeds totalling HK$39,645,000 during the year of 2022. The proceeds of issues upon
exercise of certain share options had been applied toward general working capital of the
Group.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

@ —E_—ENRAETEREESTEM
E£1764,910,000 R ZER - EBHERESGH
32,450,0008 75 AP O KA I RKESE
B2 3£ 1760,000,0000% 3 38 JG o (K5 T BB A% 1
EOEMETZAREREERERAER Z —K
EEBS-

b MRZE-__—_EFR -ATESETER®E
Me4759,171, 001 REBERR > FAERIBAEEES
39,645,000 7T o AT EE TR EMEITHRT
BRECHEEAEEN—REEEE-



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

() Share option scheme of the Company

(A) 2010 share option scheme

On 29 June 2010, the Company passed an ordinary resolution to adopt a share
option scheme (the “2010 Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives

to participants to contribute to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
high-calibre employees and/or attract human resources that are valuable to

the Group. Participants of the 2010 Scheme include employee, officer, agent,
consultant, business associate or representative of the Company or any subsidiary
or otherwise contributes to the success of the Group, including any executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive director of the Company or any
subsidiary, who, as the board of directors or a committee comprising directors and
members of the senior management of the Company (as the case may be) may
determine in its absolute discretion, is regarded as valuable human resources of
the Group based on his working experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors, and subject to such conditions as the board of directors or such
committee (as the case may be) may think fit.

The overall limit on the number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2010 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not,

in aggregate, exceed 30% of the number of Ordinary Shares in issue from time
to time. In addition, the total number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options granted together with all options to be granted under
the 2010 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the nominal amount of all the Ordinary Shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2010 Scheme (the “2010 Scheme
Mandate Limit"). The Company may, from time to time, refresh the 2010 Scheme
Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval of the shareholders in general meeting.
Once refreshed, the total number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2010 Scheme and all other share
option schemes of the Company under the limit, as refreshed, must not exceed
10% of the number of Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshment by the Shareholders.

The 2010 Scheme Mandate Limit amounted to 878,060,472 Ordinary Shares
following the approval of refreshment by the Shareholders on 16 June 2017,

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

32. BERGHESTE

) E2BZERETR

A ZE—FEEREE
RN_E—FBENB_+tHAH A2 TEB
TEREERMN—BEERESE (22—
ZFEFHE))  EERAREAEBREHERZ
SHEERERBE HELAEETIREE
FRER/ ARSI HEAEBEEBEZAD
BR - ZZE—ZFHEZ2HEEGELAR
BAREMNNBARZEE SREBE
B -ER EBSEBRHIARAELER
BB EMRZEMAL 8FKAT K
EAKMEBRBEMAIT  IERNITHBILIE
HTES MEEGHIHEILATEEZKRDS
BEBEANEERZZEEG RB\ERAME) &
EZRETFERR TEN#R R EMAERE
ZEURTEEETRZEZEE (RB\RM
E) AERAEB2BHR I2REHNBR
EERATREBAEBEEEANER.

HRE T —FF5F REAREEMAMEM
BRESEFREERRITEZRA KR
TEEREETEMAI FTETZEBRY
BZERRE cHEIASBETRKEET
BERBE Z30% It REBE T —=
FEtB A REEMEMBRESE B
EhEGFREZAEBREESTEMAF
HT2EBRBEC SHITBBERMZ
T-EEHIEOMACETEEREE
Z210% ((ZTZE—ZF 5B TE LR K&
ABAAREBANRRAEG EEGRERA
BEUBEM —_ T —FFAHERELR-—F
—TEFIRELR—EEH  FREZ
T -ZEFHBREATREEMBRES
BRFRHEZPIAEBREETEMY ¥ &
TZEBEREE RECEMLRARTE
BRFEHLEENEAERTEBRHEBZ
10%

KERER-ZZE—tE A+ NBHREERN
% —ZT-—TF53|IRE LIR7878,060,472

R AR o
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(A) 2010 share option scheme (Continuea)

The maximum number of Ordinary Shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the 2010 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the Ordinary Shares of the Company in issue as at the proposed date
of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options under the 2010 Scheme may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the board of directors or such committee, save that such
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant. Unless the Board
may otherwise determine, there is no minimum period required under the 2010
Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board or such
committee, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price
of the Ordinary Shares on the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Ordinary Shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Ordinary
Shares.

The 2010 Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
on 29 June 2010 and expired on 29 June 2020. Upon expiry of the 2010
Scheme, no further share options should be granted thereunder. The share options
granted under the 2010 Scheme which remained outstanding immediately prior
to the expiry of the 2010 Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of grant and the 2010 Scheme.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(B) 2021 share option Scheme

On 18 January 2021, the Company passed an ordinary resolution to adopt a
new share option scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) for the purpose to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that participants have made or may make to the
Group, to provide incentives and/or reward to participants for their contributions
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and/
or attract human resources that are valuable to the Group. Participants of the
20271 Scheme include employee, officer, agent, consultant, business associate
or representative of the Company or any subsidiary or otherwise contributes to
the success of the Group, including any executive, non-executive or independent
non-executive director of the Company or any subsidiary who, as the Board

or a committee comprising Directors and members of senior management of
the Company (as the case may be) may determine in its absolute discretion, is
regarded as valuable human resources of the Group who has made important
contributions to the development of the Group based on his work experience,
knowledge in the industry and other relevant factors, and subject to such
conditions as the Board or such committee (as the case may be) may think fit,
The 2021 Scheme will remain in force for period of 10 years commencing on 18
January 2021.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2021 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the number of Shares in issue from time to time. In addition,

the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options

to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the nominal amount of all
the Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2021 Scheme (the “2021
Scheme Mandate Limit"). The Company may, from time to time, refresh the 2021
Scheme Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval of the shareholders in general
meeting. Once refreshed, the total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and all other
share option schemes of the Company under the limit, as refreshed, must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshment by the Shareholders. On the basis of 9,496,332,726 Shares in issue
on the date of adoption of the 2021 Scheme, the maximum number of shares
that may be issued upon exercise of share options that may be granted under it
is 949,633,272 Shares. As at the date of this report, the share options available
for grant under the 2021 Scheme is 654,373,938, representing approximately
6.76% of the existing number of issued Shares.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

32. BRESE @
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(B) —FE_——FEEREAE

RN _E-_—F—B+/N\B > AABBEBE
BRAZERMN—BNERESFE (TS
“—F:8)) EESEAREB2HEEYH
AEBEHAAIEEHZEM RAELE
BEHEMZ2HBRBHRE R, L
R/ SEEEEJREESEE R XK
SIHAEBEBEEBEAZANER - T _-_—
FHE 2R EQEARBTREAHBA
AZEE BPRABE - RE-EB - EXKS
EBHEFIRERAEAEBRARERERZ
HMAL > AR REMKNBREE
AT ERTHBUIFRAITEST ME
EEYHARBDEERSREEENREA
HMZzZEg (RBERME) KREEBHTE
RENTTEANHEMEMEBEERRUKRES
2HRZEEET RBERME) AEREEE
2HEGR AEENBAEERALIRS
BHAEBREREHEESMNAEEREZ
BEEANBR - _E-—FHEABEE-=
——F—HB+/\BEF0EFERER -

HITERE_ZE - —F58 RAAFEM
HMERESBFRHIERRITEZRA
BMARTEBREMA FETZRMBEE
BRLR GRASBETHEETROK
BZ30%e thoh > RITERE T — —F 5t
B KA R EME ) E A BB AR HE S8R T 1
ZFREBREMA FTETZRMDBE 5
HABBBRM _Z_—F5t8EHFFRA
BETROEEBEZION (TEZ—F58
RELR)) - ARFIARKEBRRKRREKR
TLESRRMEUEM _T - —F5t8
RELBR - —T - —F5ERBE LB K
FH RAITERBE S - —F5t8RER
SIFfTEEMBRES IR TFREZAAER
REMAFETZRMDBE RBEEN
FRASBERRMEETHFERCETR
PEEZ10% BREXRKM —T ——F5tEH
HAE 8517 199,496,332, 726 8% B 15 » AT AE#E UL
RENBEREETERIEZETHNRSR
PEE73949,633 272D - I AR E H
Ho-RIE--—F5BBETAFRHEZE
P 1 #654,373,93817 » HENRABEHITR
PEE Z#96.76%°

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 S ¥

171



172

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B 78R R i i

31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(B) 2021 share option scheme (Continuea)

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the 2021 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the proposed date of grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options under the 2021 Scheme may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the Board or such committee, save that such period shall not
be more than 10 years from the date of grant. Unless the Board may otherwise
determine, there is no minimum period required under the 2021 Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board or such
committee, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Shares on the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders” meetings.

The following share options were outstanding during the year:

32. BERRHESE @

() FATZERESE (&

B ZE-——FEREZ (B)
RAEMI2E B BB ANRIEERETETT
2 FFHABEBTEAERZHEEZR
NEE REZAEBBARRANERZE T
BEEETRDZ 1% - TAE—FTRHB
HIE FRZEBREBNREATERKRE
#HkE o

BE_Z - —F58REBREZZHT
REXN B 2H AR MARAER
MM EHIBTZREAAEB-ERD
BREZTEHHEFENEHREESEE
EEERARAASBERD HHES +
F-RIFEFERTHERR “T_—F5t8
WHEREETEMRFAEBREZREH
fR o

BREZTHEEREFTAZEZETE
EIERBER TIRBEZESE()RN R
FERR R B HRTE M S PR 2 IR 18 S (DAR 1D
RERRE B LA BEBRZ
FHRHE ; KR OEE-

BRETERFIHE ARBEREHNEKRE
REREZIER]-

FARERTEBRENT !

Weighted

average Number of

exercise price options

MEEHITFEE BREHE

Notes (HK$ per share) '000

B & (8RBT T3

At 1 January 2021 A _E_—F—F—H 0.65 126,425

Granted during the year REREH (a) 0.67 288,600

Forfeited/expired during the year RERRYEI (©) 0.79 (66,425)

Exercised during the year RERTE (d) 0.50 (64,910)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 ATE-—H+"A=+—HEF (f

“E-"F—HF—H 0.67 283,690

Granted during the year REREH (b) 1.30 15,304

Forfeited/expired during the year RERRIEH (©) 0.75 (7,621)

Exercised during the year RERTTE (d) 0.67 (59,171)

At 31 December 2022 W_E-—&+°A=+—H @), (i 0.71 232,202

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

Equity-settled share option expenses of HK$17,743,000 (2021: HK$33,922,000)
was recognized in profit or loss in respect of the share options granted under the
2010 Scheme and 2021 Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022,

Notes:

(a) The fair values of the share options granted under the 2021 Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2021 were approximately HK$55,938,000 in aggregate, which were
estimated as at the respective dates of grant using a binominal model, taking into account

the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) A& B3 (%)

Expected volatility (%) TEHR R 18 (%)
Expected life of options (years) FE AR T HR R HR (4F)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2 8 B A 2 (%)

(b) The fair values of the share options granted under the 2021 Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2022 were approximately HK$5,540,000 in aggregate, which were
estimated as at the respective dates of grant using a binominal model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) A2 B 2=(%)

Expected volatility (%) FE AR 1R (%)
Expected life of options (years) EREERERR (F)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1% 3 B ) 2 (%)

(c) 7,621,000 (2021: 66,425,000) share options granted under the 2010 Scheme
and 2021 Scheme were forfeited/expired during the year ended 31 December 2022,

(d)  Total 59,171,000 (2021: 64,910,000) share options granted under the 2010
Scheme and 2021 Scheme were exercised during the year ended 31 December 2022,

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

32. BRESE @

) ZT2TZERETE (@)
REE_E__F+_A=+—HIHF
E mRE_ET—ZSFFER_T_—%F
STEFTIRHERETEREIURESSE
2B 417,743,000 T (ZE - —
£ 133,922,000 7T) ©

5%

@ MREBEE_ZE_—F+-_B=+—HLHE
B RBE_SE - —F8fRHERENATE
B H#4 455,938,000 70 IH R EEERER T
ZEFREEERB_EAREANRSERHBEE
HIThEr o FRYTATERER Z 8 A B

3.6

44.3 - 46.5
2-8
0.1-06

by MREBEE_ZE__F+"-_B=+—HILHF
E RE_SE - —FEMRHERENATE
G HAA5540,0008 70 IHKEEBREREH >
BEREREGEER _EBAEANRSBRH BHE
1T{Est e FRIURFAIEABER 2 8 A BUE .

5.1

43.2 - 523
0.08 -8
0.1-28

) MREE_ZT__F+_-_F=+—HILE
ERE_ZS-—ZTEHI RS- —FHEEY
2.7,621,00013 (Z = — —4F : 66,425,0001) BE AL ##
BB EIff o

O BEST—TEHER-B-—FHEE
H 2z &4£59,171,00017 (ZEZ—% 64,910,000
) BRRERBRE_F-—F+-A=+—8
T
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(e)  Asat 31 December 2022, the Company had 232,202,000 share options
outstanding under 2021 Scheme, which represented approximately 2.4% of the Ordinary
Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

(f) The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

32. BBRRHESE @

() ZFATZEBRES (@)

e MRZEZZF+ZA=+—H &xREHE

232,202,000 ZE = —FstEIE N 2 HARITER

Eﬂ& HMERZE_“F+RB=+—HB%1T
BIRZ#92.4% ©

M RHRSHRERTEBREZITEERT
fEHRREIA T

2022 s
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHRE TEEY TEHE

('000) (HK$ per share)
(F4) (SKR&ERT)

562 0.67 18/1/2021 to 17/1/2023 —_E_—H—B+N\BEZE-_=F—Ht+tH
34,002 0.67 18/1/2022 to 17/1/2027 B _HE—-B+N\BEZZEZtF—A+tH
91,667 0.67 18/1/2023 to 17/1/2028 —EZ=f—B+/N\BEZZEZ)N\F—HB+tH
4,768 1.30 8/7/2023 to 7/7/2028 “EZ=H+tBNHEZZEZ)N\EtBtH
91,667 0.67 18/1/2024 to 17/1/2029 —E_ME-B+N\BEZE-hE—A+tH
4,768 1.30 8/7/2024 to 7/7/2029 ZE_MELtANHEZZE-AELAtH
4,768 1.30 8/7/2025 to 7/7/2030 —E_HEtBN\REZZ=ZZEH£tHtH
232,202

2021 2 —fF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE TEIRE

('000) (HKS per share)
(F%) (SRET)

890 0.67 18 Jan 2021 to 17 Jan 2023 B2 EF—B+N\BEZZZ=F—A+tH
94,267 0.67 18 Jan 2022 to 17 Jan 2027 B _E—HB+N\HE_ZE_tF—B+tH
94,267 0.67 18 Jan 2023 to 17 Jan 2028 B2 -F—B+N\HEZZZIN\FE—A+tH
94,266 0.67 18 Jan 2024 to 17 Jan 2029 —ENE—-A+N\BE_E_AE—B+tH
283,690

The exercise prices of the share options are subject to adjustment in the event of
any capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation, sub-division or reduction of the share
capital of the Company (other than issuance of Ordinary Shares as consideration in respect
of a transaction)

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

() Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the exercise in full of the outstanding share
options under the 2021 Scheme would, under the present capital structure

of the Company, result in the issue of 232,202,000 additional Ordinary

Shares and additional share capital of HK$11,610,000 and share premium of
HK$152,977,000, before taking into account any transfer of share option reserve
to the share premium account.

(I1) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

Bossini, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 592), operates a
share option scheme (the “Bossini Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the operations of the Bossini Group.

Eligible participants of the Bossini Share Option Scheme include executive
directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors),
and other full-time or part-time employees of Bossini, and its subsidiaries. The
Bossini Share Option Scheme became effective on 12 November 2013 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of ordinary shares in the share capital of Bossini (the
“Bossini Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to

be granted under the Bossini Share Option Scheme and any other future share
option schemes of Bossini (excluding share options forfeited in accordance with
the terms of the Bossini Share Option Scheme or any other future share option
schemes of Bossini) shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue
on 12 November 2013, the date of the annual general meeting that Bossini
sought the approval of the shareholders of Bossini for the adoption of the Bossini
Share Option Scheme. The number of shares issuable under the Bossini Share
Option Scheme was 162,077,939, which represented 10% of Bossini's shares
inissue at 12 November 2013. As at the date of this report, the total number

of Bossini Shares available for issue under the Bossini Share Option Scheme is
63,472,522, representing approximately 2.57% of the existing number of issued
Bossini Shares. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each participant in the Bossini Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the total number of shares of Bossini in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H
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) ZT2TZERETE (@)

R|EPR RIBA AT IR EREE
T FHEETHROTEBEREES
EITE®R > B EEINEET1T232,202,0000 @
B 8215 EESNIG Z<11,610,00058 70 K RE 17 %
8152,977,0008 75 (Rt RAE MRS IR GEE
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(Il) Share option scheme of a subsidiary (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of Bossini, or to any of their respective associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of Bossini, or to any of their respective associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of Bossini in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(hased on the closing price of Bossini's shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders” approval
in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the
date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by

the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date
which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the share options. Share
options granted during the term of the Bossini Share Option Scheme and remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period of the Bossini
Share Option Scheme shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of grant within the exercise period for which such options are granted,
notwithstanding the expiry of the Bossini Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may
not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of Bossini's
shares on the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of Bossini's shares for the 5 trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of Bossini's shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
(Il) Share option scheme of a subsidiary (Continued)
The following share options were outstanding during the year:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

. Bkt (|
() MEBABZEIKRESS (&)
FAHERTEBRENT !

Weighted

average Number of

exercise price options

MEFI9TEE BREHB

Notes (HK$ per share) '000

B 5E (BRAET) F153

At 1 January 2021 AT —F—HF—H = =

Granted/adjusted during the year RERRY B &) 0.57 124,818

Forfeited/expired during the year N fEl*J/xLIﬁZ/ 54 ©) 0.46 (15,925)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F+"B=+—H

rZE-_"F#—H—H ) 0.58 108,893

Granted during the year RERKE (b) 0.59 29,000

Forfeited/expired during the year RERRU ZH () 0.54 (37,091)

Exercised during the year RERTHE (d) 0.46 (4,608)

At 31 December 2022 RZE__F#+"A=+—H (e) 0.61 96,194

Equity-settled share option expenses of HK$6,700,000 (2021: 8,363,000) was
recognized in profit or loss in respect of the share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2022,

Notes:

(a) The fair values of the share options granted during the year ended 31 December
2021 were HK$22,300,000 in aggregate, which were estimated as at the respective dates
of grant using a binominal model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) A B 2= (%)

Expected volatility (%) FE AR 18 (%)

Expected life of options (years) EREEHERR (F)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 7 2L B A 2 (%)

(b)  The fair values of the share options granted during the year ended 31 December
2022 were HK$6,694,000 in aggregate, which were estimated as at the respective dates
of grant using a binominal model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)

BREZE (%)
FEHA R 0E(%)

Expected life of options (years)
Risk-free interest rate (%)

BRERREH ()
i = B U = (%)

RBEE_E__F+-_HA=+—HILHF
B ERETEERRBURES
B EREREY A6,700,0008T (B2 _-—
£ 1 8,363,000) ©

MsE -
@ MREE_ZT_—EFE+_FA=+—HILE

o PR B IR B A B G £ 422,300,000
70 ThiEE B RER N Z R IR ER =R

RN & B R L BT b5t o TRIITAE
AR \ABE

4.84-6.48

59.81-67.59

5.6-6.0

0.37-1.11

) REBEEZZT__F+-H=+—HLEF

}# PR HERERN AT (ESH 66940008
Thi8E BIBRER B 2 IR R ER =R
EW%EW?%ET%&EIHH?EHTEJ TRYTFRE

RERZEABE
4.09-4.84
69.17-71.34
6.0
2.03-3.67
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
(I) Share option scheme of a subsidiary (Continued)

Notes:

(c) 37,091,000 (2021: 15,925,000) share options granted were forfeited/expired
during the year ended 31 December 2022 upon the resignation of certain grantees during

the year.

(d) Total 4,608,000 (2021: nil) share options granted were exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(e)  The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

© MREE_ZE-__F£+-_B=+—HI=EF
B 4 237,091,000 18 (ZTEZ—4F: 15925000
l%%k&a#ﬁ@%*%ﬁAﬁE@aW/

B=+—HIEHF
T —fF i

2) 12

iy

) Fﬁ%%%ﬁ%ﬁ@%%%Zﬁ@%&
TREHRBEET

2022 —E_C
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHRE fT{EE 1TEHM

('000) (HKS$ per share)

(F17) (SKR&ERT)

15,276 0.456 1 Jan 2022 to 31 Dec 2026 —E__f—B—HAE_E_AH+-HB=+—H

16,942 0.456 1 Jan 2023 to 31 Dec 2026 —E-=E—B—HEZZ-AE+ZA=1+—H

16,976 0.456 1 Jan 2024 to 31 Dec 2026 —E_mE—B—HEZE-_AF+B=+—H
5,996 1.060 16 Nov 2022 to 15 Nov 2027 —E-—&+—B+ABE=ZE=-tH+—B+AH
6,002 1.060 16 Nov 2023 to 15 Nov 2027 ZE-=F+—RB+"HEZEZtF+—HB+AH
6,002 1.060 16 Nov 2024 to 15 Nov 2027 —E_mE+—B+ABEZE-tF+—H+AH
6,997 0.660 23 Mar 2023 to 22 Mar 2028 ZE=H=HCZ+=HEZZEZN\F=BZ+ZH
6,997 0.660 23 Mar 2024 to 22 Mar 2028 —E_NE=ZB-+=HE-E-)N\F=ZAZ+=H
7,006 0.660 23 Mar 2025 to 22 Mar 2028 —E-HE=-B-+=HEZZE-)\F=A=+Z=H
2,666 0.390 17 Nov 2023 to 16 Nov 2028 :E:‘E+ B+tBEZE-N\E+—B+-H
2,666 0.390 17 Nov 2024 to 16 Nov 2028 —WE+—B+tHBEZZEZN\FE+—HB+H
2,668 0.390 17 Nov 2025 to 16 Nov 2028 :§:£E+—ﬁ+tai_=_A$+ B+7H

96,194

2021 — - —fF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BRERE TEE fTEERR

('000) (HK$ per share)

F%) (BRAET)

25,610 0.456 1 Jan 2022 1o 31 Dec 2026 B _E—B—RAE-_ZE-_A&E+-A=+—H

25,616 0.456 1 Jan 2023 10 31 Dec 2026 B -EF—B—HAEZZ-_XH+-A=+—H

25,667 0.456 1 Jan 2024 to 31 Dec 2026 B NE—RB—HAE_EBE_E+A=+—H
666 0.510 1 Jan 2022 1o 31 Dec 2026 R _EFE—B—HAEZE-X&+-A=+—H
666 0.510 1 Jan 2023 1o 31 Dec 2026 B =F—B—HAE_ZE-AH+-A=+—H
668 0.510 1 Jan 2024 to 31 Dec 2026 “E-NE—ABA—HEZE-_RF+-A=+—H
3,332 0.620 8 Aug 2022 to 7 Aug 2027 —E-—ENBN\BE_E-_+t&EN\B+tH

3,334 0.620 8 Aug 2023 to 7 Aug 2027 —EC=ENBNHEZZ-_tE/N\BtH

3,334 0.620 8 Aug 2024 to 7 Aug 2027 “—EIEENBNBEZZEZEENBLH

6,660 1,060 16 Nov 2022 to 15 Nov 2027 BT E+—RB+AHEZE_tE+—F+AAH
6,670 1,060 16 Nov 2023 to 15 Nov 2027 B E+—B+AHEZE_tE+—B+HH
6,670 1.060 16 Nov 2024 to 15 Nov 2027 “ECNE+—A+AHE_ZE_tE+—HB+AH

108,893

The exercise prices of the share options are subject to adjustment in the event of
any capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation, sub-division or reduction of the share
capital of Bossini (other than issuance of Ordinary Shares as consideration in respect of a
transaction)

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT

BRRETEER R EMEETEM
NG M-S SR #%iﬁﬁiéﬂﬁﬁ( BITEZER
RS RBEERIN RELHRFE



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

33. PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS
The perpetual convertible bonds issued are as follows:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

33. KA BERES
BETZAAMITHRBESNT

2022 2021

—E--f C—E-—f&

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Perpetual convertible bonds KA AT R BB 2 810,621 810,621

On 30 August 2013, the Company entered into the Deed with Victory Mind
Assets Limited and Dragon City Management (PTC) Limited to advance the
timetable for the possible issuance of earn-out perpetual convertible bonds in
relation to the acquisition of approximately 25.2% equity interest of Li Ning Co
in December 2012. The execution and performance of the Deed were approved
in the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on 4 November 2013. The
earn-out perpetual convertible bonds with a fair value of HK$1,140,000,000
were issued in advance in November 2013 and were classified as equity and
the related derivative financial liabilities were derecognised at the same time,
the financial impact of which was based on the fair value of earn-out perpetual
convertible bonds upon the Deed becoming effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no conversion of perpetual
convertible bonds into ordinary shares. For the year ended 31 December 2021,
perpetual convertible bonds with principal amount of HK$19,500,000 were
converted into 60,000,000 Ordinary Shares.

34. RESERVES

() The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

(i) The share option reserve represents the fair value of share options vested
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy of
share-based payments in Note 2.3 to the financial statements. The amount will
either be transferred to the share premium account when the related share options
are exercised, or transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses should the
related share options lapse or be forfeited.

(i)~ Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for wholly-owned enterprise, a
portion of the profits of the Group’s wholly-owned-subsidiary which is established
in the PRC has been transferred to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

(iv)  The hedging reserve includes the cash flow hedge reserve, see Note 18 for
details. The cash flow hedge reserve is used to recognise the effective portion of
gains or losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges.
Amounts are subsequently either transferred to the initial cost of inventory or
reclassified to profit or loss as appropriate.

A TE—=F/\B=+H"> &5 EVictory

Mind Assets Limited5zDragon City Management (PTC)
Limiteds] IZ 2% > ULERIMN 2 ——_&F
+Z B INEEEE AT 4925 2% #E T 7] A5 2%
TERAMENKAMFTAKRESNEERXR -
PEZEIMBTR_E—=F£+—8W@
HETHRREFIAG LEESHE -2
TF{E#31,140,000,00078 75 2 & F) 8 JI K A M
OMRESENR _Z—=F+—ARA#%E
TonREAER RN HETEREE
BEERILES  HRBEEDREBRZE
FREFNBAENKAMTRREST ZA
TEFE-

BHE_ZE_—_F#+_B=+—HILEFE"
BEKAMARKESERASEEK &
E_E_—F+_A=+—HIEEFEE XK
£ E8#319,500,00078 7T Z K A M AT A R (&
# B 8 460,000,00008 Z E G o

34. #E
i) *EERFI—FEAEEHESERK
H#Es el geHRN I o

iy HBREFEECEBERTEBERE
ZRFE E—THBHRYBERERWE
23PN EMNZESt R - BRI
RN ERBEREETEEEERERMEE
AR 0 SR A R B AR P Ok R B AR UK R 48
ERBENREEE

i)y REEZEHEBEEZEBERRE
RoAEERFENILIZEZENE QB
DENEBARRHRARZ#EES -

v HHFEEERRTAENTEE &
BE RMEE18- R REH TRANERIS
ERNEREMAEN P ZETMTETARAZ
BREHD =REREBREFE 2B/
FHEMDEERT (HER) o
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

34. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(v)  Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when
the net investment is disposed of.

35. NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

LionRock Capital Partners QiLe Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary (51%),

holds 51% equity interest of C&J Clark (No1) Limited (“Clark”, together with its

subsidiaries, the “Clark Group”). The details of non-controlling interest of Clark

Group are set out below:

34. f#f&E @

v MEBIIHZEFIBREENEREZRR
HMGEESWMARES TR —HE
BREFEPTER R TENHERRER
BN NEERGE-

35. HEEARFERERZIFEZEM
BT

—RIIEE & Mt B A SlLionRock Capital Partners

QiLe Limited (51%)# & C&J Clark (No1) Limited

(TClarky » BRI EMI B A B A ClarkEEE 1)

51%ME %R o ClarkEE B 2 FF R R SE 1B 8T

wmr

2022
—EICH
Percentage of equity interest held by FERERIFENRER DL
non-controlling interests 74%
2022
-
HK$’000
FHET
Profit allocated to non-controlling interest DR FIEEREREF 91,756
Divided paid to non-controlling interest IR IR AR R 46,795
Accumulated balances of non-controlling FEERERN RS BN R 48R
interests at the reporting date 2,396,105

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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35. NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of Clark Group.

The amount disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

 BRERIFEREDZIFEEN
BT (@)
TRAACakERP FEREE - FRRER
TEAEMERRNLFBRHATR S

2022
===

HK$’000

FET

Revenue I &= 5,390,187

Total costs and expenses % 7 e e =2 4B 5 (5,057,481)

Profit after tax PRI ER 124,009

Total comprehensive loss SHEBEE (397,452)

Current assets TMENE E 5,920,202

Non-current assets EREBEE 3,584,576

Current liabilities MENEE (3,604,069)

Non-current liabilities ERBEaRs (2,662,288)

Net cash flows from operating activities SEENMEIRERE T 490,614

Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEIHMABZIRERE T3 (164,591)

Net cash flow used in financing activities MEEZEFB RS REFEE (502,238)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HekE2EEY) (BRERTER)

(including bank overdraft) B EER (176,215)

Note: Amount in relation to profit or loss and cash flows are for the period from 2 July
2022 (date of acquisition) to 31 December 2022.

36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT

As lessor

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group leased sports park facilities
and investment property to independent third parties under operating lease
arrangements, with each lease negotiated for a term of 1 to 10 years.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as
follows:

Mz : ERBERERRESRENEEA T -
FLtHAZH WBARA) ZE-_T_—
+-B=+—HEBENEZE

RETHEZHE
1’E?%tHiFHA
N ERCE_—F+_R=+—
H AEEREBELKEHEZHRBILIE=
FHERBEREREREEYX  SBEHE
BEmBAIIEI0FE -

RN_E_ _&F#R_E_—F+_HA=+—
B AEBEREEBEL T 270 BEHK
SHEEMN T HEBIBZERERRE
FHEARzEU T -

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFAT

Within one year —FRN 6,494 7,821
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EELF (BEEEME) 12,544 11,305
Over five years j_leL/U: 5,044 5770
24,082 24,896
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

37. COMMITMENTS FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following commitments
for capital expenditure;

NZE - _ER_T-—HE+-F=+—
B> AEEERUTEARRFZAE !

2022 2021
—E-C —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT
Contracted, but not provided for: BEETAYEREEE .
Property, plant and equipment ME~BERRE 81,733 101,944
Capital contribution/acquisition of joint ventures/associates =&,/ WES &%
BE AT 17,604 19,847
99,337 121,791
38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EARAEALRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the RISV BERREMBOMER IR S
Group had the following material transactions with related parties in the ordinary o REBFNHBEFRERT G HERRE
course of business during the year: ATETUTEARS
2022 2021
—EZHF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 52 FET FHBT
Marketing service income from associates REBE AR 2 HIGEE
AR U A () 237,752 229,106
Purchases from an associate [ — RS QB REE (il 14,834 9,542
Sales of goods to an assaciate m—EBE A ABHEESm (i) 239,679 67,637
Office and car-park rental expense =N NP YN
to associates FESHETRX (iv) 9,978 2,889
Dividend received from associates BREERBZKE (V) 167,929 82,247
Consultancy and other service income KE—MBEEAB ZEM&
from an associate H AR 75 UL (v 1,103 2618
Sales of goods to a non-controlling E—ZIFERREHES R
shareholder (vii) - 2,191
Consultancy fee paid to a non-controlling M—R%IFERRESZ N
shareholder BB (vili) 6,972 =
Purchase from a non-controlling shareholder %88 B — & JF 1% RS RS (ix) 42,360 =
Sales of goods 1o a joint venture m—2EeEtEHESR (x) 31,354 =
() Marketing service income from LN Group* and Double Happiness™ in () MHEHAEEREE ETESEEKRE
relation to some sports events and competitions and the endorsement of brand ENFTEERNACE ZRBRERNRKEM
products of LN Group* and Double Happiness* managed by the Group, was REBEE MALEESEN s MGHEERD
charged in accordance with the terms negotiated between the related parties. WA SR RISTA 5 B E 2 1R R U EN ©
(i) Purchases in relation to brand products of LN Group*, was charged in iy HFETEERIEEDBRREBIRASE
accordance with the terms negotiated between the Group and LN Group”. Bl 2R 25 & [ 175 TE B IR AR UACE o
(i) Sales of goods in relation to brand products of the Graup to LN Group®, iy HEFEEEEWNAEEREERS
was charged in accordance with the terms negotiated between the Group and LN on i B TR IE 1% A 6 [ B SR = & E 1 TE Y AR
Group*. SR EY o
(iv)  During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group leased vy MEBE_ZE__FK_FT_—F+_
certain offices and car-parking spaces from LN Group* and Double Happiness®. B=+—BULHEEE A&EBHEBZTEEE"
The lease rates were determined after arm's length negotiations between the RAEE 2 ETHAERFEEU - BEAME
related parties with reference to current prevailing market rate. FSHAMEBESINE2ERITMBKELR
TIEEEBEE-
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(v)  The dividend received were made pursuant to the dividend rates proposed
and declared by Li Ning Co* and Double Happiness*.

(vi)  The consultancy and other service income was charged in accordance with
the terms of an agreement entered into between the Group and an associate.

(vily  Sales of goods to a non-controlling shareholder was charged in accordance
with the terms negotiated between the Group and the non-controlling shareholder.

(vii)  The consultancy fee was charged in accordance with the terms of an
agreement entered into between the Group and the non-controlling shareholder.

(ix)  Cost of purchase paid and payable were charged in accordance with the
terms negotiated between the Group and the non-controlling shareholder.

(x)  Sales of goods to a joint venture was charged in accordance with the terms
negotiated between the Group and the joint venture.

Mr. Li Ning and Mr. Li Qilin, the nephew of Mr. Li Ning, are common directors of the
Company, LN Group and Double Happiness.

(a) Outstanding balances with related parties

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties as included in revenue, other
income and other gains-net, trade debtors and bills receivable and trade, bills and
other payables are disclosed in Notes 5, 21 and 25 to the financial statements.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Details of directors” emoluments and highest paid individuals are included in Notes
8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.

All related party transactions set out in this note did not fall within the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a) Acquisition of Amedeo Testoni

On 3 January 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity interest Viva China
Premium Brands Limited (formerly known as Sitoy AT Holdings Company Limited,
*VC Premium”) at the consideration of HK$1 and the post-closing payment of
EUR2,253,000 (equivalent to HK$19,894,000 as at the acquisition date). In
addition, pursuant to the share purchase agreement, the inter-company loans due
to Sitoy Group Holdings Limited amounted to RMB40,643,000 (equivalent to
HK$48,770,000 as at the acquisition date) would be repaid by the Group as part
of the consideration by January 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Group paid
the consideration of HK$1, EUR2,253,000 and RMB32,661,000. The remaining
consideration of RMB7,982,000 were fully settled in January 2023. VC Premium
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results were
consolidated into the financial results of the Group since January 2022.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

M'EWEEEmﬁéTaa&Jgg*
BB TR e AR o

(vi) B8R e L AR 5 U AR 1 A 52 [ B —
BBk E A B 57 1L 2 17 5% B R AR UL ER ©

vi) PIFERKBRRFHESRRESER
Eﬁ?ﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%E’Jﬂ%%ﬂ&ﬂyﬁﬁﬁ .

(vil) B 5 B AR PR A B [ SR B FR IR AR AR ER BT
I 2 173 5% RO R RRUSLER

vil) BNREMREBRABRBEFERA
IR AR SR BE B 2 IR R U ©

] GEEXHESM
EEEWEZIF ’XH&Z%
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fﬁi‘

b3

ﬁl‘l\i'
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39. EHEEH
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

39. EESH®@

VC Premium and its subsidiaries own a century-old Italian luxury leader label

brand, Amedeo Testoni (formerly known as “a. testoni’) and its diffusion ling’i29" FEEFEBERE

and are principally engaged in wholesale and retail of leatherware, fashion

garments and apparel.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired are as follows:

+= O

= on

ENTHEEREWNBEADHEE —BEX

F#Amedeo Testoni (BT84

Fa. testoni)) RREGTEZ 29  HFBRE

RENFERRENTLERTE-

WREAEKRFWBEEFEFBUOT

HK$’000
FHET
Purchase consideration WEERE

Cash paid BEfNIRE 59,085
Consideration payable B E 9,579
Total consideration HRE 68,664
Fair value
NEE
HK$'000
FABT
Cash and cash equivalents REMRREEEY 23,366
Restricted bank balances PRl M IR1T 45 B8R 1,007
Trade and other receivables 85 K EMEWRIE 20,343
Inventories FE 63,597

Financial assets at fair value through other BAFESIAREMEZENREZ
comprehensive income HREE 8,280
Prepayments A1 5,723
Property, plant and equipment MEBERRKE 16,266
Right-of-use assets EREEE 11,567
Deferred tax assets FRETRIBE E 2,146
Trade payables and other payables FETBR A A M FE SRR 1B (14,781)
Accrual fEsT &R (25,4006)
Contract liabilities AR (3,991)
Bank borrowings RITEXR (7,513)
Lease liabilities MEAaE (23,973)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBAE (1,139)
Net identifiable assets acquired FiT UK B8 0] 8 1) BB A T B 75,486
Less: non-controlling interest B IEEERR R (6,670)
gain on bargain purchase ZHEWE W R (152)
68,664

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 4% & B #& $R R i i

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs of HK$2,420,000 are included in administrative
expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Acquired receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is HK$20,343,000 and includes
trade receivables with a fair value of HK$12,892,000. The gross contractual
amount for trade receivables due is HK$13,881,000 of which HK$989,000 is
expected to be uncollected.

(iii) Non-controlling interest
The Group has chosen to recognise the non-controlling interest at the proportion
of net assets acquired shared by the non-controlling interest.

(iv) Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$76,769,000 and net loss
of HK$76,062,000 to the Group for the period from the acquisition date to 31
December 2022,

(b) Acquisition of Clark Group

On 2 July 2022, the Group acquired 51% equity interest LionRock Capital
Partners QiLe Limited, which holds a majority interest in Clark Group. Total
consideration was GBP56,831,000 (equivalent to HK$541,027,000), which
equal to the principal of purchase shareholder's loan of GBP53,550,000
(equivalent to HK$509,796,000) and its respective interest of GBP3,281,000
(equivalent to HK$31,231,000) payable by LionRock before the acquisition. The
principal and its respective interest were setting off against the subscription price
payable, and the purchase shareholder’s loan was deemed fully paid and satisfied
in full and was termination upon the completion of the acquisition, and Clark
Group became an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the
results were consolidated into the financial results of the Group since July 2022.

Clark is principally engaged in wholesaling and retailing of a shoes and trading in
the brand name “Clarks”. Clarks brand has a history of nearly two hundred years.
Its main markets cover the UK, and the presence in the United States and the
Greater China region.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired provisional gain on
bargain purchase are as follows:

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

39. ¥BSH®

() UWESHERIR A

s B FE BA AL A52,420,00038 T 51 A 3B 3 4T
KR o

(i) B Uk B8 FE Y=k 1B

FEWEREEMERREBEZAFES
20,343,000 5  EFREREAFEES
12,892, 0003 7T B4 FE Lk B 2% o 31 HA FE L BR 2
2 AH4E(E 413,881,000 T ) TEHRE %
Y [51989,00038 7T ©

(iii) FEEERRHED

AREBEERIEFERERGFIKEBEES

Bz EEAREEE IR o o

(iv) UeamReim I E R
FRRBEESRBUBERE_T -
T R=t-—HHEATEEEM KT
76,769,00078 7T 52 £ £ 165 18 7 8R76,062,00078
7‘[[0

(b) UxEEClarkEEE
N_E__FtHB_H > KEEHIWKE
LionRock Capital Partners QiLe Limited 51%R&# >
—RIFBECakEBMNASH LT AT 48
18 456,831,0005 §2 (185 77541,027,0007%8
7o) R W EERTLionRockIEN EE B R S
2 7 %53,550,000% § (8 'E #3509,796,000
B o0) R EAERFR 23,281,000 (HHE R
31,231,000 7T) ° A% K& HAAEREF 2 H
ENREBE MEBEEREERFERIES
B (RSB BN WE R E T UKL
U KClarkEEBEM AR AT ZBEIEEE
MEBAR MEEECE T - _F£+tH
R AREBMMBEEEES AR

ClarkEEZNFHBEMBERTE > WAMES
78 [Clarks | 1T B 5 o Clarkson i# E A& B ##4
“HFENES TBHISBERE TFIRNE
BEIMAREMERHERER

WEERAE FIEEEFEREERENR
Blm s+ BmT

HK$’000
FAET
Purchase consideration I EE B
Non-cash payment — settled by EREIN-—UBERRERESE
purchase shareholder’s loan 541,027
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)
(iv) Revenue and profit contribution (Continued)
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

39. ¥ESH®
(iv) WEEHEHER (&)
A EEERR s EERAENT :

Fair value

NS

AK$ 000

BT

Cash and cash equivalents BEKRIFESEEY 1,028,255
Trade and other receivables 85 R EMEWREIE 856,197
Deposits g 7,721
Inventories =78 3,432,662
Derivative financial assets TTEMBEE 147,386
Prepayments FEMRIE 674,979
Property, plant and equipment MEBERRKE 1,284,151
Intangible assets mEEE 381,990
Right-of-use assets CRESE 1,078,637
Defined benefit surplus AERBNEER 1,361,213
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 2,612
Trade payables and other payables FE B 7R Ko ELth & {5 FRIE (2,445,384)
Accruals FEstE (490,324)
Contract liabilities =k =N (48,815)
Other liabilities Hihg | (64,099)
Income tax payables FENER (74,880)
Bank borrowings IRITER (579,987)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,404,092)
Derivative financial liabilities EBBas (3,899)
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFRIBEE (168,017)
Defined benefit obligation REBHEE (61,572)
Provision BB (197,432)
Net identifiable assets acquired FiT U B ] 58 1) B EE V3 ER 4,717,302
Less: non-controlling interest B IEERE S (3,220,081)
provisional gain on bargain purchase TERBIWEKR (956,194)
541,027

(i) Acquisition-related costs
Acquisition-related costs of HK$21,228,000 are included in administrative
expenses in profit or loss.

(ii) Acquired receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is HK$856,197,000 and
includes trade receivables with a fair value of HK$799,043,000. The gross
contractual amount for trade receivables due is HK$954,755,000 of which
HK$155,712,000 is expected to be uncollected.

(iii) Non-controlling interest
The Group has chosen to recognise the non-controlling interest at the proportion
of net assets acquired shared by the non-controlling interest.

(iv) Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$5,390,187,000 and net
profit of HK$170,579,000 to the Group for the period from the acquisition date
to 31 December 2022. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022,
consolidated revenue and consolidated gain after tax for the year ended 31
December 2022 would have been HK$10,505,615,000 and HK$654,280,000
respectively.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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(iv) UWezs KimF SR
FTINEBEXENKEBERRE_ZT - —_F
T _B=+—HHBEAAAEBE SR K
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31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

40. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE 4. DHEAGEEE
Note 2022 2021
g —E-—f —E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiET FHETT
Investment properties Sd=—EY/ES (a) - 184,730

(@) On 30 December 2021, Rapid City Limited (“Rapid City", a wholly owned subsidiary
of Bossini), Shine Wealthy Limited (“Shine Wealthy”, an independent purchaser) and Knight
Frank Hong Kong Limited (the “Agent”) entered into two provisional sale and purchase
agreements (the “Provisional Agreements”) for the sale and purchase of two properties

held by Rapid City at the aggregate consideration of HK$184,729,500. Pursuant to the
terms of the Provisional Agreements, Rapid City and Shine Wealthy entered into the formal
agreements on 13 January 2022. The transaction was completed on 15 March 2022.
Therefore, the associated assets were presented as held for sale in the financial statements
as at 31 December 2021,

Details of the above were set out in Bossini's announcements dated 30 December 2021,

RN _—F+_ E+ » BRI A R
U%ﬂﬁw%ﬁﬁﬁz SHBAT) 5=
@@ijﬁw 2B 1 7) KR (B
NE (TREA) REEHEARSEN
@%u?iﬂﬁ{ﬁﬁuu HE W (BREHRE)

(B %184,729,50078 7t © IR IR R EF 5% 2 1%

ﬁmm

[1] O et 24 3% 3 o T D>
f%

% BRI AREER —F - —G— A+ =05
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31 December 2022 — /B - "#+_H=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES M. MEARFE
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022: TECCHF+HB=+—HFFENRBAA
BT -
Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary
and shares/paid up Percentage of equity Principal
Company name operations capital attributable to the Company  activities
MR F BRTLER
AEBHE REEME BERE FAAEREKREIEIE  FEER
Direct Indirect
B# il
Viva China Development Limited BvI US$1 & HK$2,079,000,000 100% - Investment holding
FRHEERERAT HEREUHE 12578 %2,079,000,00078 7T REER
Winner Rich Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
XA EHEERAT B 1A REER
Viva China Sports Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$520,000 100% - Investment holding
FRHEBEERERAR ) 520,000 7T REER
Viva China Community Development Holdings Limited BVI US$1 100% - Investment holding
ERFEHEREERERAT EBRLHES EST REER
Viva China Premier Properties Limited BvI US$1 - 100% Investment holding
FRHEEENERRAR HEREUHE ES REER
Viiva China Consumables Limited BVI US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
FRHEEERERAE EBEUHE EH BREER
Dragon Leap Development Limited BvI US$1 - 100% Investment holding
ERERBERRAH HEREUHE ES RELER
Dragon Leap Consumables Limited BvI US$1 - 100% Investment holding
REHERERAR EBEUHE EH BREER
GERZEEREESBRAR PRC RMB150,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
HE AR #150,000,00075 RERK
KERZREEZERAE PRC RMB38,000,000 = 100%  Invesiment holding
(Note i)
HE AR #38,000,0007T RERR
(B35
KEREENBREAXCEXZREREE PRC RMB125,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
B (BREH) hE AR #125,000,0007% BREER
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31 December 2022

B2 F#+”-HB=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) Uil EYNGIESRC)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary
and shares/paid up Percentage of equity Principal
Company name operations capital  attributable to the Company activities
B A BRITLER
YNGR REEME BERE FSRARERIEILE FEER
Direct Indirect
H# ik
FYHENEE X CELEEERAT PRC RMB500,000 = 100%  Retalling and distribution of garments
(Note i)
HE AE#500,0007¢ RREERDH
(B &%)
RN (LB) BEEBERAR PRC RMB258,100,000 - 100%  Property holding
FE AR #258,100,0007T MERE
FRBERE (EB) BRAE PRC RMB20,000,000 = 100%  Retaling and distribution of garments
HE AE#20,000,0007¢ BB E KD H
BMNEABEXEERAT PRC RMB300,000 = 100%  Sports park management and operation
HE A #300,0007T BEEEENER
BrENESEEERAR PRC RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Sports park management and operation
HE AR #1,000,0007¢ BEREEMEE
XETEERSXEEREREIAT PRC RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Sports park management and operation
HE A #1,000,0007T BEEEENER
FNEHREER ER) ERAR PRC RMB102,100,000 = 100%  Sports talent management, competition
(Note il and event production and
management, and sports-related
marketing and consultancy service
FE AR 102,100,000 BEATER BSREHRIE
(P =) REBRBEEETIAEE
KBRS
FERBREREERAT PRC RMBO = 99% production and distribution of sports
(Note iv) content, management and marketing
of sports talents
HE AREZT BENSRERET - BEAL
(Pt %iv) EERTHGEER
BERH IR BEERERAT PRC RMB14,312,160 = 100%  Operation of ice-skating rinks
HE AR #14,312,1607T HERKS
BHERE (B8) BkRLBERAR PRC RMB5,000,000 = 100%  Operation of ice-skating rinks
HE AR #5,000,0007C EEBIKS
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ 3k
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31 December 2022 —F "

F+ZA=+—H

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

M. MBLASFE @

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary
and shares/paid up Percentage of equity Principal
Company name operations capital  attributable to the Company  activities
BRI AN BRITEER/
SR REEM BERE FRARGKRFEILE  FTEEH
Direct Indirect
Hi %
XETRERAREAAERAS PRC RMBS5,000,000 - 100%  Operation of ice-skating rinks
HE AR #5,000,0007¢ =L
REBERNHERRAR PRC RMB45,000,000 = 70%  manufacturing of shoes
HE A #45,000,00075 LERT
Active Link Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
SAEBRAT 5 5,000,000/t MRS E RDH
Bossini Clothing Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
) 2BTT RREERDH
Bossini Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
EHEDHERAR B 1A MREERDH
Bossini Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
ERRECEFRAT ) 2BTT RREERDH
Bossini Onmay International Limited Hong Kong HK$?2 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
B L ZERERAF B 2B MREERDH
Bossini Garment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 56.4% Distribution of garments
) 2BTT R
Bossini Investment Limited BVI US$11,928 - 56.4%  Investment holding
EBEREUHE 11,928% 70 REER
Bossini International Holdings Limited Bermuda HK$247,035,809 - 56.4% Investment holding
ZHRERERERAT BRE 247,035,809 7¢ RELR
Bossini Retail Limited Hong Kong HK$?2 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
BE 2B RREERDH
Bright Star Fashion Limited Macau MOP$25,000 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
BEREBRRAE P 25,0002 7T MREERDH
ENTEHNREEERRAR PRC RMB1,010,000 = 56.4%  Retaling and distribution of garments
HE AE#1,010,0007% RREERDH

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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31 December 2022

B2 F#+”-HB=+—H

4. MBRFFE @

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary
and shares/paid up Percentage of equity Principal
Company name operations capital  attributable to the Company activities
MR BRITLER/
NGk REEME BRBE FRAFARGRFIEILE TEEH
Direct Indirect
H# i
ENERREZBRAT PRC RMB148,000,000 = 56.4%  Retaling and distribution of garments
HE A #148,000,0007T RREERDH
J & R Bossini Fashion Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD2,000,000 - 56.4%  Retalling and distribution of garments
AN 2,000,000% fN3% 7T RREERD
Lead Commence Limited Hong Kong HK$?2 - 56.4% Retailing and distribution of garments
UREERRAR B AT MREERDH
Rapid City Limited Hong Kong HK$?2 - 56.4% Property holding and letting
RAFARAT B 28T MEFERAE
Viva China Premium Brands Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% Investment holding
ERHEEEREERAR B 1E7T BREER
a. Testoni S.pA. [taly EUR5,018,542 - 100% Sales of footwear and leather good
BAR 5,018 54281 7T HEREEEmiEE
a. Testoni Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Sales of footwear and leather good
B 1,000,000 7T HEREEERHE
a. Testoni Japan Co., Ltd. Japan JPY50,000,000 - 100% Sales of footwear and leather good
SF:N 50,000,000 & BEREEHMEE
a. Testoni Korea Co., Ltd. Korea KWD142,860,000 - 100%  Sales of footwear and leather good
[ 142,860,00088 8] HEREEERHEE
LionRock Capital Partners Qile Limited BVI (GBP100,000,001 = 51% Investment holding
HBRUHEE 100,000,001 38§ REER
(C&J Clark (No 1) Limited K GBP100 - 26%  Investment holding
HE 1005 8% REER
C & J International Limited K (GBP18,028,202 - 26%  Sales of footwear
HE 18,028,202 8% HEHE
C. & J. Clark Retail, Inc. USA US$3,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
el 3,000 7T BEHE
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 & R
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31 December 2022 —F "
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

M. MBLASFE @

Place of
incorporation/ Issued
registration ordinary
and shares/paid up Percentage of equity Principal
Company name operations capital  attributable to the Company  activities
BRI AN BRITLER/
AR REEME HRERE ARTEGRFEAL  FEEHR
Direct Indirect
Hi %
C. & J. Clark America, Inc. USA US$3,777 - 26%  Sales of footwear
=E 3TITETT HBHE
C & J Clark China Trading Company Limited China 1US$200,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
HE 200,000 7T HBHE
C. & J. Clark Canada Limited (Canada CAD62,300 - 26%  Sales of footwear
mEX 62,300ME KX TT THRIHE
Clarks Japan Company Limited Japan JPYB0,000,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
BA& 80,000,000H EEHE
Clarks Shoes Vertrighs GmbH Germany EUR1,512,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
(=1E] 1,512,0008% 7T HBHE
C & J Clark Latin America, Inc USA US$1 - 26%  Sales of footwear
e 1£7T BEHE
C & J Clark (M) Sdn Bhd Malaysia MYR500,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
EXAD 500,0009 5 EEHE
C & J Clark (S) Pte. Ltd Singapore SGD300,000 - 26% Sales of footwear
I 300,000 N3 7T HBHE
Clarks Shoes Benelux BV Netherlands EUR113,445 26%  Sales of footwear
Gl 11344580 7T HEHE

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

() The registered capital of Bk /B1RZEME B 5% B R A F is RMB100,000,000.

(i) The registered capital of ‘RN TIENBEEXIEEXERERAT is
RMB1,000,000.

(i) The registered capital of JEFL{BHEE S 2 E (ER) BRAT is
RMB150,000,000.

(v)  The registered capital of =78 BXAB4& I £ B R 8] is RMB100,000.

Apart from BB RZFFNBRERE S ICEZFREREEED L
(B BR & &) being registered as limited partnership, all the other principal
subsidiaries of the Company are registered as limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

M. BATFE @
MIsE -

i) HEEERZEZERATZAMELS
AR #8100,000,0007T °

i) FYHEEEXLEXEZRERATZ
MBS A R1,000,0007T ©

iy FEFEHEEEHEE ER) BRAEZEM
EARA AR %150,000,0007T °

vy LEERNBRAERNEERARZAMELRS
AR #8100,0007T °

FIREBRBIFNBRESXIEEXRER
EEERL (AREB) AMABRER
ShoFRBARBZEMEEZNB AT
MARBRAT -

ERFIERBDZMBAT  EFRD &
SHBLRAAAIERNFAEEBNTEL
N AEEEEFEZITEH D - EFR
AEVNEMKB AR ZENEERRRER
RITEe
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE KRB ZMBERARREHEEES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E--fF —E-—%
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME~ BB KRR E 227 1,106
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RABEZKRE 1,376,837 1,376,837
Total non-current assets ERHEELMEE 1,377,064 1,377,943
CURRENT ASSETS BB E
Due from subsidiaries N NI E ] 3,444,710 3,376,610
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEfYRIE 2 & K&
H fih f& =R 18 50,014 47,903
Cash and cash equivalents REXRISEEY 1,728,281 1,908,291
Total current assets MHEEMEE 5,223,005 5,332,804
CURRENT LIABILITIES yiik I R=N
Due to subsidiaries NN E =] 5,026,790 39,477
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERESER 8,253 5,148
Total current liabilities M EE4EEE 5,035,043 44,625
NET CURRENT ASSETS ;;.Léibﬁé;?ﬂé 187,962 5,288,179
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEHEERTSHER
LIABILITIES 1,565,026 6,666,122
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBAEE
Due to a subsidiary FE 5 — |3ﬁ1=’\ E Q] - 4,990,000
Total non-current liability ERHEBEER - 4,990,000
NET ASSETS BESFE 1,565,026 1,676,122
EQUITY E
Issued capital BEITRA 31 484,021 481,062
Perpetual convertible bonds KA MR RRREH 33 810,621 810,621
Reserves #E (a) 270,384 384,439
TOTAL EQUITY HEm4azE 1,565,026 1,676,122

ARBZMBERRKERN T _=ZF=A1
“t+—HEEFgHE-

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the board of
directors on 21 March 2023.
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31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

ERBEZMBRRRRFEEESD

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#8)
Note: M5E -
(@  Reserve movement of the Company @) AT ZEEEH
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
R E FERE
Bk it RiEE st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
AR FTER AR FER
As at 1 January 2021 WZB-—£—A—H 418,755 44,852 (2,144,025) 319,582
Profit for the year and total comprehensive income for ~ FEFREFI RERNE BN ZELE = = 1,385,824 1,385,824
the year
Share issued upon exercise of share option BREETERET 2RO 46,207 (17,002) - 29,205
Shares issued upon conversion of perpetual convertible K /& M BT 162 G 188 5 T 2 4a B 2 120,025 = = 120,025
bonds 72 Bfn
Equity-settled share option arrangements DR EEE 2 BREZH = 33,922 - 33,922
Transfer of share option reserve upon the lapse of RERELNHERERER = (30,387) 30,387 -
share options fa
Dividend paid BERBE (1,504,119) - - (1,504,119)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZZE_—%+"A=+—H 1,080,868 31,385 (727,814) 384,439
RZZEZZF—B—H
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss for FABEBRERNEEEBBERE - - (168,484) (168,484)
the year
Share issued upon exercise of share option BREETERETZRG 47,227 (10,541) - 36,686
Equity-settled share option arrangements DREEE 2 BREZS - 17,743 - 17,743
Transfer of share option reserve upon the lapse of RERELNEHERERER - (651) 651 -
share options i
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZf+ZHB=+—H 1,128,095 37,936 (895,647) 270,384
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 £ 3R
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in
its ordinary course of operations and in its investment activities. The Group does
not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the board of
directors of the Company meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures
to manage the Group's exposure to market risk (including foreign currency risk,
interest risk and other price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. Generally, the
Group employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management. The Group
enters into derivative transactions, including principally forward currency contracts.
The purpose is to manage the foreign currency risk arising from the Group’s
operations. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are
discussed below.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
has interest-bearing assets and liabilities, mainly in relation to cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings, details of which are disclosed in Notes 23 and
28, respectively, to the financial statements. The Group has not used any financial
instrument to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates. The exposure to interest
rates risk for the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are considered minimal.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has bank borrowing with floating rate of
HK$302,478,000 (2021: Nil). If interest rate increase/decrease by 1%, the pre-
tax result of the Group would be decreased/increased by HK$3,025,000 (2021:
Nil).

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument (excluding investment in associates) will fluctuate because of

MBERMEEBRREE
AEERENAEEBRRE LS RER

ZHBITEAZHHERE FERTEEE
BB SR K 15 5] o 2 ZK@E%%@
;:EHH;HTE.- s D R BISTIE L BB A

BERZzmizERE (BFMNERRFKE
ﬁ&ﬁf‘lﬂfﬁ%ﬂﬁfﬂ) ‘/JlL@J,é%HB &ng
Rl —fEms AEERABERMERE
%E@C’ZIK%ST_Lﬁ?IE\T/TE 25 EEBE
BHAEGES4 HENAEENRAERESR
FREEZINERE - AREBMAR ZREKR
Fr 75 B B i T S am it o

F 2= = b
%ijﬁ?ﬂﬁ TLEMBETEREZ AFERIRER
MG EEEMEREE 2RRE
E§°$$Eu+§EJX&%TE’I§/f&EE
ERIREEBYURBITER - BREFED
B FR B 75 ¥R R M 5120 B2 28 K B o AR EE [ W ok
ERE AT A FBEFNEFH A&
?%%&iﬁﬁfﬁiﬁuzﬂfﬂﬁ 2 AR A
(((T o

RoB_—_F+-A=+—H xE@E¥

BN R BYIRAT R A3302,478,0008 7T (ZF
Z—5F L E) o AR A% AE

,E"Jfﬁfﬁmﬁ,y/\ﬁ—)_r/m’|\/i7][]&025,000‘;%775

SMES LB
SMERIRIER TR (FEERBE AT
KE) Z’A}ﬂzﬁ‘%ﬂi;}zfﬁﬁwg B BE K 12

B o AEEAPEE X f

changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates in the UK, USA, mainland g E 2 &
China, Hong Kong, European and Asian countries. Most of the Group’s sales are Bt -EE - BUNETINZEEZEE K&
in GBP, US$, EUR, RMB and HK$. The Group invested into various bank deposits AEAHEHUEFEET BT AR
mainly denominated in GBP, US$, EUR, RMB and HK$. MEBTET NEBNRIZIBIRETERR
B FEMURBE-ET B A\BENE
JoEH{E°
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arising from monetary assets and R HA » A B LUEERI R B E A TN AL
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the EENEEIENEBREEREBRELEN
relevant group entities at the end of the reporting period, expressed in HKS$, was AN B & B2z XP%EBE;z?'JTQD—F
mainly as follows:
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
ZE_”E+ZB=1+-R Z2”-%+ZB=1+-H
AW GBP EUR Uss RMB GBP EUR Uss
N1 R®iE B e N1 HiE B ES
K000 HK 000 e 000 HK 000 e 000 e 000 HK 000 HeS 000
TET TET TAR TET TAT TAT FET TAL
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELEEY 5,25 859,816 23,373 401,786 104,193 15,794 = =
Trade receivables FEMERRT - = 62,103 - - - - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BBERBATEEZHHKEE - - - - - 587,129 - -
Trade payables FEfIERR (25,881) = - (990,043) = = = =
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

It is the Group’s policy to enter into forward currency contracts to mitigate foreign

currency risk arising from material transactions.

The Group uses foreign currency forwards to hedge its exposure to foreign
currency risk. Under the group’s policy, the critical terms of the forwards must
align with the hedged items.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to
foreign currency risk at year end date.

If GBP appreciates/depreciates against HK$ by 5%, the pre-tax results of the
Group would be increased/decreased by approximately HK$42,991,000 (2021:
HK$29,674,000).

If EUR appreciates/depreciates against GBP by 5%, the pre-tax results of the
Group would be increase/decrease by approximately HK$4,187,000 (2021: Nil).

If US$ appreciates/depreciates against GBP by 5%, the pre-tax results of the
Group would be decrease/increased by approximately HK$26,181,000 (2021:
Nil).

If RMB appreciates/depreciates against HK$ by 5%, the pre-tax results of the
Group would be decreased/increased by approximately HK$1,087,000 (2021:
HK$5,210,000).

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument would
fail to discharge its obligation under the terms of the financial instrument and
cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly
arises from granting credit to customers in the ordinary course of its operations.
The carrying amounts of trade debtors and bills receivable, deposits and other
receivable carried at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents included in
the face of the statements of financial position represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

43. HMFBEREEBERBE @

SMEE LB (48)
FEBEZBRBTLEREESHLURK
BEARZFREEZINE R

2 5 [ LUSN S i AR 3 O HL NS L B o AR R
§$E§% VB BB RN R B
HE e

HRE DT
THERRESHTERBERELB AR ZI
R EREE -

WEERBTHEBZE% ARER
BRAQ AT FEAA RN, R £942,991,000%8 T
(T = —14 129,674,000 75T) o

HEN T R EFEFE B2 EN% > NEFEBKRR
RIS LN R 494,187,000 (=
——F ) o

MWETREEHNEBZEL% NEBRKRR
BIZEER R 18 NN4926,181,0008 75 (=
——F ) o

MARKRHBTHE, BB BEER
BRI BT AR R D12 I0491,087,000% 7T
(ZE=—4F 15,210,000 7T) ©

EEE R

EERBEVHBIAZXZH T RERE
MBETREZRRMBETHERT X EEX
RUBBERZAR AEBARZEEE
RETERENAEEBBETRAZTRET
ZEE -BUWRRABUWRE BN
A BZRERAMBURIBEURRER
ReFEYZREESAMBRRE A
REEEMEMBEEAR ZESEER

BE% o
2R
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group generally has established long-term and stable relationships with
its customers. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. The Group generally
allows credit period of one month extending up to six months to its major trade
customers. The credit risk of other receivables arises from that borrowers fail to
repay loans on time. The Group has assessed the historical payment pattern and
credit status of each borrower and the value of the collaterals has been taken
into account when calculating the allowances of expected credit loss. The Group's
historical experience in collection of trade and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowance and the directors are of the opinion that adequate allowance
for credit loss for uncollectible receivables has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group maintains its cash and cash equivalents with reputable banks in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, the UK and USA, therefore the directors consider that
the credit risk for such is minimal. The credit and investment policies have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to have been effective
in limiting the Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the expected credit loss model to financial assets measured at
cost, including trade debtors and bills receivable, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents and financial guarantee contracts.

Impairment on trade debtors and bills receivable is measured as the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to

be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, and deposit and other
receivables is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition by considering available, reasonable and supportive information.

Trade debtors and bills receivable, and deposit and other receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there

is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation, default or delinquency in payments, and the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, no impairment loss was identified.

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. HHEEKREEBERBE @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Trade debtors and bill receivables FE Ut BR R R FE U ZE 48
To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors and bills receivable have At ETEHAEEEE BWRS REKRE
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. BEREBEEENGEERMBFEE AR
D#H o
Less than 3t06 More than
3 months months 6 months
Current past due past due past due Total
BERLR BEZER bl
MR ={&Rn {5}z ~EA At
31 December 2022 2 f+ZA=+—H
Expected loss rate FEHEEE 0.1% 0.1% 2.5% 22.8% 1.2%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEREE (FAT) 584,222 216,422 29,886 39,224 869,754
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (T (449) (134) (759) (8,934) (10,276)
583,773 216,288 29,127 30,290 859,478
31 December 2021 T —F+"A=1+—H
Expected loss rate TBHEEX 0.2% 0.3% 15.4% 97.2% 6.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REREE (FAET) 77,623 18,208 2598 6,325 104,754
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BiEEE (TAT) (158) (53) (400) (6,147) (6,758)
77,465 18,155 2,198 178 97,996

The movement of loss allowances for trade debtors and bill receivables during the FERNEBRRTREREE ZFHERES

year is as follows: ;T -
2022 2021
—E-HF —E-—5F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
As at 1 January w—B—H 6,758 16,352
Net impairment loss recognised/(reversed) B3, (B[Rl mEREFEE 4,116 (9,893)
Currency translation difference b 12 = 28 (598) 299
As at 31 December R+—-_A=+—H 10,276 6,758
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Deposits and other receivables

The management of the Group makes periodic collective assessments as well

as individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables

based on historical settlement records and past experiences looking forward. The

Group measures credit risk using probability of default (‘PD"), which is similar to

the approach used for the purposes of measuring expected credit loss (“ECL")

under HKFRS 9.

° Deposits and other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1" and have their credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group. The expected credit loss is measured on a 12-month
basis.

° If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when the debtor is more
than 1 day past due on its contractual payments) since initial recognition is
identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to
be credit-impaired. The expected credit 10ss is measured on lifetime basis.

o If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, when the debtor is
more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments), the financial instrument
is then moved to ‘Stage 3'. The expected credit loss is measured on lifetime
basis.

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and collection from them,
deposits and other receivables of approximately HK$236,673,000 are classified
in Stage 1 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$129,937,000) and the credit
risk inherent in these other receivables is not significant. The average loss rate of
1% was applied as at the 31 December 2022 (20271 2%).
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. MERAKREEEERBE @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Deposits and other receivables (Continued) BER Eﬂﬂﬂgl&?’xlﬁ (48)
For the remaining deposits and other receivables of approximately R_E-__F+_"HB=+—HMN&GT&
HK$92,550,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$93,735,000), it was & KR EHMEWRIEL92,550,0008 T (Z &
classified in Stage 3 and the loss allowance associated with these deposits and ——% 193,735,000 T) EDEAE=
other receivables was approximately HK$92,550,000 as at 31 December 2022 BRomEZERes AEMEWRIENE %ﬁ E’J
(2021: HK$93,735,000). BEBENR S+ =+—HBH
#%92,550,000% 75 (ZFZ—4 : 93,735,000
BTT) °
The movement of loss allowances for deposits and other receivables during the FROEFEREMBUWEIEZ BB HE
year is as follows: ;N -
2022 2021
—E-HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFABT
As at 1 January n—B—H 96,013 94,836
Net impairment loss recognised EEEDWWTEEMD FER 501 727
Currency translation difference BAERE (1,193) 450
As at 31 December 73@-1—:)? =+—H 95,321 96,013
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its

obligation associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash

or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of

settlement of trade payables, other payables and accruals and bank borrowings,

also in respect of its cash flow management.

The Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets and
committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The Group manages its liquidity needs on a consolidated basis by
carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial
liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day to day business.
Funding for longer term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate
amount of borrowings and the ability to sell longer term financial assets. The
Group’s liquidity is mainly dependent upon the cash received from its trade
customers.

The directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full its financial obligation as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to have been effective in managing liquidity risks.

Apart from the non-current bank borrowings disclosed in Notes 28 for the
financial statements, the maturity profile of the Group’s major financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is within one year or on demand and the contractual undiscounted
payments approximate to their carrying amounts.

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and
managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid assets that
readily generate cash. The Group's existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has bank facilities of HK$2,614,763,000
(2021: HK$205,890,000), of which HK$1,828,321,000 (2021:

HK$193,138,000) remained unutilised at 31 December 2022.
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43. MFEREEBERBE @

REBEERAE (8

TRIITERENENARMRBEERE (B
BRERSONRFABEZFEMR) ZRFS
NAPERESEBRIRERERZERER

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the

year, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rate) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay: AR
2022
k- oot
More than More than
1yearbut 2 years but Total Carrying
Within less than less than Over  contractual amount at
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows 31 December
®+ZB
HBA—FE BARERE BNRET =t+-H
—FR DRmE DREE BRRE =l ZIEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ER THER TER TER THER T#ERT
Non-derivative financial liabilities EfTEMBAR
Bank borrowings RITER 82,958 26,980 355,646 - 465,584 344,130
Lease liabilties HE&E 631,503 466,886 703,079 401,804 2,203,272 1,957,299
Financial guarantee contract to a joint venture BELENMBEREHN 94,293 - - - 94,293 94,293
Derivative financial liabilities fTEMBERE
Derivative financial instruments — forward exchange contract ~ $74 B % T B2 HBSNE S 4-
acquired after 2nd July 2022 RIEZZH#+A-RA%
g
— Net settled (forelgn currency forwards — cash flow hedges) — -LURBEE GMEER-BER 25,226 11,469 - - 36,695 36,695
EH9)
Derivative financial instruments — forward exchange conract ~ FT4E B T E-EHRINE A H-
acquired before 2nd July 2022 (including 2nd July A o == - Y ()
2022) BE_E__EtHA"H) WE
— Net setfled (foreign currency forwards — cash flow hedges) - JUBEBAEE MERIE-IR &R 3,219 - - - 3,219 3,219
=E3p)]
&
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Total Carrying
Within less than less than QOver contractual amount at
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows 31 December
®+_A
BE—FE BEmER BHBEER =+-H
—FR DRRE DREE BBAF BIE ZEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER TR TR
Non-derivative financial liabilities FEMBEaR
Lease liabilities HESE 169,900 135,007 206,922 197,259 709,088 486,319
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value risk and disclosures

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group held certain derivative financial

instruments and loans and interest receivables which are carried in the financial

statements at fair value, as further detailed in Notes 16, 17 and 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

() Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

MEBERREEERKREE @

NTEERKRINE

A ir S M ERERM 16 17R18E—F
MR E___FR_E_—F+_H
—t+—H AEEFEETERATFETA
MHERR2ITEMHEITIERE R R ERA
Bo

() AFEFRE
TRENAEEAR T - "FR T " —
F+ZR=+—HBEAFESFENMZTE
ERERE:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bk - EEE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER AR AT FAET
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss %UEE&E NTEGEZHBREE
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-__F+-F=+—H
— Loan and interest receivable —-EREFKFE - - = =
As at 31 December 2021 RZE2Z—f+ZB=1+—H
— Loan and interest recelvable —ERERRKFE = = 587,129 587,129
Derivative financial assets NEHBEE
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-B=1+—H
— Forward currency contracts —-BRREBEH - 91,987 - 91,987
As at 31 December 2021 “E_—f5+ZA=+—H
— Forward currency contracts —BPREREH - = = =
Derivative financial liabilities TEMBaR
As at 31 December 2022 R_E__F+_A=1+—H
— Forward currency contracts —RHEREH - 39,914 - 39,914
As at 31 December 2021 RZB2Z—f+-B=+—H
— Forward currency contracts —-RHEREN = = = =
Financial assets at fair value through other comparatives income ~ ZEREME AWM FRATEFEZ
HHEE
As at 31 December 2022 RZBEZ“F+-B=+—H
— Government bonds —BZHTZ% 7,959 - - 7,959
As at 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+”ZA=+—H
— Government bonds —Eﬂlrﬁ% - = = =

There were no transfers among different categories during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021,

Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
mainly investments in government bonds, where the contractual cash flows are
solely principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s business model is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. The
fair values of such debt securities were determined based on market price. None
of these investments are past due.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value risk and disclosures (Continued)

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation

method. Different levels are defined as follow:

Level 1;  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such

as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is based on

quoted market prices at the end of the period. The quoted market

price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid

price. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market
data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 2:

Level 3. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for

unlisted equity securities.

() Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The fair value assessment methods and related key assumptions and judgements
adopted by the Group’s management are income approach (specifically,
discounted cash flow method), which uses valuation techniques to convert future
amount (specifically, cash flows based on the expected rate of return) to a present
value.

31 December 2022

B "HF+"R=+—H
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31 December 2022

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

B2+ HA=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value risk and disclosures (Continued)

HEEMGEEBEREE @
ATFEEERIEE (&)

Fair Value Fair Value
As at As at Significant As at As at
31 December 31 December Valuation unobservable 31 December 31 December Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 2022 2021 technique inputs 2022 2021 unobservable inputs to fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000
ATE ATE EX BAREHEE
RIEZZ RIEZ-& g it RIEZZE RZIEZ-&  FOUBRRGABEH
+ZB=+-B +ZA=t+-H fEHKE BWABE +ZA=+-B +ZA=+-H ATFEMRE
it TEn TAT
Loan and interest - 587,129 Discounted Discount rate N/A 4.0%  The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value.
recevable cash flow
A change in the discount rate by 10% does not have a
significant impact on the fair value.
BRETRFE RS RR% TER BREER ATEYE.
MBI
MRZEHFGHATEEREATZE-
Capital management BAEIR
The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeqguard the KEFBZEAE ﬁ BEEENLRESEER
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital EREREZENREFEBRELRLLE
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. M=HH %5‘&%}: TEERAKREEE.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to
ensure optimal structure and shareholder returns, taking into consideration

the future capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and projected capital
expenditure, projected strategic investment opportunities and economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the

years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,

The Group regards total equity plus total debt (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) of the Company presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of financial position as capital, for capital management purposes.

The amount of capital as at 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$13,299,657,000 (2021: HK$8,240,761,000), which the management
considers as optimal having considered the projected capital expenditures and the

forecast strategic investment opportunities.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Other than financial asset/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and derivative financial
instruments as disclosed in Notes 16, 17 and 18 to the financial statements, all
financial assets and liabilities previously measured at amortised cost which meet
the conditions for classification at amortised cost under HKFRS 9, respectively.

45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

31 December 2022 —E-__&#+_-_HB=+—H

44. REWEENZMBIA

PREA TSR RMISE16 17T RISFIIRE DA S
BEGBATENEBZUBEE &8&
FRHEMEAN DR A FEAEZMBTE
ERTETH LRI FiA forl &8 85 5
I EBZMBEERBBNGEBYHR
%‘;E‘EEU%Q%—FQEHQEHEE$’7}§§EE’M%

45. ARG

2022 2021
—E--fF —EB-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Guarantee related to arrangement with B A HEBRAEER
land lords, HMRC and R AERA 2 HE 2 1R
insurance cover 54,461 -
Bank guarantee given in lieu of utility and REKEAEBRYERE
property rental deposits ZIRTTHEMR 8,855 1,047
Total 48t 63,316 1,047
46. DIVIDEND 46. IBE
2022 2021
= Jolnd —EZ—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Special dividend of HK$nil HRREESRERTT
(2021: HK$0.133) per share (ZEZ—4F :0.133%7T) - 1,504,119
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of ETrEEMBE T -__F+ =8

the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 Nil).

+T—BHLEFERFEFARMARE (CTF
—F 18] -

[ 1[0 bt
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31 December 2022 —_E-__F#+-HB=+—H

47. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent Events

(@  On 17 November 2022, Viva China Consumables Limited and the
LionRock Capital GP Limited entered into a sale and purchase agreement
in relation to the acquisition of the remaining 49% interest in the LionRock
Capital Partners QiLe Limited (the “Clark SPA"). Pursuant to the Clark
SPA, Viva China Consumables Limited agreed to acquire 490 shares
of the LionRock Capital Partners QiLe Limited at the consideration of
GBP110,000,000.

Following the shareholders’ approval of the Clark SPA at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 18 January 2023, the acquisition was
completed in late January 2023 and the SPV become a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 November 2022 and 30 January 2023 and the circular dated
30 December 2022,

(b)  Proposed rights issue by a non-wholly owned subsidiary

On 24 February 2023, Bossini International Holdings Limited (“Bossini”),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with its shares listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 592), proposed to
implement a rights issue on the basis of one (1) rights share for every

two (2) existing shares held on the record date at the subscription price
of HK$0.370 per rights share, to raise up to (i) approximately HK$465
million before expenses by way of issuing up to 1,257,784,545 rights
shares (assuming no change in the number of shares in issue on or before
the record date other than the full exercise of the vested share options);
or (ii) approximately HK$457 million before expenses by way of issuing up
to 1,235,179,045 rights shares (assuming no change in the number of
shares in issue on or before the record date).

Details of the above were set out in Bossini's announcement dated 24
February 2023.

208  VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JERL R E =R B R AT
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Particulars of Properties
MEZFH1E

Investment properties KREME
Approximate Site
Location Group’s Interest Tenure Area (sq.m.)
A4 1 3t AR
i & TEBEDS fH HA (FEFHK)
Units 1 on 9th Floor and 56.4% Medium term 1,894
Car Park No. L12 on 1st Floor
Cheung Fung Industrial Building
No. 23-39 Pak Tin Par Street
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
A RSB HEHEE23-3958 56.4% A 1,894
RETEXREME
K1 tEL1 25 R EE fiL
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HEMRBEBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities and total equity of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements of the Group, is set out below:

UTHEINAERBERLBYRFEZEE
hEELRGEREREnBRBRE  HEEE

AEBETELEEZYHFRE

RESULTS E 5|
Year ended 31 December
HE+-_B=+—-HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C —E_-F CZE”"EFE “E-hE ZE-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FTET FTET
Revenue Uz 6,900,390 1,381,637 819,036 625,004 1,134,584
Profit before tax E3inp=wl 871,151 4,509,989 1,213,362 834,137 94,723
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the ~ AT ERIZEE AEEER
company A 850,416 4,562,639 1,192,392 834,366 76,982
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY EEHEEREREEE
31 December
+-B=+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-_-f CZEB”--f§ CZB-EE _—T-hE C"BE-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET THET
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,796,617 5,261,870 3,975,162 3,671,737 3,867,676
Current assets RBEE 8,675,314 3,848,292 2,874,758 1,194,828 1,193,328
Current liabilities ik 4,428,192 896,323 694,864 327,551 290,979
Net current assets REEEFE 4,247,122 2,951,969 2,179,894 867,277 902,349
Total assets BEBE 17,471,931 9,110,162 6,849,920 4,866,565 5,061,004
Total assets less current liabllities BEREARYEE 13,043,739 8,213,839 6,155,056 4,539,014 4,770,025
Equity atiributable to equity holders of ANB DA NEGER
the company 7,993,175 7,616,277 4,329,371 3,021,297 3,891,137

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT



In this annual report, unless the context requires otherwise, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Board”
g9

“Bossini”
MR RIEE
“Bossini Group”

ME s EE)

“BVI"
(HERELEE)

“China” or “PRC"

Meh [

»

“close associate(s)

MEmEE AL
“Company” or “Viva China"
TR ABEIEFLFE
‘connected transaction(s)”
MRAER 7

“Directors”

ME=

“EMEA"
MEXIF 2R

‘GBP”
o g2 |
‘GEM”
' GEM J

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM_E T #R 81)

“Group” or “Viva Group”

MREE IS IFF A ER

“HKS"
S

Glossary
Ll

EXRFRA BXEFBREHEEIN > TIH
REB XY HE :

the board of Directors
-y

Bossini International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Bermuda with limited
liability, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 592)

EHEREERSRAGS RERESMHRIZERLE HEZETR
MR =M L (BRMH R 592)

Bossini and its subsidiaries

EfERENB AR

the British Virgin Islands
HERUHES

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purpose of this annual report, excludes Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan
REARHENE SiAFRMs > A EEESE -PEAREMBERFFFA
THaeKk&E

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the GEM Listing Rules

B AGEM_E v A8 B P i T BY R &

Viva China Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the GEM (stock code: 8032)
FNFEERBRAGS KNASEEFMMNIIZERAT  HEEITR
AHGEM E T (BR1A SR & 8032)

has the meaning ascribed to it in the GEM Listing Rules

B AGEM_E AR B FR A T AU &

the directors of the Company

KATER

Europe, the Middle East and Africa
BRI ~ PR K2 IE M

Pound sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom
% HENEESHY

GEM of the Stock Exchange
422 PTGEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEMzE 5 i £3 AY

the Company and its subsidiaries

KRB KREKBAF

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of the Hong Kong
B BREEGH

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 S ¥

211



212

Glossary sF %

“Hong Kong”
&%)

“HMRC"
"'HMRC J

“Li Ning Co”
rEE AT
‘LN Group”

"FEEE

‘LN Share(s)"

TEERI

“Macau”
FE P

‘MOP$”
MEPITT

“Reporting Period”

Mk & 5

“RMB’
TANR )

‘SFO”

385 RERE &6

"SG$"
T3 038 7 )

“Share(s)”
M7 1
“Shareholder(s)”
MA% 58

“Stock Exchange”
Ny

“Us$’
=S

uo/ )
0

% |

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBAFITHRE

Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs

REIR T K BREE

Li Ning Company Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
the issued LN Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2331)

FTEARRAED RHASESEMBIZARAT  HEZHTEERH K
X P E AR B (B 1D 1L5% & 2331)

Li Ning Co and its subsidiaries
FRAFREMEAS

the share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of Li Ning Co
FERNBRATEREEI0ETZ KM

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEPRPIRAIITRE

Macau pataca , the lawful currency of the Macau

BT BPFYEE B

the period of 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021

S F—-RH—HAE_E_—F+_H=+—HHM

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR pEIZESE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREOIEEE S RBE R

Singapore dollars , the lawful currency of the Singapore

N TT o MMBOETE B

ordinary shares of nominal value of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company
RATRAPEREBESHTZEBAK

holder(s) of Share(s)
RIPFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERABMERZMARRE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
E ZENBERBNEEST

per cent

BOLE

VIVA CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED JEFLHRE =R B R AT



2/F, PopOffice, 9 Tong Yin Street,
Tseung Kwan O, New Territories, Hong Kong
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